

OpenAIR@RGU

The Open Access Institutional Repository at Robert Gordon University

http://openair.rgu.ac.uk

Citation Details

Citation for the version of the work held in 'OpenAIR@RGU':

WEIDMANN, A. E., 2008. Investigation of hypoxia and hyperglycaemia mediated DNA damage in human endothelial cells. Available from *OpenAIR@RGU*. [online]. Available from: http://openair.rgu.ac.uk

Copyright

Items in 'OpenAIR@RGU', Robert Gordon University Open Access Institutional Repository, are protected by copyright and intellectual property law. If you believe that any material held in 'OpenAIR@RGU' infringes copyright, please contact <u>openair-help@rgu.ac.uk</u> with details. The item will be removed from the repository while the claim is investigated.

INVESTIGATION OF HYPOXIA AND HYPERGLYCAEMIA MEDIATED DNA DAMAGE IN HUMAN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

ANITA E. WEIDMANN

Ph.D.

2008

Investigation of hypoxia and hyperglycaemia mediated DNA damage in human endothelial cells

ANITA E WEIDMANN

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of The Robert Gordon University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> The Robert Gordon University Aberdeen

> > March 2008

DECLARATION

This thesis has been composed by myself and has not been submitted in any previous application for a higher degree. The work of which it is a record has been done by myself. All verbatim extracts have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.

Acuta Which

Anita E. Weidmann

To my parents

Contents

		Page
(i)	Acknowledgements	1
(ii)	Abstract	2
(iii)	Abbreviations	4

Chapter ONE	Introduction	9
1.1.	Diabetes Mellitus	10
1.2.	Vascular complications of diabetes	11
1.2.1.	Macrovascular complications	12
1.2.2.	Microvascular complications	12
1.2.2.1.	Diabetic Retinopathy	13
1.2.2.2.	Diabetic Neuropathy	13
1.2.2.3.	Diabetic Nephropathy	14
1.3.	Endothelial cell function and glucose uptake	14
1.4.	Cellular responses to hyperglycaemia	17
1.4.1.	Mitochondrial morphology and function	19
1.4.2.	Mitochondrial regulation in hyperglycaemia and hypoxia	20
1.4.3.	Oxidative stress, DNA damage and repair	22
1.5.	Cellular responses to hypoxia	25
1.5.1.	HIF-1 and the mitochondria	26
1.5.2.	Tissue hypoxia and disease progression	27
1.6.	Signalling pathways involved in cellular	28
	response to hyperglycaemia and hypoxia	
1.6.1.	The polyol pathway	28
1.6.2.	Advanced Glycation End Products (AGE)	29
1.6.3.	PKC pathway	31
1.6.4.	p42/44 MAPK and PI3K/akt pathways	33
1.7.	Therapeutic targets for vascular complications in diabetes mellitus	33
1.7.1.	Aldose reductase inhibitors	34
1.7.1.1.	Structural requirements of flavonoid aldose reductase inhibitors	35
1.7.2.	PKCβ inhibitors	37

Antioxidants	37
Flavonoids	39
Quercetin and the French Paradox	41
Silymarin	42
Therapeutic properties of silymarin	45
Use of silymarin in diabetes	46
Silymarin as a possible aldose reductase inhibitor	48
Silibinin	49
Taxifolin	50
Therapeutic properties of taxifolin	52
Aim and Objectives of the study	54
	AntioxidantsFlavonoidsQuercetin and the French ParadoxSilymarinTherapeutic properties of silymarinUse of silymarin in diabetesSilymarin as a possible aldose reductase inhibitorSilibininTaxifolinTherapeutic properties of taxifolinAim and Objectives of the study

Chapter TWO	Materials and Methods	55
2.1.	Materials	56
2.2.	Methods	56
2.2.1.	Human umbilical veinendothelial cell (HUVEC)	56
2.2.2.	Human umbilical vein endothelial (HUVE) cell storage	56
	and resucitation	
2.2.3.	Counting of HUVE cells	57
2.2.4.	Propagation of HUVE cells	57
2.2.5.	Cell proliferation assay	58
2.2.6.	Statistical analyis	59
2.3.	Resolution of DNA using agarose gel electrophoresis	60
2.4.	Comet Assay	62
2.4.1.	Statistical analysis	64
2.5.	Mitochondrial staining	64
2.5.1.	MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1	64
	fluorescent staining of HUVE cells	
2.5.2.	Quantitation and Statistical analysis of fluorescence intensity	66
2.5.3.	Co-localisation of fluorescent staining	67
2.5.4.	Mitochondrial measurement	67
2.6.	Superoxide radical activity measurement	68
2.6.1.	HUVE cell preparation for use with SOD Assay Kit -WST	68
2.6.2.	Statistical analysis	69
2.7.	Hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) antisense	69

2.7.1.	Immunocytochemistry	70
2.8.	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	71
2.8.1.	RNA Quantitation	72
2.8.2.	Preparation and amplification of cDNA	72
2.9.	Capillary Zone Electrophoresis	74
2.9.1.	Apparatus	74
2.9.2.	Sample preparation	74
2.9.3.	Capillary electrophoresis procedure	74

Chapter THREE	Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA		
	integrity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells	75	
3.1.	Hypothesis	76	
3.2.	Introduction	76	
3.3.	Materials and Methods	77	
3.4.	Results	77	
3.4.1.	Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension of HUVE cell proliferation	77	
3.4.2.	Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA integrity	80	
3.5.	Discussion	90	
3.6.	Limitations of the study	93	
3.7.	Conclusion	94	

Chapter FOUR	Role of Mitochondrial ROS production in hypoxia and	
	hyperglycaemia induced endothelial DNA damage	95
4.1.	Hypothesis	96
4.2.	Introduction	96
4.3.	Materials and Methods	97
4.4.	Results	98
4.4.1.	Co-localisation of ROS production with mitochondria.	98
4.4.2.	Morphological changes of mitochondria in response to glucose and oxygen	98
4.4.3.	Changes in HUVE cell size in response to glucose and oxygen	98

4.4.4.	Changes in MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red	
	CC-1 fluorescence intensity in response to glucose and oxygen	99
4.4.5.	Morphological changes of mitochondria in response to glucose	
	and oxygen	112
4.4.6.	Superoxide radical production in response to glucose and oxyge	n 1 1 2
4.5.	Discussion	119
4.6.	Conclusion	125

Chapter FIVE	Role of HIF-1a in hypoxia and hyperglycaemia induced DNA		
	damage in HUVE cells	126	
5.1.	Hypothesis	127	
5.2.	Introduction	127	
5.3.	Materials and Methods	128	
5.4.	Results	129	
5.4.1.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense on the level of HIF-1 α protein and	129	
	mRNA		
5.4.2.	Uptake of control oligonucleotide	129	
5.4.3.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense on the level of HIF-1 α protein and	133	
	mRNA		
5.4.4.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense treatment on DNA damage	137	
5.4.5.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense on ROS production and sub-cellular	139	
	location		
5.5.	Discussion	147	
5.6.	Conclusion	150	

Chapter SIX	Effect of glucose analogues and intracellular signalling inhibitors	
	on endothelial DNA damage	152
6.1.	Hypothesis	153
6.2.	Introduction	153
6.3.	Materials and Methods	154
6.4.	Results	154
6.4.1.	Effect of D-glucose, 3OM and 2-DG-6P on DNA integrity of	
	HUVE cells	154

6.4.2.	Effect of specific signalling inhibitors on DNA damage	158
6.5.	Discussion	161
6.6.	Conclusion	164
Chapter SEVEN	Effect of silymarin (silibum marianum) on high glucose and	low
	oxygen mediated DNA damage in HUVE cells	165
7.1.	Hypothesis	166
7.2.	Introduction	166
7.3.	Materials and Methods	167
7.4.	Results	167
7.4.1.	Effect of silymarin on DNA damage	167
7.4.2.	Comparison of silymarin to alpha-lipoic acid	168
7.4.3.	Effect of silymarin on cell proliferation	168
7.4.4.	Comet Assay – Effect of silymarin on glucose and oxygen	
	mediated DNA damage	169
7.4.5.	Effect of silymarin treatment \pm HIF-1 α antisense on cell size	182
7.4.6.	Effect of silymarin treatment \pm HIF-1 α antisense on	
	MitoTracker Green fluorescence	182
7.5.	Discussion	187
7.6.	Conclusion	190

	Chapter EIGHT	Effect of silibinin and taxifolin on DNA damage in HUVE cells in	
		hypoxia and high glucose concentration	191
	8.1.	Hypothesis	192
	8.2.	Introduction	192
	8.3.	Materials and Methods	194
	8.4.	Results	194
	8.4.1.	Relative amounts of taxifolin and silibinin found within	
		commercially available silymarin sample	194
	8.4.2.	Effect of taxifolin on DNA damage	203
	8.4.3.	Effect of pre-incubation of HUVE cells with antioxidants on	
		DNA damage levels	203
	8.4.4.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense treatment in addition to silibinin	
		and taxifolin	206
	8.4.5.	Superoxide radical production in silymarin, taxifolin and	

	silibinin treated HUVE cells	206
8.5.	Discussion	215
8.6.	Conclusion	218
8.7.	Limitations	218

Chapter NINE	Discussion	220
9.1.	Discussion	221
9.2.	Conclusion	228
9.3.	Limitations of thesis and directions for future work	229

Chapter TEN	References	232
Appendix 1	Cell signalling changes in response to insulin	259
Appendix 2	Publications	260

Figures

Chapter ONE	Introduction	
1.1.	Basic mitochondrial function and ROS generation	18
1.2.	Activation of cellular biochemical pathways in response	
	to hyperglycaemia	30
1.3.	Core structure of flavonoid compounds	36
1.4.	Chemical structure of the flavonoid quercetin	41
1.5.	Different flavonoid structures found in silymarin	44
1.6.	Structure of taxifolin	51

Chapter TWO	Materials and Methods	
2.1.	96 well plate layout used in an Alamar Blue assay	59
2.1.	Comet types and visual scoring allocation	64

Chapter THREE	Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA	L .
	integrity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells	
3.1.	Effect of glucose and oxygen concentration on cell	
	Proliferation	79
3.2.	Agarose gel showing DNA damage	82
3.3.	Validation of positive control for use with the	
	comet assay	84
3.4.	Determination of baseline DNA damage	85
3.5.	DNA damage induced by glucose and oxygen	87
3.6.	Effect of incubation time and re-oxygenation	
	on DNA damage	88

Chapter FOUR	Role of mitochondrial ROS production in hypoxia and	
	hyperglycaemia induced endothelial DNA damage	
4.1.	co-localisation staining and distribution of MitoTracker Green	
	FM and Redox-Sensor Red CC-1	101
4.2.	Relationship between oxidised CC-1 and mitochondrial	
	membrane potential	104

Page

Effect of FCCP on RedoxSensor Red fluorescence	105
Effect of time, glucose and oxygen concentration	
on cell size	107
Effect of time, glucose and oxygen on	
MitoTracker Green fluorescence	109
Effect of time, glucose and oxygen on	
RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence	111
Morphological changes seen during mitochondrial	
fusion/ fission process	114
Single blinded analysis of mitochondrial length	116
Changes in cellular superoxide radical formation	118
	Effect of FCCP on RedoxSensor Red fluorescence Effect of time, glucose and oxygen concentration on cell size Effect of time, glucose and oxygen on MitoTracker Green fluorescence Effect of time, glucose and oxygen on RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence Morphological changes seen during mitochondrial fusion/ fission process Single blinded analysis of mitochondrial length Changes in cellular superoxide radical formation

Chapter FIVE	Investigation of the role of HIF-1 α in hypoxia and	
	hyperglycaemia induced endothelial DNA damage	
	in a HUVE cell line	
5.1.	Seeding density optimisation of HUVE cells used with	
	16well chamber slides	130
5.2.	FITC labelled control oligonucleotide uptake	132
5.3.	Immunohistochemical detection of HIF-1a protein in	
	HUVE cells	134
5.4.	Separation of 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA	135
5.5.	HIF-1 α and β 2-Immunoglobulin mRNA rt-PCR	
	products	136
5.6.	DNA damage in HIF-1 α antisense treated HUVE cells	138
5.7.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense treatment on cell size	142
5.8.	Effect of HIF-1 α antisense treatment on MitoTracker	
	fluorescence	144
5.9.	Effect of HIF-1a antisense treatment on RedoxSensor	
	Red CC-1 fluorescence	146

Chapter SIX	Effect of glucose analogues and intracellular signalling inh	ibitors
	on endothelial DNA damage	
6.1.	Effect of glucose analogues on HUVE cell DNA damage	157
6.2.	Effect of signalling inhibitors on HUVE cell DNA damage	160

Chapter SEVEN	Effect of silymarin (silibum marianum) on high glucose and	l low
	oxygen mediated DNA damage in HUVE cells	
7.1.	Concentration dependent effect of silymarin on DNA	
	damage	171
7.2.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment on HUVE cell	
	proliferation	174
7.3.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment on HUVE cell	
	DNA damage	175
7.4.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment on DNA damage	
	over time	176
7.5.	Effect of incubation time and re-oxygenation on	
	silymarin (50 μ M) induced DNA damage in HUVE cells	177
7.6.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment ± HIF-1 α	
	antisense on DNA damage over time	179
7.7.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment on the uptake of FITC	
	labelled control oligonucleotide	181
7.8.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment ± HIF-1 α antisense	
	on cell size	184
7.9.	Effect of silymarin (50 μ M) treatment ± HIF-1 α antisense	
	on MitoTracker fluorescence	186

Chapter EIGHT	Effect of silibinin and taxifolin on DNA damage in HUV	E cells in
	hypoxia and high glucose concentration	
8.1.	Suggested oxidation/reduction reaction of taxifolin and	
	coniferyl alcohol	193
8.2.	Electropherogram showing the separation of silymarin	
	taxifolin and silibinin	197
8.3.	Electropherogram showing the identification and	
	separation of taxifolin	199
8.4.	Electropherogram showing the identification and	
	separation of silibinin	201
8.5.	Concentration dependent effect of taxifolin on HUVE	
	Cell DNA damage compared to silymarin	204

8.6.	Effect of 24h pre-incubation with antioxidants on DNA	
	damage	205
8.7.	Effect of taxifolin (600 μ M) and silibinin (25 μ M)	
	treatment \pm HIF-1 α antisense on DNA damage	208
8.8.	Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical	
	formation in response to silymarin	210
8.9.	Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical	
	formation in response to taxifolin	212
8.10.	Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical	
	formation in response to silibinin	214

Tables

Chapter ONE	Introduction	
1.1.	Facilitative glucose transporters and their tissue	
	distribution	16
Chapter TWO	Materials and Methods	
2.1.	Sizes of control ladders (bp)	62
2.2.	Primer sequences	73
Chapter THREE	Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA	
	integrity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells	
3.1.	DNA damage incurred by mannitol compared to glucose	89
Chapter SEVEN	Effect of silymarin (<i>silibum marianum</i>) on high glucose and	low
	oxygen mediated DNA damage in HUVE cells	
7.1.	DNA damage incurred by a-lipoic acid (100µM)	173
Chapter EIGHT	Effect of silibinin and taxifolin on DNA damage in HUVE c	ells in
	hypoxia and high glucose concentration	
8.1.	Area under the curve (AUC) values for silibinin and taxifolin	202

Page

(i) Acknowledgements

I wish to express my sincere thanks to the following people for their help, guidance and encouragement during this project:

Dr. Rachel Knott, Director of Studies, School of Pharmacy, for her advice, guidance and support throughout the project and the preparation of this thesis.

Dr. Stuart Cruickshank, School of Pharmacy, for his advice and guidance on all mitochondria related issues as well as the preparation of this thesis.

Dr. Derek Stewart, School of Pharmacy and Prof. Klaus Wahle, School of Life Science, for the continued encouragement and advice.

Dorothy Moir, Margaret Brown and Vivienne Hamilton, School of Pharmacy, for their technical assistance.

Raymond Reid, School of Pharmacy, for help with the CZE analysis.

Dr. S. MacManus for his help with the chemical structures and reactions surrounding taxifolin.

Dr. Marie Goua, School of Life Sciences, for her help with Western blots and the occasional very useful bit of advice/ information.

Prof. Terry Healy, Head of School of Pharmacy, for the funding of this project.

Prof. Cherry Wainwright, School of Pharmacy, for the corrections and useful feedback of my interim reports.

Dr. Julie Young, for being the best friend a girl can ask for and for keeping me sane.

(ii) Abstract

Chronic complications of diabetes mellitus are a pathological consequence of unregulated levels of blood glucose leading to disorders of the vascular system. When investigating the vascular complications the changes in the endothelium are of particular significance as they are central to vascular function. The endothelium actively regulates vascular function by regulating permeability, vascular tone and inflammatory responses. Certain endothelium-derived molecules, such as nitric oxide, act as vasodilators as well as exhibiting anti-platelet, anti-proliferative, permeability decreasing and anti-inflammatory properties (Kawashima *et al.* 2004). Changes to the molecular processes or injury to the endothelium lead to endothelial dysfunction and the initiation and progression of certain diseases such as the development of atherosclerosis as well as micro and macro-angiopathy (De Caterina *et al.* 2000). In the present study, we examine the effect of glucose and oxygen on endothelial DNA damage derived within 24h of incubation and the cytoprotective effect of the flavonoid antioxidant, silymarin, and two of its constituents, taxifolin and silibinin.

Results show a significant increase in endothelial DNA damage in response to glucose and hypoxia which appears to be additive. These findings are supported by a significant rise in mitochondrial ractive oxygen species (ROS) production within 6h of exposure, while mitochondrial number, morphology and HUVEC size stay the same. A change in superoxide radical production in hypoxic conditions alone emphasises the important contribution of hypoxia in the pathogenesis of endothelial damage. Further investigation reveals a role for HIF-1 α in the development of endothelial DNA damage which is hypoxia-dependent. Attempts to counteract the observed cytotoxicity to endothelial cells using the flavonoid antioxidant, silymarin, revealed that silymarin is a potent cytoprotective agent for hypoxiainduced DNA damage. This appears to be due to its strong mitochondrial radical scavenging activity. Further analysis into the mechanism of silymarin reveals that the impurity, taxifolin, possesses more potent cytoprotective activity than the formerly known active component silibinin.

Taken together, the results strongly emphasise the important contribution of hypoxia in the early development of endothelial changes, which have the potential to accumulate to vascular complications in diabetes since its cytotoxic effect appears to be additive to that of glucose. Flavonoid antioxidants, such as silymarin and taxifolin, show promising potential to prevent or slow the progression of these changes.

(iii) Abbreviations

AGE	advanced glycation end products
AHEAD	Action for Health in Diabetes
ala	α-lipoic acid
ANG-II	angiotensin-II
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ARI	aldose reductase inhibitor
AS	antisense
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia, mutated
АТР	adenosine triphosphate
ATR	ATM and Rad3-related
AUC	area under the curve
BER	base excision repair
$\beta_2 Mg$	β_2 -Microglobulin
САТ	catalase
Ca ²⁺	calcium
CHAOS	Cambridge Heart Antioxidant Study
cICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
COX-2	cyclooxygenase - 2
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
Cu/Zn SOD	copper/zinc-superoxide dismutase
CV	cardiovascular
cVCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
DAG	diacylglycerol
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide

DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program
DSB	double-strand break repair
DSHP	di-sodium hydrogen phosphate
ECACC	European Collection of Cell Culture
EDIC	Epidemiology of Diabetes Intervention and Complications
	Study
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ETC	electron transport chain
Fe ²⁺	iron
FCCP	carbonyl cyanide p-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
FCS	foetal calf serum
GC-MS	gas chromatograhy/mass spectrometry
GF/SF	glucose free/serum free
GLUT	facilitative glucose transporters
GMEM	Glasgow Minimum Essential Medium
GSHPx	glutathione peroxidase
GTP	Guanosine-5'-triphosphate
GTPase	family of hydrolase enzymes that can bind and hydrolyze
	GTP
H ₂ O ₂	hydrogen peroxide
HBSS	Hanks Balanced Salt Solution
HGTD-P	HIF-1 α dependent pro-apoptotic molecule
HIF-1	hypoxia-inducible factor 1
HIF-1a	hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus

НОРЕ	Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation study
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
HRE	hypoxic response element
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule
IDF	The International Diabetes Federation
IFN-y	Interferon-y
IGF-2	insulin-like growth factor -2
IL-2	Interleukin-2
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
K _m	Michelis Menten constant
KCN	potassium cyanide
LDL	low density lipid
LMP	low melting point agarose
Mg ²⁺	magnesium
МАРК	mitogen activated protein kinase
MCF-7	human breast carcinoma cells
MI	myocardial infarction
MMR	DNA mismatch repair
Mn-SOD	manganese-superoxide dismutase
mPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore
mtDNA	mitochondrial DNA
mtNOS	mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase
N ₂	nitrogen gas
Na ₂ SO ₃	sodium sulfite anhydrous
NADPH	nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NADH	nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide

NADP+	the oxidized form of NADPH
NCV	nerve conduction velocity
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor – kappaB
NHS	National Health Service
NO	nitric oxide
O ₂ ··	superoxide radical
ОНОО.	peroxynitrite species
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDK1	pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1
РКС	protein Kinase C
PGC-1alpha	PPAR gamma coactivator 1-alpha
PHD	prolyl hydroxylases
PIs	phopshatidylinositides
PLC	phospholipase C
PLD	phospholipase D
PPAR	peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor
RAGE	receptor AGE binds to
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SB	silibinin
SCGE	single cell gel electrophoresis
SDev	standard deviations
SDH	sorbitol dehydrogenase
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate

SEM	standard error of the mean
SM	silymarin
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TBS	tris buffered saline
TCA	tricarboxylicacid cycle
TNFa	tumour necrosis factor - alpha
TORC	transducer of regulated CREB activity
ТХ	taxifolin
UCP-1	uncoupling protein-1
UKPDS	UK Prospective Diabetes Study
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
vHL	von Hippel-Lindau protein
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
vWF	von Willebrand Factor
WHO	World Health Organisation
2DG	2-deoxy-D-glucose
30M	3-ortho-methyl glucose
2-DG-6P	2-d-glucose-6-phosphate
$\Delta \psi_m$	mitochondrial membrane potential
8-oHdG	8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
8-oxo-dGuo	2'-deoxy-7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanosine

CHAPTER ONE: Introduction

1.1. Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic metabolic disorder which is characterised by high blood glucose levels (hyperglycaemia) and is the fifth leading cause of death in most developed countries (International Diabetes Federation; IDF, 2006). Type 1 diabetes results from cellular-mediated autoimmune destruction of pancreatic islet beta-cells causing the loss of insulin production and Type 2 diabetes is characterized by insulin resistance and relative insulin deficiency (IDF, 2006). Currently 171 million people worldwide have been diagnosed with diabetes but many more are believed to remain undiagnosed. These figures published by the World Health Organisation (WHO) have risen from only 30 million in the year 1995 and are thought likely to more than double to an estimated of 366 million in the subsequent 25 years. There are strong signs for diabetes mellitus to become a global pandemic, accounting for approximately 9% of the global death toll (Wild *et al.* 2004).

In the United Kingdom, 1.7 million people are currently suffering from diabetes mellitus (World Health Organisation 2004), accounting for approximately 5% of total NHS expenditure. In December 2001, the Department of Health published the National Service Framework for Diabetes which sets the national standards for diabetes treatment and care (Department of Health, 2007). In addition to highlighting important building blocks of diabetes care, one of the main aims of this document is to identify diabetes as early as possible and thus prevent complications to improve the patient's quality of life (NHS Scotland, 2002). In October 2002, the Department of Health published a review of the current and future research on diabetes which identifies research questions still to be addressed. Emphasis is given to the understanding of molecular events involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes and diabetic complications (Department of Health, 2002).

1.2. Vascular complications of diabetes

Chronic complications of diabetes mellitus are a pathological consequence of unregulated levels of blood glucose leading to disorders of the vascular system. Not only are these complications a much greater burden on both diabetic patients and overall medical costs than diabetes itself (McMillan *et al.* 1997), they are also the major cause of morbidity and mortality in the diabetic population.

During the 1990s, two landmark trials, the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) (The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, 1993) and the UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS); (UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group, 1998) investigated the effect of blood glucose control on the development of diabetic vascular complications. While the DCCT monitored the disease progression of 1,441 type 1 diabetes patients over the course of 10 years in the United States and Canada, the UKPDS study tracked the development of type 2 diabetes in 5,102 volunteers across England, Wales, Northern Ireland and Scotland. Both studies published evidence that intensive blood glucose control considerably slows the onset and progression of diabetic complications. Not only did they record a 44% reduction in the incidence of stroke (UKPDS), a 76% reduction in the development of diabetic eye disease and up to 60% reduction in kidney disease (DCCT), they also found a 32% reduction in the incidence of overal diabetes related deaths (UKPDS). Although these findings still form the basis of modern diabetes treatment, to date the processes which led to the development of these debilitating vascular complications are not yet fully understood.

In general, diabetic vascular complications are classified into macro- and microvascular complications.

1.2.1. Macrovascular complications

Macrovascular complications are characterised by the formation of atherosclerotic plaques in arteries of diabetic patients. This is seen as the most serious complication of diabetes mellitus due to its high mortality rate (McMillan *et al.* 1997, Kammersgaard *et al.* 2006). Thus, cardiovascular (CV) disease is the most common cause of death for individuals with type 2 diabetes, accounting for approximately 80% of diabetes-related deaths (Williams *et al.* 1999). It is also responsible for an increase in mortality of patients with type 1 diabetes (Department of Health, 2002).

Hyperglycaemia is a major risk factor for the development of CV disease (Kannel *et al.* 1979) with other factors such as smoking, hypercholesterolaemia, duration of diabetes and age adding to the risk (Gray *et al.* 1997). Atherosclerosis can lead to myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, hypertension and leg/artery disease, requiring lower limb amputation in many cases. The development of atherosclerotic lesions is strongly associated with age while the duration of diabetes is of little significance (McMillan *et al.* 1997). Pathological changes in diabetes leading to atherosclerosis include the inactivation of nitric oxide (NO) (an endogenous vasodilator) (Giugliano *et al.* 1996), arterial wall thickening (Mohamed *et al.* 1999), plasma lipid disturbances, oxidation of low density lipid (LDL) cholesterol (Guillausseau *et al.* 1994, Gray *et al.* 1997) raised fibrinogen levels (McMillan *et al.* 1997, Gries *et al.* 1995) and haemodynamic changes (Gray *et al.* 1997). There is also evidence to show an association between inflammation and its associated inflammatory markers and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (Gries *et al.* 1995).

1.2.2. Microvascular complications

Microvascular complications primarily affect the eyes, kidneys and the nervous system leading to highly disabling conditions such as blindness, renal failure and neuropathy.

12

Diabetic retinopathy is the leading cause of blindness in the Western world and requires continuous screening of diabetic patients (Cooper *et al.* 1997). Early abnormalities of the retinal vasculature include an increase in permeability, a thickening of the basement membrane, a reduction in blood flow and the loss of retinal pericytes (Mandarino *et al.* 1992). Basement membrane thickening and leucocyte activation lead to a reduction of perfusion through the vasculature, resulting in areas of hypoxia. As part of the body's repair mechanism, it is thought that new vessel growth attempts to revascularise the hypoxic areas. If these attempts are aborted because of an imbalance between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors, microaneurysms may result (Grant *et al.* 2004). Depending on the severity of the retinopathic changes microaneurysms (abortive neovascularization), cotton-wool spots (retinal infarcts) or severe haemorrhage, leading to retinal detachment and complete loss of vision, can be seen. Changes in the basement membrane structure and increased vascular permeability lead to cellular swelling and the formation of macular oedema (either focal or diffuse). These may lead to cell death and irreversible visual impairment (Forrester *et al.* 1997).

1.2.2.2. Diabetic Neuropathy

Diabetic neuropathy can affect many different neuropathic areas. The severity is related to the duration of diabetes and the degree of blood glucose control. Diabetic neuropathy is classified into acute mononeuropathy (reversible, affecting single nerves), diffuse, symmetrical neuropathy (progressive and irreversible), and pressure palsies (Ward *et al.* 1997). As with all diabetic vascular complications, a multitude of factors contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathy. These include axonal loss, demyelination and regeneration, a reduction in nerve conduction velocity, basement membrane thickening, haematological changes, and decreased oxygen tension (Tesfaye *et al.* 2002), frequently leading to the development of severe ulceration and, in some cases, limb amputations (Vinik *et al.* 2006). Diabetic nephropathy is a result of glomerular enlargement resulting in an increase in kidney volume and progressive loss of function. Diabetic nephropathy is the single most common cause of end-stage renal failure in the UK affecting 25% of all diabetic patients (Department of Health, 2004). Again, there is substantial evidence to suggest that the risk of developing nephropathy is related to the extent and duration of hyperglycaemia. Other causative factors include advanced glycated end products (AGE), impairing protein structures through the formation of protein cross links (Lehamn *et al.* 2001). Direct alteration of cell and cell component growth, activation of protein kinase C (PKC) enhancing the vascular permeability, haemodynamic disturbances and the activation of the "polyol pathway" (Trevisan *et al.* 1997); (Section 1.6.1).

1.3. Endothelial cell function and glucose uptake

When investigating vascular complications, changes in the endothelium are of particular importance as they present the first point of contact with the elevated concentrations of blood glucose. The response of the endothelium to adverse conditions is therefore important in understanding subsequent damage. Endothelial cells line the lumen of all vessels and act as a physical barrier between the blood and the tissue. Glucose is transported across the endothelial plasma membrane via membrane associated carrier proteins, also known as facilitative glucose transporters (GLUTs); (Bell *et al.* 1990). Once inside the cell, glucose is metabolised by glycolysis which drives oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria and subsequent generation of ATP (Fig.1.1). Very often, glucose analogues such as 2-deoxy-D-glucose transport into the cell and its further metabolism by glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation (Wood *et al.* 2007; Litherland *et al.* 2007; Cavallo-Perin *et al.*1985). 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) has the 2-hydroxyl group replaced by hydrogen. Once inside the

cell the molecule is phosphorylated by hexokinases giving rise to 2-D-glucose-6-phosphate (2-DG-6P) during the first step of the glycolysis reaction. Because of its structure the phosphorylated molecule (2-DG-6P) cannot be metabolized further or diffuse outside the cell leading to the inhibition of glycolysis and the accumulation of the metabolised by-product (2-DG-6P) inside the cell. In contrast, 3-ortho-methyl glucose (3OM) is not metabolised at all and simply enters and leaves the cell. To date a family of thirteen related facilitative glucose transporters (GLUTs) has been identified all of which have a distinct tissue distribution and biochemical properties (Barnes *et al.* 1997); (Table 1.1).

GLUT-1 was the first glucose transporter to be isolated and is widely distributed throughout the body, with the highest levels found in erythrocytes and endothelial cells (Pardridge *et al.* 1990). Although GLUT-2 is found in pancreatic β -cells, where it acts as a glucose sensor (Chen *et al.* 1990), GLUT-4 is responsible for insulin-regulated glucose metabolism and is expressed in insulin-sensitive tissues (Olson *et al.* 1996). GLUT-4 is stored in specialized vesicles which, in the absence of insulin, move along a microtubule network below the plasma membrane. Once insulin binds to its receptor on the cell surface exterior, these vesicles are halted and fuse with the plasma membrane, where they release GLUT-4 which facilitates glucose transport into the cell (Lizunov *et al.* 2005).

Glucose transport into the cell is dependent on the Michelis Menten Constant (K_m) of the glucose tansporter, which inversely reflects the tissue affinity for glucose (Kahn *et al.* 1992). A low K_m (e.g. GLUT-1 ~ 2mmol/l) will lead to saturation of glucose transport at physiological levels, whilst a high K_m (e.g. GLUT-2 ~ 66mmol/l) will prevent saturation and ensure that glucose flux is directly proportional to the plasma glucose concentration. Therefore, the K_m of the glucose transporter is the rate-limiting step for glucose uptake into tissues (Resh *et al.* 1983; Olson *et al.* 1996) and is likely to be associated with the

accumulation of glucose in these tissues including the endothelium, and therefore the development of complications (Hirsch et al. 1999).

Glucose transporter isoform	Tissue distribution
GLUT-1	erythrocytes, endothelial cells, blood brain barrier,
	blood retina-barrier
GLUT-2	islet beta cells, hepatocytes, intestine
GLUT-3	neurons, placenta, heart
GLUT-4	adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle
Class II – fructose transporter	GLUT-5, 7, 9 & 11
Class III	GLUT – 6,8,10, 12 and the H+/myoinositol transporter

 Table 1.1: Facilitative glucose transporters and their characteristic tissue distribution.

Apart from glucose uptake, the above mentioned barrier function of endothelial cells is crucial in maintaining cellular homeostasis, and the provision of a balance between opposing physiological and molecular effects (Calles-Escandon *et al.* 2001). These include essential control of vascular tone through nitric oxide (NO)-mediated vasodilation and angiotensin–II (ANG-II) mediated vasoconstriction, maintenance of blood flow through activation of the proteolytic enzyme thrombin and the natural substrate fibrinogen, differentiation of VSMC through production of PGF and ANG-II and the regulation of inflammatory processes (Calles-Escandon *et al.* 2001, Crane *et al.* 2005; Shaw *et al.* 2005).

Endothelial dysfunction in type 1 diabetes is usually characterised by an increase in plasminogen inhibitors leading to an increase in blood clotting, inflammatory markers such as endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (cICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion

molecule 1 (cVCAM-1), protein kinase C (PKC), fibronectin and von Willebrand Factor (vWF), a marker for endothelial dysfunction (Calles-Escandon *et al.* 2001), as well as a reduction in NO and NO-mediated vasodilation (Rodrígues-Nañas *et al.* 2003). Vascular changes and their detection seem more complex for type 2 diabetes as markers for endothelial dysfunction are usually present long before any damage occurs (Evans *et al.* 2002).

1.4. Cellular responses to hyperglycaemia

Since diabetes is characterized by abnormally high levels of circulating blood glucose, it follows that increased amounts of glucose enters the cell which results in more substrate being available for glycolysis and subsequent oxidative phosphorylation by the mitochondria (Fig. 1.1).



Fig. 1.1: Schematic diagram showing basic mitochondrial function and mitochondrial ROS generation. Electrons are removed from electron donors such as NADH and FADH₂ and passed down the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) via a series of redox reactions. The energy generated is used to pump protons from the mitochondrial matrix into the inter membrane space, generating an electrochemical potential referred to as the mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta\Psi$ m). This gradient drives ATP synthesis via the re-uptake of protons into the mitochondrial matrix.

1.4.1. Mitochondrial morphology and function

Mitochondria are remnants of a bacterial endosymbiont which are thought to have resided in a host cell over 1,500 million years ago (Margulis *et al.* 1986). They play essential and diverse roles in the metabolism and physiology of eukaryotic cells and provide energy through oxidative phosphorylation. Mitochondria are sub-cellular compartments for numerous essential metabolic reactions such as glycolysis, ROS detoxification, fatty acid transport and oxygenation and play central roles in apoptosis and aging (Scheffler *et al.* 2001).

The cellular function of mitochondria is reflected in their structure, which varies according to cell type, cell cycle stage and intracellular metabolic state (Westermann *et al.* 2002). The establishment and maintenance of an intracellular mitochondrial continuum by continuous membrane fusion and fission events is thought to be important for the distribution of energy in the cell (Westermann *et al.* 2002). Fusion of mitochondria serves to mix and unify mitochondrial compartments (Chan *et al.* 2006) important for the inheritance and maintenance of the mitochondrial genome encoding several polypeptides required for respiratory function and multiple cell signalling cascades. Proteins such as GTPases, kinases and phosphatases are involved in bi-directional communication between the mitochondrial reticulum and the rest of the cell, linking mitochondrial function and dynamics to the regulation of metabolism, cell-cycle control, development, antiviral responses and cell death (Neuspiel *et al.* 2005, McBride *et al.* 2006, Wang *et al.* 2006).

It has been proposed that mitochondrial fusion counteracts the manifestation of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)-linked diseases (Nakada *et al.* 2001) and cellular ageing (Chan *et al.* 2006). Mitochondrial DNA is highly susceptible to ROS-mediated damage, as it is subjected to a much higher level of free radicals compared to nuclear DNA (Kang *et al.* 2005). Multiple mitochondrial DNA deletions can be caused by an increased in ROS

(Wallace *et al.* 2002) and are thought to be associated with genetic disorders (Maassen *et al.* 2004). Research aimed at elucidating the role of mitochondria in cell death has become one of the fastest growing disciplines in biomedicine (Kim *et al.* 2007).

1.4.2. Mitochondrial regulation in hyperglycaemia and hypoxia

Calcium (Ca²⁺) homeostasis is vital to the function and survival of cells and plays an essential role in mitochondrial regulation (Kannan *et al.* 2000). It helps to regulate the tricarboxylic acid cycle involved in fuel molecule catabolism and ATP production (Duchen *et al.* 2004) and mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi_m$); (Richter *et al.* 1998). There is a close relationship between Ca²⁺ concentration and cell death, with the disruption of Ca²⁺ homeostasis being responsible for most endothelial dysfunction associated with oxidative stress (Dreher *et al.* 1995).

Under normal physiological conditions, the $\Delta \psi_m$ drives Ca^{2+} accumulation in the mitochondria through its passive diffusion through the ruthenium red-sensitive uniporter (Jornot *et al.* 1999). A sharp increase in Ca^{2+} , oxidants and inorganic phosphate levels occurs as a result of hyperglycaemia and an increase in oxidative stress stimulates Ca^{2+} release (Richter *et al.* 1998) via the mitochondrial membrane permeability transition pore (mPTP) (Duchen *et al.* 2004). This results in a loss of $\Delta \psi_m$, leakage of the mitochondrial membrane, inhibition of ATP synthesis, mitochondrial damage and cell death (Fig.1.1).

Under hypoxic conditions, there is a reduction in mitochondrial respiration due to the lack of available molecular oxygen. This results in a reduction in cellular Ca^{2+} cycling (Gnaiger *et al.* 2000). In effect, a much slower rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} , a reduction in mitochondrial ROS production and subsequent closing of the mPTP, resulting in a reduced rate of mitochondrial depolarisation. One paper even suggests a functional switch of mitochondrial NO synthase (mtNOS) in endothelial cells from a NO generating enzyme under normoxic
conditions to a superoxide radical (O_2^{-}) generating enzyme under hypoxic conditions (Du *et al.* 1999). Since the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration is known to regulate eNOS activity (Dröge *et al.* 2002) it is important to also consider the role of NO in the responses to hyperglycaemia-induced mitochondrial dysfunction.

It has been shown on many occasions that NO can combine with O_2 . to form highly reactive peroxynitrite (ONOO'); (Green *et al.* 2004) (Fig. 1.1). The formation of peroxynitrite is thought to be a critical step in the apoptotic process in endothelial cells in response to hyperglycaemia (Du *et al.* 1999). Some of the cytotoxic and pro-apoptotic downstream effects of peroxynitrite include: mitochondrial membrane depolarisation, activation of caspases 9 and 8, inactivation of ATP synthase, aconitase and creatine kinase (Waldorf *et al.* 2004), lipid peroxidation, oxidation of protein sulphydryls, nitration of tyrosines and DNA damage (Du *et al.* 2003). Therefore, peroxynitrite is a critical effector of apoptosis. Once formed, peroxynitrite inhibits NADH: ubiquinone reductase activity (complex I) and the ATP synthetase (complex V); (Waldorf *et al.* 2004). This will not only alter the permeability transition of the mitochondrial membrane but also the redox balance of the cell.

Despite contradictory reports about the oxidant properties of NO (Liu *et al.* 2001, Matsunaga *et al.* 2004, Brown *et al.* 2007), more recent studies have suggested that NO modulates the expression of the peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor (PPAR) gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1alpha), thereby regulating the mitochondrial ROS detoxification system (Valle *et al.* 2005, Borinquel *et al.* 2006). Interestingly, Wu *et al.* (2006) has identified the transducer of regulated CREB (cAMP response element-binding protein) binding protein (TORC) 1, as an upstream regulator of PGC-1 alpha, the master regulator of the ROS detoxification system (Wu *et al.* 2006). TORCs have been shown to be essential upstream regulators of CREB activity in beta cells (Conkright *et al.* 2003) and are thought of as promising new therapeutic targets for the treatment of diabetes mellitus (Patil *et al.* 2005).

1.4.3. Oxidative stress, DNA damage and repair

Oxidative stress was first recognised by Conger and Fairchild in 1952 (Conger *et al.* 1952) and is now thought to be an integral component of the development of vascular complications in diabetes mellitus (McMillan *et al.* 1997). There is evidence to suggest that an increase in plasma free-radical concentration impairs insulin action, which in turn contributes to the development of hyperglycaemia and further production of free radicals (Ceriello *et al.* 2000). This observation of a continued cycle of metabolic stress and free-radical production leads to the hypothesis that oxidative stress represents a pathway linking hyperglycaemia to reduced insulin action (Baynes *et al.* 1991, Giugliano *et al.* 1996, Ceriello *et al.* 2000). Further, increased production of reactive oxygen species in response to hyperglycaemia is closely linked to an increase in oxidative DNA damage (Dandona *et al.* 1996). Oxygen and ROS have been shown to induce many different types of DNA damage, including single- and double-strand DNA breaks, base and sugar modifications and DNA protein cross links. If left un-repaired these mutations may have disastrous consequences for the organism (Tsuzuki *et al.* 2007).

DNA repair is a hierarchical process which is initiated by signalling proteins. Two enzymes governing serine-threonine kinases which regulate the response to DNA damage, thereby acting as cell cycle checkpoints (Rehman *et al.* 1999), are ataxia telangiectasia (ATM), mutated ATM and Rad3-related (ATR). These protein kinases respond to distinct types of DNA damage such as single or double strand breaks (Walworth *et al.* 2000). To date, the highly selective processes by which cells detect DNA damage, signal its presence and recruit the correct cellular mechanisms to effect its repair are not fully understood (Jackson *et al.* 2001). What is known is that once expressed these signalling proteins activate a number of DNA repair enzymes, such as DNA polymerase enzymes which catalyze the polymerization of deoxyribonucleotides alongside a DNA strand through the addition and subsequent elongation of free nucleotides to the 3' end of the newly forming strand. DNA polymerases

continuously scan the DNA for damage and on detection will initiate an appropriate repair pathway. Single strand breaks are mainly repaired via base excision repair (BER), in which the altered base is removed by the enzyme DNA glycosylase and the resulting sugar phosphate excised (Walworth *et al.* 2000). Double strand breaks are potentially more dangerous lesions as they leave no template for repair and if left unattended may lead to the breakdown of chromosomes. Double strand repair takes place mainly during non homologous end-joining (also known as DNA mismatch repair; MMR) and homologous end-joining (double-strand break repair; DSB (Walworth *et al.* 2000). During nonhomologous end-joining, the broken ends of the double helix structure are juxtaposed and rejoined by DNA ligation, thus allowing for the complete DNA sequence to be restored. In order to facilitate DNA repair, cellular progression through the cell cycle is delayed until DNA repair is complete to avoid cell death or the formation of cellular mutations during replication (Barzilai *et al.* 2004; Alberts *et al.* 2001).

To prevent attacks from ROS and other free radicals, living cells employ a number of defences including low molecular weight compounds and antioxidants such as vitamin C and E which scavenge free radicals. More complex systems such as the enzymes superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase and glutathione peroxidase have also evolved to limit the damage induced by ROS. The ROS that causes oxidative damage can be divided into two categories: free radicals (OH, NO & O_2) and non-radical ROS (H₂O₂); (Shackelford *et al.* 2000).

Free radicals induce DNA lesions by attacking at the 8'position of guanine since it is the most oxidisable base (Rehman *et al.* 1999). The hydroxyl radical first reacts with guanine to form a C8-OH adduct followed by the loss of an electron and proton to generate 8-oxo-d-guanine (8-oHdG) (Slupphaug *et al.* 2003). Unless repaired prior to DNA replication, 8-oHdG residues can result in GC to TA transversion, which may ultimately lead to mutagenesis (Griffiths *et al.* 2002). The detection of 8-oHdG has been shown to be a suitable

biomarker for the detection of DNA damage in response to oxidative stress (Peoples *et al.* 2005) and is being used for the detection of oxidative DNA damage in diabetic patients (Leinonen *et al.* 1997, Park *et al.* 2001) using chromatographic methods such as HPLC and GC-MS. However, 8-oHdG is an unstable molecule which is further hydrolyzed to 8-oHG resulting in the analysis being marred by the risk of auto-oxidation during sample preparation and manual induction of false positive background readings (Gedik *et al.* 2002). Although suggested improvements in the method aim at eliminating the oxidation of guanine during handling, the measurement of the more stable hydrolyzed form 8-oHG has been proposed (Gedik *et al.* 2002).

Since the first results directly associating an increase in ROS with an increase in DNA damage in type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients (Dandona *et al.* 1996, Hinokio *et al.* 1999), many more studies have looked at the evidence for ROS-related DNA damage in diabetes and its complications (Donnini *et al.* 1996, Hannon *et al.* 1998). Most, if not all, of this research has been carried out in diabetic individuals with long-standing diabetes (10 years or more), some of whom already have established signs of vascular damage. This implies the need for caution when interpreting these results, as oxidative damage (Lorenzi *et al.* 1987, Méplan *et al.* 2000) is also increased with age and concurrent disease (De Bont *et al.* 2004, Lieber *et al.* 2004). However, the amount of evidence showing an increase in oxidative DNA damage in diabetic patients is overwhelming and has been accepted among the scientific community.

1.5. Cellular responses to hypoxia

The ability to sense and respond to changes in O_2 concentration is a fundamental property of all cells. Tissue oxygenation is strictly regulated to ensure the availability of substrate for oxidative phosphorylation through the mitochondrial electron transport chain while

minimizing the production of ROS which can damage cellular DNA, lipids and proteins (Lahiri *et al.* 2006). In 1993, Wang *et al.* published details of the isolation of the transcription factor HIF-1 (hypoxia-inducible factor 1) which binds to the hypoxic response element (HRE) at the 5' UTR of hypoxia regulated genes, thereby facilitating the adaptation and survival of cells in response to changes in oxygen tension (Goldberg 1988, Semenza *et al.* 2000 and Coulet *et al.* 2003).

HIF-1 is a basic helix-loop-helix heterodimer which consists of two subunits HIF-1 α and HIF-1 β (Wang *et al.* 1995). Both of these subunits contain the basic-helix-loop-helix domain which is required for dimerization and DNA binding. Under normoxic conditions the HIF-1 β subunit is constitutively expressed while the HIF-1 α subunit is subjected to proteasomal degradation. It is this HIF-1 α subunit which is tightly regulated by the cellular oxygen concentration and presents the most crucial step in the activation of HIF-1 (Wang *et al.* 1995). It is only when both subunits are activated that HIF-1 translocates into the nucleus and leads to the increased transcription of genes such as glucose transporters, glycolytic enzymes, VEGF, erythropoietin, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and insulin-like growth factor -2 (IGF-2) (Lando *et al.* 2000 and Semenza, 2000). It is now thought that HIF-1 controls several hundred hypoxia responsive genes in the human genome (~5%) (Manalo *et al.* 2005).

Remarkable progress has been made in understanding HIF-1 signalling and cellular oxygen sensing. In the late 1990s, it was discovered that HIF-1 α degradation is controlled by binding of the von Hippel-Lindau protein (vHL) which is the recognition component of the E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase which targets HIF-1 α proteasomal degradation (Huang *et al.* 1998, Kallio *et al.* 1999 and Maxwell *et al.* 1999). vHL binding is dependent on the hydroxylation of HIF-1 α proline residues (402 & 564) for which prolyl hydroxylases (PHD) are responsible (Jaakkola *et al.* 2001, Ivan *et al.* 2002 and Fandrey *et al.* 2006). This

provides a mechanism through which changes in oxygen concentration can be directly translated into changes in gene expression. However, many other factors have been shown to play a role in oxygen sensing and HIF-1 activation, such as asparaginyl hydroxylase (Lando *et al.* 2002a), cytokine activation, growth factors and environmental stimuli (Ke *et al.* 2006 and Lee *et al.* 2000) via the activation of the MAPK or PI3K signalling pathway (Li *et al.* 2004).

1.5.1. HIF-1 α and the mitochondria

Despite being a key promoter for the adaptive responses to cell survival in hypoxia, HIF-1 α paradoxically also mediates hypoxic cell death and apoptosis. Several pro-apoptotic genes induced by HIF-1 α have been reported (Bruick *et al.* 2000, Chen *et al.* 2003, Kim *et al.* 2004 Harada *et al.* 2006). In 2004, Lee *et al.* showed that the HGTD-P gene (HIF-1 α dependent pro-apoptotic molecule), formerly known as a novel gene expressed in human dendritic cells, acts as a novel HIF-1 α responsive pro-apoptotic molecule. It activates mitochondrial apoptotic cascades through the induction of the mPTP, thus transmitting apoptotic signals which are sensed by HIF-1 α to the mPTP (Lee *et al.* 2004).

It has been proposed that HIF-1 activity requires a functional mitochondrial electron transport chain (Guzy *et al.* 2005). Mitochondrial generation of superoxide radicals (at complex I and III of the ETC) and the subsequent formation of hydrogen peroxide are required for the induction of HIF-1 activity and the transcription of its downstream targets in hypoxic cells (Chandel *et al.* 1998). Furthermore, the mitochondrial antioxidant, Mn-SOD, has been shown to be responsible for the conversion of superoxide radicals into hydrogen peroxide (Wang *et al.* 2005). The induction of HIF-1 α and subsequent VEGF expression is suppressed in human breast carcinoma MCF-7 cells. This would indicate that mitochondrial overproduction of ROS, with a subsequent rise in Mn-SOD activity is detrimental rather than beneficial for the induction of the cellular HIF-1 response to hypoxia.

These findings are in agreement with the second hypothesis established by Ehleben *et al.* (1998) who suggested that an NAD(P)H oxidase of unknown origin converts O_2 into superoxide radicals and onwards into hydrogen peroxide via the enzyme SOD. A reduction in O_2 concentration would lead to a reduction in ROS and subsequently reduce the cellular signalling pathways which lead to the activation of HIF-1. In accordance with this hypothesis, Vaux *et al.* (2001) published evidence for the HIF-1 activation in hypoxia even in the absence of a functional mitochondrial respiratory chain as well as showing a reduction in cellular ROS production in response to hypoxia.

1.5.2. Tissue hypoxia and disease progression

Due to the realisation that hypoxia has a strong impact on cell biology and signalling processes, there has been an enormous interest in the biology of HIF-1 and its role in human disease (Semenza et al. 2000). Tissue hypoxia plays a crucial role in cardiovascular disease, tumour growth and diabetic retinopathy due to hypoxia-mediated remodelling of the vasculature (Ikeda et al. 2005). Angiogenesis is one of the most important adaptive responses to hypoxia as it attempts to restore oxygen transport to ischemic tissues by increasing vessel growth. HIF-1-mediated activation of VEGF promotes new vessel growth in diabetic retinopathy in an attempt to circumvent the hypoxic area and restore blood flow (Ferrara et al. 2003). Vascular remodelling can, however, also contribute to disease progression, such as conferring resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy through the remodelling of the tumour vasculature, by a direct change in the cellular phenotype (Kobayashi et al. 2006), and abortive vessel growth during the proliferative stage of diabetic retinopathy leading to hemorrhage, retinal detachment and loss of vision (Cukiernik et al. 2004). New vessel growth has been associated with a reduction in the luminal diameter of the pulmonary artery, resulting in an increased resistance to blood flow and progressive heart failure (Semenza et al. 2001). In addition, it has been linked to cerebral ischemia (Marti et al. 2000) and pregnancy disorders, such as pre-eclampsia and intra-uterine growth retardation (Rajakumar et al. 2004 and Malamitsi-Puchner et al. 2005).

1.6. Intracellular pathways involved in cellular response to hyperglycaemia and hypoxia

1.6.1. The polyol pathway

The polyol pathway converts glucose into sorbitol and onwards into fructose (Fig.1.2). Under normal physiological conditions, this pathway only accounts for a small percentage of the total blood glucose metabolism since the conversion of glucose into glucose-6-phosphate by hexokinase (glycolysis) is the favoured mechanism for the normal metabolism of glucose. As the blood glucose levels rise, hexokinase becomes saturated and a two to four fold increased flux through the polyol pathway can be observed (Hotta *et al.* 1995). The selectivity of this mechanism is due to the high K_m of aldose reductase, the rate limiting enzyme.

During the polyol pathway, glucose is converted into sorbitol by the enzyme aldose reductase (Fig.1.2). This reaction utilises nicotinamide-adenosine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) as a hydrogen donor, converting NADPH into nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, oxidized form (NADP⁺). Sorbitol is then converted into fructose by the enzyme, sorbitol dehydrogenase (SDH). In contrast to the first reaction, nicotinamide-adenosine nucleotide (NAD+) is favoured as a hydrogen acceptor, converting NAD+ into NADH (King *et al.* 1996). Sorbitol is thought to accumulate in the tissue and thereby contribute to the pathogenesis of chronic diabetic vascular complications (Hotta *et al.* 1995). However, despite the investigations into the direct consequence of the accumulation of sorbitol and fructose, it appears that chronic vascular damage is the result of many factors which

contribute to a change in cellular redox state rather than a direct toxicity effect (Gries *et al.* 1995).

A direct consequence of the altered redox state within the cell is a depression in reduced glutathione levels and the resulting loss of the intrinsic protection against oxidative stress (Williams *et al.* 1999), as well as the reduction in myoinositol, leading to a reduced Na+/K+ - ATPase activity (Gries *et al.* 1995).

1.6.2. Advanced Glycation End Products (AGE)

As seen with the polyol pathway, glucose can lead to macromolecular changes. Advanced glycation end products (AGE) are produced by glucose-mediated changes to macromolecules. It is believed that the modification of tissue proteins by reducing sugars contributes to the pathological changes which lead to diabetic vascular complications (Baynes *et al.* 1999).

In the very early stages of the disease and in the presence of high glucose concentrations, glucose attaches rapidly to the amino groups of proteins forming Schiff bases (Maillard reaction) (Yim *et al.* 1995). These rearrange quickly to form more irreversible Amadori products and early glycation products. The last step in this protein glycation cascade is the formation of stable and irreversible advanced glycation end-products from early glycation products (Giardino *et al.* 1997, Mohamed *et al.* 1999). Since AGE products are irreversible, they will accumulate within the tissues or vessel walls over time and contribute to the chronic pathological changes in the vasculature. The more advanced the protein rearrangement, the more permanent these changes become. In addition, these early glycation products can generate free radicals due to their ability to undergo auto-oxidation (Ahmad *et al.* 1998, Ahned *et al.* 2005). This will contribute to protein cross-linking and various other forms of cellular damage in diabetes (Goldin *et al.* 2006).



Fig.1.2: Illustration showing the dependence of the biochemical pathways on changes of the cellular redox sate in response to hyperglycaemia.

AGE can directly alter protein function and associated signal transduction and gene expression (King *et al.* 1996). Three mechanisms of AGE play an important part in the generation of tissue damage, all of which may lead to a change in vessel structure, reduction in their elasticity, abolishion of vessel tone and increased fluid filtration across the vessel walls (King *et al.* 1996). Consequences include the impaired regulation of blood flow (Rösen *et al.* 2001) and a contribution to the development of atherosclerosis (King *et al.* 1996) through the highly thrombogenic and pro-coagulant state of the vessel wall (Rösen *et al.* 2001), all of which are characteristic clinical signs within the population of diabetic subjects.

Associated with the above effects is the concept of AGE-induced acute oxidative stress (Baynes *et al.* 1991, King *et al.* 1996, Mohamed *et al.* 1999, Rösen *et al.* 2001). Binding of AGE to its receptor (RAGE) and the subsequent mediation of signal transduction leads to the generation of ROS (King *et al.* 1996, Mohamed *et al.* 1999) and hence depletion of the antioxidant defence mechanisms. Increased oxidative stress levels result in the activation of the free-radical sensitive transcription factor, NF- κ B. NF- κ B regulates the expression of many genes associated with haemodynamic control and cellular microcirculation of tissues (Mohamed *et al.* 1999, Rösen *et al.* 2001). Therefore the activation of NF- κ B is critical in the pathogenesis and progression of diabetes and atherosclerosis (Mohamed *et al.* 1999).

1.6.3. PKC pathway

One of the most extensively researched pathways activated by high circulating blood glucose levels is the expression of protein kinase C (PKC). Its activation by elevated glucose concentration has to date been confirmed in nearly all tissues (King *et al.* 1996, Ways *et al.* 2001), but the extent of its involvement in the pathogenesis of vascular complications remains unclear (Mohamed *et al.* 1999). PKC belongs to the group of serine/threonine kinases. The entire PKC family is involved in a large number of cellular processes, ranging from host defence mechanisms to the development of neural function required for long-term memory (Gomperts *et al.* 2003). During normal cellular processes, PKC catalyses the phosphate group transfer from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to multiple cellular proteins required for normal cellular function (Rösen *et al.* 2001). PKC isoforms can be classified into three subfamilies, namely conventional (or classical), novel and atypical based on their second messenger requirements. Conventional PKCs (isoforms α , β_1 , β_2 , γ) are diacylglycerol (DAG) and Ca²⁺ sensitive, whereas novel PKCs (isoforms δ , ε , η , θ , μ) are DAG-sensitive but Ca²⁺ insensitive (Koya *et al.* 1998). DAG is synthesised in response to either the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositides (PIs) or from the metabolism of phosphatidylcholine (PC) by phospholipase C (PLC) or D (PLD) (Koya *et al.* 1998). In response to hyperglycaemia there is an increased flux through the glycolytic pathway resulting in an increased production of DAG and a subsequent change in the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio. Atypical PKCs (isoforms ξ , ι , λ) require neither Ca²⁺ nor DAG for activation (Koya *et al.* 1998).

Since high levels of PKC, mainly the β - and δ -isoforms, are present in most diabetic tissues, a number of pathogenic mechanisms have been proposed by which PKC contributes to the development of vascular changes (Meier *et al.* 2000). These include:

- impaired vascular reactivity through the inhibition of NO mediated vasodilation (Ramzy et al. 2006)
- reduced cellular Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity leading to a disruption of cellular integrity and nerve conduction velocity (NCV)
- changes in vascular permeability (PKCα) (Hempel et al. 1997)
- basement membrane thickening and a change in vascular blood flow

Evidence of these changes can be found in all major tissues contributing to atherosclerosis (Yuan *et al.* 2000), retinopathy and neuropathy (Eichberg *et al.* 2002) as well as providing a link to many other pathogenic mechanisms associated with the vascular complications of

diabetes. It has been suggested that the activation of the DAG-PKC pathway is a common downstream pathway through which high circulating blood glucose levels exert their pathogenic effect (Aleksandrovski *et al.* 1998, Koya *et al.* 1998, Opara *et al.* 2002).

1.6.4. p42/44 MAPK and PI3K/akt pathways

P42/44 MAPK belongs to a family of highly conserved serine/threonine protein kinases which are involved in a number of cellular regulatory events such as differentiation, cell survival and migration (Cobb *et al.* 1999). The p42/44 MAP kinase pathway is a protein kinase cascade which links growth and differentiation signals with a resulting effect on cell proliferation (Ho *et al.* 2000). In addition, p42/44 phosphorylation and activation during reperfusion has been shown to be beneficial in limiting reperfusion-induced injury (Brar *et al.* 2000). It is though that ischaemic preconditioning, the most powerful protection against infarction, activates PI3Kinase (PI3K)/AKT and P42/44MAPK (Wynne *et al.* 2005).

PI3K and Akt are downstream effectors of insulin signaling (Galetic *et al.* 1999) and are important in the regulation of angiogenesis (Jiang *et al.* 2000) proliferation (Varma *et al.* 2005), microvascular permeability (Lal *et al.* 2001) and survival (Franke *et al.* 1997) of endothelial cells. High glucose is thought to induce HUVEC apoptosis via PI3K/Akt signaling as well as causing the generation of ROS via a PI3K/Akt dependent pathway (Sheu *et al.* 2005) while hypoxic induction of PI3K/Akt plays an important role in tumour angiogenesis through the induction of vascular endothelial growth factor (Mitzukami *et al.* 2006; Kobayashi *et al.* 2006).

1.7. Therapeutic targets for vascular complications in diabetes mellitus

As the treatment options for diabetic vascular complications are limited, the development of novel therapeutic agents and approaches is an important focus of diabetes research. One of

the first targets identified as having great potential for the treatment of diabetic microvascular complications was the polyol pathway and its rate-limiting enzyme, aldose reductase (Fig. 1.2). Aldose reductase inhibitors were first developed in 1973 (Dvornik *et al.* 1973) and together with flavonoid antioxidants, which have also been proposed to have aldose reductase inhibiting potential (Varma *et al.* 1977), formed the first generation of promising therapeutic agents for the treatment and prevention of vascular complications of diabetes which are still being investigated to date. However, due to our continuously evolving appreciation of the biochemical mechanisms involved, focus has since shifted to other promising agents such as PKC β inhibitors (Kunisaki *et al.* 1994) and most recently poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors (Soriano *et al.* 2001).

1.7.1. Aldose reductase inhibitors

Since the first isolation of rat lens aldose reductase (Hayman *et al.* 1965) aldose reductase and its inhibitors have been extensively researched as potential therapeutic agents for the treatment and/or prevention of diabetic vascular complications. Despite showing promising results in animal and in vitro studies, aldose reductase inhibitors have failed to show any outstanding benefit in the multitude of clinical trials that have been conducted with the exception of some beneficial effects on neuropathy.

The greatest benefits to humans were seen in the prevention of a reduction in nerve conduction velocity in diabetic neuropathy (Goto *et al.* 1990). This has led to the licensing of certain aldose reductase inhibitors (tolrestat, epalrestat) in some European countries (Hotta *et al.* 1995) for the prevention of diabetic neuropathy. In addition aldose reductase inhibitors (ARI) investigated by the Sorbinil Retinopathy Trial Research Group (Sorbinil Retinopathy Trial Research Group (1990)) have shown encouraging results in the prevention of diabetic retinopathy (Zenon *et al.* 1990).

Consequences of inhibiting the rate-limiting enzyme of the polyol pathway can easily be extrapolated from our insight into the outcomes of polyol pathway expression. Research carried out in this area (Costantino *et al.* 1999) has shown that aldose reductase inhibitors improve nerve conduction velocity and endoneurial blood flow, improve endothelial NO-mediated vascular relaxation, improve nerve and vascular smooth muscle cell Na^+/K^+ - ATPase activity, lead to an incremental increase in the oxygen supply of peripheral nerves and reduce the incidence of capillary micro-aneurysms in the retina.

The limited data obtained from clinical trials suggests that the clinical role of the aldose reductase inhibitors is confined to a slowing of the pathogenic progression rather than the reversal of vascular damage (Costantino *et al.* 1999). This suggestion is further confirmed by studies which have shown that early administration of ARIs to galactose-fed rats can slow cataract formation. This suggests that further investigation of the beneficial effects of ARIs should focus on early intervention and prevention of vascular dysfunction (Kador *et al.* 1985) rather than the treatment of a manifested vascular complications.

1.7.1.1. Structural requirements of flavonoid aldose reductase inhibitors

Aldose reductase inhibitors can broadly be categorized into four structural groups: carboxylic acids, flavonoids, cyclic imides (mostly hydantoins) and "other compounds" (Sato *et al.* 1990). As none of the flavonoid aldose reductase inhibiting compounds have made it to the clinical trial stage, more potent and less toxic aldose reductase inhibitors need to be identified. Special attention is paid to the NADPH binding conformation and the identification of the structural pharmacophoric and stereometric properties.

In 2002 Matsuda *et al.* identified essential structural requirements of potent flavonoid ARI. These include:



- 7 hydroxyl and/or catechol moiety at the B-ring (3',4'-dihydroxyl moiety) which exhibits strong activity
- 2. 5 hydroxyl moiety has no effect on activity
- 3. 3 hydroxyl and 7-O-glucosyl moieties-reduce activity
- 4. 2-3 double bond enhances activity
- catechol moiety at the B ring exhibits stronger activity than a pyrogallol moiety (3',4',' trihydroxyl moiety)

Fig. 1.3: Core structure of a flavonoid comound and identified essential structural requirements for a potent flavonoid ARI

The more water-soluble flavonoid antioxidant compounds contain the 4-oxo-4H-chromen ring system which is essential for improved ARI activity. These compounds interact with the enzyme at a site which is different from that of the substrate. Conformational change of the enzyme is achieved by nucleophilic attack at the carbonyl group of the inhibitor (Kador *et al.* 1983). It is because of these effects that many antioxidants have been investigated for their therapeutic potential in the treatment of the vascular complications of diabetes.

Overall, the data obtained from studies with aldose reductase inhibitors do not live up to their promise as potent effective treatments for all vascular complications in diabetes. Research into these novel therapeutic agents is still ongoing (Hotta *et al.* 2001, Bril *et al.* 2006), although attention has now shifted to other more promising therapeutic targets such as $PKC\beta$ and PARP inhibitors.

1.7.2. PKC β inhibitors

Recent developments focus on the usefulness of specific PKC-isoform inhibitors as novel therapeutic agents in the treatment and prevention of diabetic vascular complications (Cooper *et al.* 1997, Ways *et al.* 2001, Bloomgarden *et al.* 2002), and although they seem to show some improvement, one main hurdle is to establish their long-term consequences, since PKC is involved in a multitude of normal cell processes.

In 1996 the PKC β inhibitor LY333531 was one of the first to be synthesised and shown to be a competitive reversible inhibitor of PKC β_1 and β_{11} (Ishii *et al.* 1996). Since then, it has been extensively tested against the hypothesis that PKC β -induced ROS underlies the vascular dysfunction in diabetes (Zhou *et al.* 2006). LY333531 has since been shown to ameliorate diabetes-induced retinal hemodynamic abnormalities (Aiello *et al.* 2006), and calcium homeostasis of diabetic sensory neurons (Tahara *et al.* 2006) as well as being beneficial in preventing diabetes associated CV complications (Boyle *et al.* 2005; Zhou *et al.* 2006) in rats. LY333531, also known as Ruboxistaurin, is quickly emerging as a potential novel therapeutic agent for the treatment of diabetic microvascular diseases (Joy *et al.* 2005, Avignon *et al.* 2006) such as peripheral neuropathy (Casellini *et al.* 2007).

1.7.3. Antioxidants

As mentioned above, antioxidants have been investigated as potential therapeutic agents for diabetes since Varma *et al.* (1977) hypothesised a potential role for them as aldose reductase

inhibitors. Antioxidants are free-radical scavengers which prevent or delay the oxidation of substrates. Two types of endogenous antioxidants exist, antioxidant enzymes and small antioxidant molecules. In addition, antioxidants are ingested in a healthy, balanced diet and in some cases vitamin supplementation.

To date, a large number of studies have given conclusive evidence that free radical-generated cellular damage plays an important role in the pathogenesis of many chronic diseases (Hannon *et al.* 1998). As such, three of the four largest and most important long-term clinical trials carried out in diabetes have had nutritional intervention as a major element in their investigation. These include the Epidemiology of Diabetes Intervention and Complications Study (EDIC) (a follow-on study of the DCCT (NIDDK National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse), the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) (World Health Organisation 1990) and the Look AHEAD (Action for Health in Diabetes 2002) study.

As explained earlier, ROS play an important role in the pathogenesis of diabetic vascular damage (Section 1.4). It has therefore been hypothesised that the use of antioxidants as therapeutic agents could be beneficial in the treatment and prevention of diabetic vascular complications and other chronic diseases. Particular attention has been paid to antioxidants such as Vitamin E and C in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Results from large-scale clinical trials are controversial depending on the study size, risk groups investigated (primary or secondary prevention), race, and dose of Vitamin E administered. The most interesting evidence was produced by the CHAOS (Cambridge Heart Antioxidant Study) study in 1996 (Stephens *et al.* 1996) which looked at the effect of Vitamin E on the secondary prevention and improvement in mortality in CV disease patients. Results revealed a 60% reduction in non-fatal myocardial infarctions. A second landmark trial, the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) study (Kleinert *et al.* 1999), in contrast, found that long-term vitamin E supplementation does not prevent major cardiovascular events in

patients with vascular disease or diabetes mellitus, and may even increase the risk for heart failure (Lonn *et al.* 2005). This highlights the potential importance for the use of antioxidants in diabetes and the prevention of CV complications.

Alpha lipoic acid (another powerful anti-oxidant) has been shown to be particularly suited for the prevention and/or treatment of diabetic complications that arise from the overproduction of ROS (Packer *et al.* 2001). A randomised controlled trial investigating the usefulness of alpha lipoic acid, selenium and D-alpha-tocopherol in 80 randomly assigned diabetic patients confirmed that oxidative stress played a role in promorting the development of long-term diabetic complications (Kähler *et al.* 1993). Its combination with an aldose reductase inhibitor (ARI) has been suggested to be a suitable future treatment strategy (Cameron *et al.* 1999).

Although many different types of antioxidants exist, flavonoid antioxidants have largely been the focus of antioxidant research and will now be reviewed in more detail.

1.8. Flavonoids

Flavonoids are a group of polyphenolic antioxidant compounds, of which 3000 varieties are known to date. They can be found in a variety of plants, fruits and a number of beverages such as teas, wine and beer (Gökmen, 2002; Miller, 2002).

The core structure of all flavonoids includes two benzene rings on either side of a 3-carbon ring (Fig. 1.3). Depending on the further chemical structure, flavonoids are divided into five sub-groups: anthocyanidins, flavones/flavonoles, flavanones, catechins/leucoanthocyanidins and proanthocyanidins (Gökmen, 2002). These structural differences are responsible for the multitude of therapeutic activities that flavonoids have been shown to possess.

The therapeutic properties of flavonoids have been explored for centuries with the health benefit of teas and plant extracts well known to ancient Chinese medicine. Scientific interest in flavonoids has led to many studies being carried out since the 1940s. These studies have shown that flavonoids have antibacterial, anti-inflammatory (Nair et al. 2002), antiallergic, antiviral, anti-thrombic and vasodilatory activity (Narayana et al. 2001, Kris-Etherton et al. 2002). Most of these effects can be attributed to their potent antioxidant and radical scavenging capacity, as oxidative stress is an underlying factor in many of these diseases (Jovanovic et al. 2000, Cotelle et al. 2001). Flavonoids also inhibit a number of enzymes including aldose reductase, xanthine oxidase, phosphodiesterase, Ca²⁺ ATPase, lipooxygenase and cyclooxygenase and regulate certain hormones (Wang et al. 2000), making them applicable to a wide range of therapeutic approaches. In principle, the potent antioxidant activity of flavonoids is thought to be attributable to two main mechanisms of action: a radical scavenging activity which occurs through the donation of hydrogen atoms from free hydroxyls found on the flavonoid nucleus, and a metal chelating activity which is mediated through the phenolic OH groups (Sugihara et al. 1999). Research into the structure-activity relationship of flavonoids has identified three basic criteria which predict the potency of the flavonoids' radical scavenging ability. These include (i) the ortho-dihydroxyl structure in the B-ring, (ii) the 2,3-double bond allowing electron delocalization from the B-ring, and (iii) 3and 5-OH with 4-oxo function in the A- and C-rings. In general, research suggests that flavonoids act as antioxidants in biological systems through their radical scavenging ability. However, in the presence of certain metal ions, flavonoids will form complexes which will dictate their effect as either anti- or pro-oxidants (Sugihara et al. 1999, Areias et al. 2001).

A Finnish prospective study which looked at the relationship between average dietary flavonoid intake and the development of chronic diseases in 10,054 men and women between 1966 and 1972 found an inverse relationship between flavonoid intake and the development of disease (ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, lung & prostate

40

cancer, type 2 diabetes and asthma), with most of the beneficial effects attributed to quercetin (Knet *et al.* 2002). This inverse relationship between average dietary flavonoid intake and cardiovascular risk has also been summarised in a review by Cotelle in 2001.

Despite the multitude of scientific data, there is controversy over the supplementation of our diet with flavonoid extracts. As there is no evidence to suggest that a lack in polyphenols causes serious harm (unlike some vitamin deficiencies), the consensus seems to be that dietary intake of flavonoids through fruit and vegetables is more advisable than essential supplementation (Duthie *et al.* 2003).

1.9. Quercetin and the French Paradox

Quercetin is one of the most extensively studied flavonoids and is deemed to be one of the most potent antioxidants among the flavonoid group (Fig.1.4) (Formica *et al.* 1995). Large amounts of quercetin can be found in apples (Boyer *et al.* 2004), onions, kale, french beans, broccoli, lettuce and tomatoes as well as red wine, grape, lemon and tomato juice. Because of its wide distribution, quercetin constitutes an unavoidable component of our diet which is positive given the extensive health benefits attributable to flavonoids.



Quercetin [C15H10O7]



(Adapted from: Dictionary of Natural Products (DNP) on CD-Rom, Version 9:2. Copyright (c) 1982-2001 Chapman & Hall/CRC.)

Quercetin is said to be of particular benefit to the cardiovascular system (Boyer *et al.* 2004) as well as having a positive effect on inflammatory and vascular diseases, atherosclerotic plaque formation and viral and carcinogenic activity (Formica *et al.* 1995). However, other reports question the ability of quercetin to reverse diabetic oxidative stress overall (Sanders *et al.* 2001).

Despite the convincing results which confirm the health benefits of dietary flavonoids, something referred to as the "French paradox" (Criqui *et al.* 1994) questions our understanding of their mechanism of action. The mediterranean diet is saturated with flavonoids and other antioxidants and vitamins through the high dietary intake of fish, vegetables, fruit and red wine. This can be correlated to the low incidence in cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes and obesity in these countries. However studies show that flavonoids (especially quercetin) are susceptible to microbiological degradation in the lower bowel (Renauld *et al.* 1992) and poor absorption with only 0.3%-0.5% of quercetin being absorbed from the gut (Formica *et al.* 1995). Thus, it remains unclear as to how the health benefits can be achieved with the relatively low concentration of active compound reaching the affected area.

1.10. Silymarin

Silymarin or *Silibum marianum* is a biennial herb commonly known as milk thistle. The Greeks and Romans used the extracts and derivatives of the milk thistle in the 1st century, and evidence for this is found in the writings of many famous physicians of the past such as Dioscorides, Pliny the Elder, Hieronymus Bock, Jacobus, Theodorus and Culpepper

(Pepping et al. 1999). Historically, it is used for conditions of the liver, spleen and gallbladder.

Silymarin became available for clinical use in Europe and America in 1969. Until then, silymarin was thought to be a pure compound. Detailed analysis revealed that silymarin is made up of a number of different flavonoid isomers: silibinin, isosilibinin, silidianin and silichristin (Frömming *et al.* 1999) (Fig. 1.5). Of these, silibinin is thought to be responsible for the majority of therapeutic effects seen with silymarin (Zhao *et al.* 1999). Further HPLC analysis revealed that silymarin also contained taxifolin (Fig.1.6), another flavonoid compound structurally closely related to quercetin (Fig.1.4), as well as linoleic and oleic acids (approx. 20% of dry weight) (Carrier *et al.* 2004). The seeds of the milk thistle are said to contain a number of other flavonolignans such as dehydrosilybin, desoxysilcristin, desoxysilydyanin, silandrin, silybinome, silyhermin and neosilyhermin. Nothing is known about their therapeutic effectiveness.

A recent analysis of the active components of silymarin suggests that silymarin contains impurities which have a more potent antioxidant capacity than any of the flavonoid isomers themselves, indicating that the higher the purity of the milk thistle extract the lower its antioxidant capacity (Kvasnička *et al.* 2003).



silymarin/silibinin [C25H22O10]



silydianin [C25H24O10]



silychristine [C25H22O10]

Fig.1.5: Illustration showing the different flavonoid structures found in the silymarin compound (Adapted from: Dictionary of Natural Products (DNP) on CD-Rom, Version 9:2. Copyright (c) 1982-2001 Chapman & Hall/CRC).

1.10.1. Therapeutic properties of silymarin

Silymarin is mainly used as a hepatoprotective drug. It is marketed as Legalon70[®] by the German company Madaus (Köln) and is licensed for the treatment of toxic liver damage and the supplementary treatment of chronic inflammatory liver disease and liver cirrhosis.

Despite the large amounts of convincing research investigating the usefulness of milk thistle in liver disease, its mechanism of action is still poorly understood. To date it is thought that silymarin exerts its hepatoprotective effect through four main mechanisms (Fraschini *et al.* 2002), namely as a potent antioxidant radical scavenger, a cell membrane stabiliser and permeability regulator, a promoter of ribosomal RNA synthesis and an inhibitor of the transformation of stela hepatocytes into myofibroblasts.

Since silymarin is a flavonoid antioxidant, its theoretical benefits for a multitude of chronic diseases is evident. Despite research focusing on silymarin in the treatment of liver disease, other useful properties have been discovered over the years and research attention has widened to include other diseases such as cancer, inflammatory diseases and diabetes.

The use of silymarin in cancer treatment and prevention is a field of growing interest. Particular attention has been paid to its ability to protect against skin cancer development through the reduced phosphorylation of the Shc gene (Ahmad *et al.* 1998) as well as the inhibition of MAPK/ERK1&2 pathway (Zi *et al.* 1999) and subsequent cell cycle arrest (G2-M1 phase). Silymarin has also been shown to inhibit VEGF expression in cancerous HUVEC cells (Jiang *et al.* 2000) and has a potential anti-angiogenic effect in colon cancer (Yang *et al.* 2003).

Since inflammation is a contributory factor in many disease pathologies, research has also investigated the potential anti-inflammatory properties of silymarin (De La Puerta *et al.*

1996). Evidence has been published showing silymarin is able to suppress the action of NF- κ B (Saliou *et al.* 1998, Saliou *et al.* 1999), inhibit the action of TNF α -induced adhesion molecules, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin and the TNF α induced binding of NF- κ B/Rel (Kang *et al.* 2003). It has also been shown to prevent LDL oxidation and expression of iNOS (Kang *et al.* 2003) making it a potential therapeutic agent for diseases such as arthritis (Gupta *et al.* 2000) asthma (Breschi *et al.* 2002) and cardiovascular diseases. This is supported by additional findings showing a reduction in plasma cholesterol levels (Škottová *et al.* 1998, Škottová *et al.* 1999, Kang *et al.* 2003), platelet aggregation in rat blood (Yao-Cheng *et al.* 1991) and cytoprotective and cell regenerating effects (Valenzuela *et al.* 1994). Since diabetes is a major risk factor for CV disease silymarin might be a suitable agent to slow the onset and progression of diabetes associated macrovascular complications (Psotova *et al.* 2002).

1.10.2. Use of silymarin in diabetes

The usefulness of silymarin in diabetes prevention and treatment was first suggested in the early 1990s (Zhang *et al.* 1993). Since then only a few research reports have taken a closer look at the issues surrounding diabetes mellitus. In 1998 the first ever study was published which specifically looked at the treatment of alloxan-induced diabetic rats with silymarin (Soto *et al.* 1998). The study showed that silymarin prevents a rise in plasma glucose concentration and lipid-peroxidation as well as showing an increase in pancreatic and plasma glutathione levels. Following on from this study the same research group published further evidence in 2003, suggesting that silymarin restores the levels of antioxidant enzymes SOD, glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx) and catalase (CAT) in the pancreas of alloxan-induced diabetic rats. In addition, they observed a recovery of normal blood glucose levels. Their explanation is based on previous work carried out by Sonnenbichler *et al.* (1976), who reported that transcription of RNA is accelerated in the liver of rats and mice in the presence of silymarin. This leads to an increase in the rate of protein synthesis. The prevention of

pancreatic β -cell destruction through the maintenance or increase of glutathione levels is thought to be responsible for the restoration of the blood sugar levels observed (Shafer *et al.* 2001).

Another study investigating the long-term (23 months) effects of silymarin administration in cirrhotic diabetes patients found a significant decrease in fasting and mean daily blood glucose levels as well as a significant reduction in the mean exogenous insulin requirements (Velussi *et al.* 1997). These results were confirmed by a subsequent study looking at the compound silybin-beta-cyclodextrin in patients with type two diabetes mellitus and concurrent chirrosis (Lirussi *et al.* 2002).

Despite the limited amount of research which has gone into silymarin, both the *in vitro* and *in vivo* results seem to be promising. From research reports carried out on other tissues, certain mechanisms have been identified which strengthen the argument for research into the usefulness of silymarin in diabetes. Silymarin has, for example, been shown to be a potent radical scavenger, preventing radical-mediated DNA damage (Anderson *et al.* 1994, Yu *et al.* 1997, Kang *et al.* 2003) and a depression of antioxidant enzymes (Soto *et al.* 2003). It has also been shown to prevent lipid peroxidation (Soto *et al.* 2003, Kang *et al.* 2003) and to protect cellular glutathione levels (Shafer *et al.* 2001, Soto *et al.* 2003). Other effects such as the inhibition of VEGF (Jiang *et al.* 2000), NF- κ B (Saliou *et al.* 1998), and the production of iNOS (Kang *et al.* 2003) could also have implications for the development of diabetic vascular disease. Despite intense research, however, the exact mechanism(s) of action of silymarin remain uncertain and the need for further research into the usefulness of silymarin and its flavonoid isomers such as silibinin and taxifolin in the prevention and treatment of diabetes mellitus and its complications remains. The main question raised is whether silymarin acts by improving the cellular environment due to its antioxidant capacity or if it

acts through a different mechanism which is independent of its antioxidant activity all together.

1.10.3. Silymarin as a possible aldose reductase inhibitor

One proposed mechanism of action for silymarin suggests that silibinin, the most therapeutically active component of silymarin is an aldose reductase inhibitor based on findings in 14 type 1 diabetic patients (Zhang *et al.* 1993). Hyperglycaemia is known to result in sorbitol production. The inhibition of aldose reductase as the rate-limiting enzyme of this pathway has a number of positive effects with respect to alteration of NADP/NAD ratio (King *et al.* 1996) (Section 1.6.1) which is thought to be associated with the manifestation of cellular dysfunction. The ARIs will theoretically restore the redox state, leading to the restoration of protein tyrosine phosphatase activity (Evans *et al.* 2002), normalisation of glutathione levels and improved membrane integrity as a result of improved myoinositol mediated Na+/K+ ATPase activity. Other knock-on effects would include the prevention of PKC and AGE activation as well as MAPK-mediated phosphorylation of transcription factors and the subsequent alteration of gene expression patterns which contribute to changes in DNA damage and the subsequent development of vascular complications (Tomlinson *et al.* 1999).

Silymarin has also been shown to depress glutathione levels (GSH) in the liver (Soto *et al.* 2003) and inhibit iNOS production in HUVECs (Kang *et al.* 2003). Furthermore, it has been shown to improve nerve conduction velocity in diabetic neuropathy (Zhang *et al.* 1993), act as a membrane stabiliser (Fraschini *et al.* 2002) and prevent ROS-induced DNA damage (Yu *et al.* 1997). Although all of these effects were observed in a multitude of different cell types using many different methods, they seem to tentatively support the argument for the action of silymarin as an aldose reductase inhibitor, bearing in mind that silymarin also acts through other mechanisms to reduce glutathione.

1.11. Silibinin

Silibinin (3,5,7-trihydroxy-2-[3-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenil)-2-hydroxymethyl-1,4benzodioxan-6-il]-chronan-4-one) is the main polyphenolic flavonoid isomer of silymarin and is mainly thought to be responsible for the antioxidant properties of the silymarin compound (Valenzuela *et al.* 1994). Some of the identified actions of silibinin include, an anti-inflammatory action by inhibiting intrahepatic NF- κ B and subsequent activation of TNF, IFN- γ , IL-2 and iNOS (Dehmlow *et al.* 1996, Schümann *et al.* 2003), iron chelation useful in the treatment of chronic iron overload such as Cooley's anaemia (Borsari *et al.* 2001), a potent antioxidant action which shows protection against oxidative injury and an increase in protein synthesis while improving lipid peroxidation and reducing triglyceride levels (Lirussi *et al.* 2002).

Studies which looked at the benefits of silibinin in diabetes revealed that it improved nerve conduction velocity in type 2 diabetic patients (Zhang *et al.* 1993) as well as preventing the onset of diabetic neuropathy by inhibiting excessive mono-ADP-ribosylation in rat cervical ganglia (Gorio *et al.* 1996). A more recent study looking at the effect of silibinin on red blood cell sorbitol levels in diabetic patients suggests that silibinin might be a powerful aldose reductase inhibitor and therefore valuable in the prophylaxis and treatment of diabetic complications (Zhang *et al.* 2002).

Studies looking at the effect of silibinin on blood glucose levels reported no beneficial effect. However, using the new oral formulation silybin-beta-cyclodextrin a reduction in blood glucose levels in 42 type 2 diabetic patients (with associated chronic liver disease) was observed after six months of oral administration (Lirussi *et al.* 2002). This is thought to be due to a reduction in lipid peroxidation and improved insulin activity as a result of the improved bioavailability of silibinin (SALAM Research, 2005). Silibinin is a water-soluble flavonoid which is a proven liver protectant (Dehmlow *et al.* 1996). Similar to other flavonoids it is not well-absorbed and has been converted into a more lipid-compatible molecular complex. As such it is able to transition from a hydrophilic environment into the lipid-friendly environment of the outer cell membrane, and from there into the cell, finally reaching the blood (Kidd *et al.* 2005). Silibinin-beta-cyclodextrin is an oligosaccharide widely used in drug delivery formulation. It alters the release pattern, solubility and stability characteristics of the drug (Timmy *et al.* 2002).

More recently, silibinin has been investigated as a therapeutic agent for diseases other than hepatic disorders the main focus being on oncological and chemotherapeutic applications, such as prostate (Singh *et al.* 2006), skin (Gu *et al.* 2006) and bladder cancer (Tyagi *et al.* 2006). Numerous new effects of silibinin have been discovered, such as the modulation of drug transport via P-glycoproteins (Patel *et al.* 2004), its activity on oestrogen receptors (Crocenzi *et al.* 2001) and its effect of NF-kB and caspase regulated endothelial cell apoptosis (Yoo *et al.* 2004), where it is thought to affect the mitochondrial regulated apoptosis cascade (Mohan *et al.* 2004).

1.12. Taxifolin

Taxifolin is a polyphenolic flavanone compound with a catechol ring similar to quercetin. It is referred to as dihydroquercetin as it is the hydrophilic non-planar equivalent to quercetin (planar, hydrophobic) (Fig. 1.4; Fig. 1.6).



(2R, 3R)-form

Taxifolin (dihydroquercetin) [C₁₅H₁₂O₇]

Fig. 1.6: Structure of taxifolin, a flavonoid compound found in silymarin and structurally closely related to quercetin. Taxifolin is also known as dihydroquercetin. (Adapted from: Dictionary of Natural Products (DNP) on CD-Rom, Version 9:2. Copyright (c) 1982-2001 Chapman & Hall/CRC).

Taxifolin can commonly be found in citrus fruits, such as oranges and grapefruit and, like all flavonoids, it has been found to possess anti- and pro-oxidant effects. Research suggests that it is a weaker antioxidant than quercetin which is in accordance with the structural prediction criteria for flavonoid radical scavenging ability mentioned in Section 1.8 above. In addition, taxifolin binds more strongly to Fe^{2+} than quercetin (Areias *et al.* 2001), which ultimately determines its pro-oxidant activity.

Taxifolin was found to have a similar anti-oxidant activity profile to alpha-tocopherol (Tesekin *et al.* 1996), inhibiting superoxide anion production, protecting mitochondria from peroxyl radical damage and inhibiting the activation of NADPH-dependent cytochrome P_{450} reductase induced by microsomal lipid peroxidation (Haraguchi *et al.* 1996). Recently, taxifolin has been investigated by the food industry for its usefulness as a prophylactic measure against oxidative stress. It is thought to be valuable since it lacks adverse effects such as embryotoxicity, tetratogenicity, allergenicity and mutability (Tiukavkina *et al.* 1997). However, with respect to its potential pro-oxidant activity, the use of taxifolin as a dietary supplement needs to be dealt with cautiously.

1.12.1. Therapeutic properties of taxifolin

Only a limited amount of research has investigated the properties and mechanisms of taxifolin. Some studies have shown its therapeutic potential and the first suggestion for a possible signalling mechanism has been made. In 1996, an Italian research team found a cytoprotective effect for both quercetin and dihydroquercetin which could protect neurovascular structures in the skin from oxidative stress. This effect was enhanced when quercetin was paired with ascorbic acid. Taxifolin remained unaffected by the presence of ascorbic acid (Skaper *et al.* 1996). A few years later, a Korean research team also managed to show a neuroprotective effect of quercetin and taxifolin against oxidative injuries in cortical cells induced by hydrogen peroxide and xanthine / xanthine oxidase (Dok-Go *et al.* 2003).

The most interesting research, however, was carried out at the University of Berkeley in 2002 (Bito *et al.* 2002). The team investigated the effect of taxifolin on the expression of the intercellular adhesion molecule, ICAM-1, which is known to be important in mediation of inflammatory reaction. ICAM-1 is a fundamental component of all immune-related processes. It is associated with receptors of the integrin family mediating cell-cell interactions and allowing signal transduction. The paper presents evidence that taxifolin significantly inhibits tyrosine phosphorylation of JAK1 (a member of the Janus family of tyrosine kinases which is an integral component of the IFN γ signalling cascade), thereby inhibiting the INF γ -induced expression of ICAM-1. This suggests that the JAK-STAT pathway may be a potential molecular site of action for taxifolin (Bito *et al.* 2002). This is in contrast to quercetin, which inhibits ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells by inhibiting the JNK pathway (Kobuchi *et al.* 1999). Due to the differences in molecular pathways and antioxidant capacity of the two flavonoids, it is thought that the effect observed in taxifolin is independent of its antioxidant capacity. As inflammatory changes are an underlying cause in many chronic diseases, there might be a place for the therapeutic benefits of taxifolin in their

treatment. These results raise the critical question of how much, if any, of the beneficial effect seen with silymarin in the treatment of acute and chronic liver diseases is attributable to taxifolin.

Taking current literature into consideration, there appears to be a need to further our understanding of the molecular contributions which lead to the development of endothelial changes early in the development of diabetes-related vascular complications. Since oxidative stress appears to play a crucial role in this pathology, it is important to further understand how oxidative stress contributes to endothelial changes which will inevitably provide pointers to potential new drug targets such as silymarin which can be explored in this context.

1.13. AIM AND OBJECTIVES OF STUDY

This study aims to determine the effect of hyperglycaemia and hypoxia on DNA damage in a human endothelial cell line and to determine if silymarin is able to ameliorate any observed changes.

Objectives

- Determine the effect of hypoxia and/ or glucose on the level of DNA damage in an endothelial cell line.
- 2. Correlate findings with changes in cellular mitochondrial activity and the production of reactive oxygen species in response to changing glucose and oxygen concentrations.
- 3. Determine the role of antioxidants on the cellular parameters indicated above.

CHAPTER TWO: Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials

All chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole Dorset, UK) unless otherwise stated.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC)

A transformed HUVEC line was purchased from the European Collection of Cell Culture (ECACC) and stored in liquid nitrogen. An immortalised cell line differs from a primary cell line, as it has acquired the ability to proliferate indefinitely (Chaudry *et al.* 2004) and serves as a model systems for studies of endothelial function, in response to changes in glucose and oxygen levels (Zanetti *et al.* 2001; Fang *et al.* 2005). HUVEC are isolated from normal human umbilical vein, cryopreserved at the end of primary culture and propagated. Cells were used from passage \geq 24 onwards for the duration of the study and showed a consitent response to conditions. HUVEC are responsive to cytokine stimulation in the expression of cell adhesion molecules. These cell systems are commonly used for physiological and pharmacological investigations, such as macromolecule transport, blood coagulation, and fibrinolysis (Furie *et al.* 1988, Wojta *et al.* 1993). The cells are positive for factor VIII-related antigen expression and DiI-Ac-LDL uptake. Each batch is tested for HIV, Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C as well as mycoplasma, bacteria, yeast, fungi (Personal communication, ECACC Technical services).

2.2.2. HUVEC storage and resucitation

The cells were resuscitated by incubating the vial in a 37°C water bath under gentle agitation for 3 - 4min until completely thawed. The resulting cell suspension (1ml) was pipetted into a 25ml Sterilin (Fisher, Loughborough) and 4ml of standard cell culture media containing glucose-free Glasgow Minimum Essential Medium x 1 (GMEM), 10% (v/v) foetal calf
serum (FCS), L-glutamine (200mM), penicillin (10 000 U/ml) and streptomycin (10mg/ml) (all supplies obtained from Gibco, Paisley); (this is subsequently referred to as standard medium). All media are warmed to 37°C before use. The resulting 5ml cell suspension was centrifuged at 4000g for 10min (room temperature) to pellet the cells. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet re-suspended in 1ml GMEM cell culture media (5mM glucose, 10% (v/v) FCS) before seeding an appropriate volume of the cell suspension in 25cm², 75cm² flasks, 6 well or 96 well plates as required (Corning, Lutherworth).

2.2.3. Counting of HUVECs

The HUVEC pellet was re-suspended in 1ml of appropriate cell culture media (GMEM). A 10 μ l aliquot was removed and added to an Eppendorf tube containing 20 μ l cell culture media and 30 μ l of 0.4% (v/v) Trypan blue (GIBCO, Paisley). Trypan blue will stain dead or dying cells dark blue as their cell membrane is damaged and more permeable to the staining solution. The tip of the pipette containing the cell suspension was directed between the glass plate and the cover slip of a Neubauer Improved Haemocytometer and the cell suspension taken up by capillary action before obtaining a cell count within the defined areas. From the cell count the appropriate seeding density for the experimental setup was determined. The following seeding densities were used: 0.1×10^6 /ml for 96 well plates; 0.05×10^6 /ml for 2-well chamber slides; 0.1×10^4 cells/ml for 16 well chamber slides and 2×10^4 cells/gel for the comet assay.

2.2.4. Propagation of HUVECs

Flasks were placed in the incubator and maintained at 37°C in normoxia $(5\%CO_2/20\%O_2/75\%)$ air, subsequently referred to as normoxia) until confluent. Further passage of the cells occurred at approximately 80% confluency. The cell culture media was discarded and cells washed three times with 5ml HBSS without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (Gibco, Paisley). Three ml trypsin 0.25% (v/v) was added to the flask (25cm² flasks) and replaced in the incubator for

10min. HUVECs were lifted by gentle shaking and the suspension decanted into a 25ml sterile container. Two ml of 10% (v/v) FCS was added to the cell suspension (2% (v/v)) to neutralise the action of trypsin before centrifugation at 4000g for 10min (room temperature). The supernatant was poured off and the cell pellet re-suspended and seeded into the cell culture flask as described above.

Where further treatment of the cells was required, this was carried out at approximately 70% confluence. The cell culture media was discarded and the cells washed three times using 5ml of HBSS (GIBCO, Paisley) before the addition of 5ml of standard glucose free/ serum free (GF/SF) medium. Flasks were returned to the incubator and maintained at 37°C under normoxic atmosphere (5%CO₂/ 20%O₂/ 75% air) overnight. The following morning, the media was taken off and cells washed 3 x with HBSS before the addition of standard glucose-free GMEM cell culture media, supplemented with either 5mM or 20mM filter/sterilised D-glucose. Where appropriate, the cells were supplemented with silymarin 50 μ M, silibinin 25 μ M, taxifolin 600 μ M, α -lipoic acid 100 μ M, and PKC_{BII}/EGFR Inhibitor (4,5-bis(4-Fluoroanilino)-phthalimide) 2µM (Calbiochem, Nottingham) and 2-deoxy-dglucose (5mM/ 20mM), 3-ortho-metyhl-glucose (5mM/ 20mM), PD98059 (2'-Amino-3'methoxyflavone, MEK inhibitor) 1µM respectively (Calbiochem, Nottingham). Where appropriate, dimethylsulfoxide was used as the solvent at a final concentration of $\leq 0.7\%$ (v/v). Cell culture flasks were then placed in the incubator and maintained at 37°C in normoxia (5%CO₂/ 20%O₂/ 75% air) or hypoxia (5%CO₂/ 5%O₂/ 90% air subsequently referred to as hypoxia) for time periods specified in the relevant texts.

2.2.5. Cell proliferation assay

Cell proliferation was determined using the AlamarBlue[™] assay as described by Fields *et al.* (Fields *et al.* 1993). The assay is based on the chemical reduction of the colorimetric growth indicator, AlamarBlue[™] (Serotec, Oxford) during cellular metabolism. The extent of the dye reduction is directly proportional to the cell proliferation rate and allows monitoring of cells over extended periods of time. Cells were seeded into a 96 well plate at a density of 0.1×10^{6} /ml and made up to a total volume of 200µl/per well with the appropriate cell culture media alongside the relevant media controls (Fig.2.1). Cells were incubated in standard medium in normoxia overnight to allow attachment of the cells before the addition of 20µl of AlamarBlueTM to each well. A baseline absorbance reading (t = 0h) was taken using a FL600 Microplate Fluorescence Reader (Biotek, Warminster, UK) set at a wavelength of 570nm. The plate was then returned to the incubator and analysed for up to 48h. Any alteration to the culture conditions is specified in the relevant texts.

-	the second se		T	and the second division of the second divisio	and the second se	a state of the second se		Contraction of the property of the later of	the set of		_
	(900)	100-025	RALE BEL	Magnarod		the ac	100%	A MARK	Start.	(A) is a	
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM		. 0	
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM		-	
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM	1.1		
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM			
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM			
	GMEM control	GMEM control	5mM Glucose	5mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	20mM Glucose	5mM SM	20mM SM			

Fig.2.1: Example of a 96 well plate layout used in an AlamarBlue[™] assay. A parallel plate was used to incubate in hypoxia (5%CO₂/ 5%O₂/ 90% air).

2.2.6. Statistical analysis

All experiments were carried out in triplicate (to assess and control for intra-assay variability) and on three separate occasions (unless otherwise stated) to assess variability amongst prearations, resulting in an n-value of 3. Non-parametric analysis throughout is used

to reflect the limitations in sample size as it makes no assumptions about the sample distribution. Unlike their parametric equivalents non-prametric tests do not compare the means of the sample groups but tests equality of population medians among groups. For multiple samples groups a Kruskal-Wallis analysis of ranks is used, which is an extension of the Mann-Whitney U test used when two samples are compared.

For some data sets which show considerable variance in the control group the data was normalised to 100% (control) to reflect any consistent changes in the mean of the test group compared to control. As the process of normalisation ranks the data, the control group has zero variance making the use of a parametric test a more appropriate method of analysis as the mean of the test group is compared to 100% (Mean – 100%/ SEM = t(df n-1). A t-test was carried out for all data of this nature and where multiple sample means were compared a One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out with a post-hoc Tukey's test.

The level of significance was expressed as p<0.05, p=0.01, p=0.05. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p>0.05.

2.3. Resolution of DNA using agarose gel electrophoresis

DNA was extracted using a commercially available column-based DNA extraction kit (GenElute[™] Mammalian Genomic DNA Purification Miniprep Kit G1N-70). Sample DNA concentration was determined using spectrophotometric analysis measuring the absorbance at 260nm based on the assumption that a DNA concentration of 1mg/ml gives an absorption of 20. The purity of the DNA was determined by calculation of the ratio at 260/280nm and was routinely found to be between approximately 1.8 and 2.1. Agarose gel electrophoresis was established in 1960s (Rapp *et al.* 1968). It is based on the separation of DNA fragments in a porous gel that acts like a filter when exposed to an electric current. Linear DNA gives a characteristic DNA banding pattern from which the fragmentation extent can be identified and the size of each individual fragment can be calculated based on the principle that there is an inverse relationship between the distance moved and the size of the DNA fragment in [log bp].

To each standardised DNA sample ($50\mu g$), $10\mu l$ of standard loading dye (15% Ficoll® 400, 0.03% bromophenol blue and xylene cyanolFF, 0.4% orange G, 10mM Tris-HCl (pH7.5) and 50mM EDTA) (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, UK) was added and mixed thoroughly. Each sample was loaded into the wells of a 1.2% (w/v) agarose gel (Biological grade) (Loughborough, UK) in 1 x TBE buffer (45mM Tris Base, 44mM Boric acid, 1.3mM EDTA (Na salt)). The gel contained $50\mu g/ml$ ethidium bromide to visualise DNA fragments after electrophoresis. Electrophoresis was carried out at 100V for 1h and DNA fragmentation analysed using a UVItec Transilluminator with camera support (Cambridge, UK). DNA fragments were sized by comparison with simultaneous resolution of DNA fragments of known size (Promega, Southampton) (Table 2.1).

This long-established method has, with time, evolved into a more sophisticated method, namely the single cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) or comet assay (Singh *et al.* 1988). This method allows the investigation of DNA fragmentation within individual cells embedded on agarose covered microscope slides. It is widely used and can be applied to any cell population, provided they have been isolated from tissue without degradation (Lovell *et al.* 1999).

DNA markers		DNA markers		
50-1000bp		125 – 2313bp		
Fragment size	Number of base	Fragment size	Number of base	
	pairs (bp)		pairs (bp)	
1	1000	7	23,130	
2	750	8	9,416	
3	500	9	6,557	
4	300	10	4,361	
5	150	11	2,357	
6	50	12	2,057	
		13	564	
		14	125	

 Table 2.1: DNA markers used for the determination of DNA fragments if size unknown.

2.4. Comet Assay

The single cell electrophoresis assay is a sensitive method for detecting DNA strand breaks and was first developed by Ostling and Johanson in 1984. As the original protocol only allowed the detection of double stranded DNA breaks, Singh *et al.* modified the protocol four years later to include alkaline conditions (pH > 13) (Singh *et al.* 1988). The comet assay enables the supercoiled DNA to relax and unwind, allowing the investigation of DNA fragmentation within individual cells through electrophoresis. The DNA of each cell migrates through the gel of an agarose covered microscope slide giving a characteristic pattern that correlates with the degree of fragmentation.

HUVECs were cultured as described above (Section 2.2). After 1, 6 and 24h incubation the cells were trypsinised as previously described. Cells were lifted by adding 1ml of standard medium, which was gently pipetted to avoid exogenous cell damage.

A 1ml cell suspension containing 1x10⁵ cells/ml was transferred to an Eppendorf tube and placed on ice prior to centrifugation at 200g at 4°C for 10min. The supernatant was poured off and the cell pellet re-suspended in ice-cold PBS. Cells were washed a further two times. A positive DNA damage control sample was prepared using hydrogen peroxide (100µM H_2O_2 in phosphate buffered saline; PBS) for 5min. HUVECs (2x10⁴ cells/gel) were suspended in 1% (w/v) low melting point agarose (LMP); (Invitrogen, Paisley) in dH₂O (37°C) and pipetted onto pre-coated (1% (w/v) agarose in dH₂O) microscope slides (Fisher, Loughburough). Each gel was covered with a cover slip (18x18mm, Fisher-Scientific, Loughburough). The agarose gels were allowed to set in the fridge for 5min, the cover slips were removed and the slides immersed in lysis solution (2.5M NaCl, O.1M EDTA, 10mM Tris, 10mM NaOH pH10, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100) at 4°C for at least 1hr. Cells were washed with dH₂O after lysis to prevent NaCl residues affecting the electrophoresis conditions. Slides were then placed in a 210mm wide electrophoresis tank (Thistle Scientific, Glasgow) containing cold (4°C) electrophoresis buffer (0.3M NaOH, 1mM EDTA) for 40min. Electrophoresis was carried out at 21V for 30min at 4°C. Slides were washed in a neutralising solution (0.4M Tris, conc. HCl to pH 7.5) (Fisher-Scientific, Loughburough) for 5 min (repeated three times) before staining with 20µl of 1µg/ml DAPI (4'6-diamidine-2phenylindol dihydrochloride) immediately before scoring (22 x 22mm cover slip) (Fisher-Scientific, Loughburough). Fluorescent nucleoids were scored visually using a Leica DML fluorescent microscope. Prior to quantitation the identity of the slides were coded by an independent individual and only revealed after the scoring had been completed. One hundred comets from each gel (selected at random) were assigned a number between 0 (undamaged) and 4 (maximal damage) (Fig. 2.2). The total score for 100 comets could therefore range from 0 (all undamaged) to 400 (all maximally damaged) and is expressed as arbitrary units (au).



Fig. 2.2: Illustration of different comet types and visual scoring allocation (Collins *et al.* 2004).

2.4.1. Statistical analysis

Each experiment was performed in triplicate and repeated on three separate occasions. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Where p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA (with Tukey's post-hoc test) was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

2.5. Mitochondrial staining

2.5.1. MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescent staining of HUVECs Fluorescent dyes are widely used to monitor changes in mitochondrial function. MitoTrackerGreen FM (5 μ M in DMSO) (Molecular Probes, Paisley, UK) is a mitochondrial specific green fluorescent dye which allows the localisation of mitochondria within cells. RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1 μ M in DMSO) (Molecular Probes, Paisley, UK) is a redox sensitive red fluorescent dye which allows the determination of the redox state of the cell. Any red fluorescent dye present in the mitochondria indicates the proliferative state of the cell, while accumulation of the dye outside the mitochondria indicates lysosomal staining of quiescent cells.

HUVECs were cultured on round plastic cover slips (40 x 40mm supplied by Intracel, Royston) using the method described in Section 2.2. After 24h incubation with the standard cell culture medium MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescent dye(s) were added to the medium and the cover slips returned to the incubator for 10min. The media was then taken off and the cover slips washed three times with PBS to remove any excess dye before fitting the cover slips into a flow through chamber (Intracel, Royston) which allows the continuous perfusion of HUVECs with the appropriate cell culture medium. The medium was perfused at 0.1ml/min (37°C) while fluorescent dye(s) distribution was determined using a Leica DML fluorescent microscope and Leica QWin imaging software. MitoTracker Green FM was imaged using an excitation and emission wavelength of 490/515nm while RedoxSensor Red CC-1 utilised an excitation /emission wavelength of 546/590nm filter. A 400x magnification was used throughout.

For cells grown and analysed in hypoxia, the standard cell culture medium substituted with 5mM or 20mM filter sterilised D-glucose used with the continuous perfusion system was bubbled with Nitrogen gas (N₂) and its pO₂ concentration monitored using a pO₂ meter (Strathkelvin Instruments, Model 782, Glasgow). When the pO₂ concentration had dropped to 5%, 1mM sodium sulphite anhydrous (Na₂SO₃) was added to induce chemical hypoxia and maintain the pO₂ concentration of 5% throughout the experiment. The pH of the culture media was checked using a pH meter (Mettlet Toledo, Leicter) to ensure that neither the N₂ nor the addition of Na₂SO₃ contributed to a pH change which could influence the results. The pH of the cell culture media was recorded to be 7.5 before and after the addition of Na₂SO₃. Na₂SO₃ has been shown to induce O_2^- in human neutrophils within 5min of exposure while affecting gene expression without altering any biological processes after long periods of

substitution (Labbé *et al.* 1998). Cells were monitored for any morphological changes for the duration of the short-term exposure.

2.5.2. Quantitation and Statistical analysis of fluorescence intensity

Image analysis software (ImageJ freeware) was used to capture and analyse images obtained using MitoTracker Green FM (5μ M in DMSO) and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1μ M in DMSO) fluorescent staining (using Leica QWin software). The background of all pictures was subtracted before measuring cell size using the "freehand selection" tool to identify the circumference of each individual cell. The output detailed the circumference of the cell expressed as number of pixels and the total fluorescence intensity of MitoTracker Green FM expressed as mean grey level intensity. The fluorescence intensity of RedoxSensor Red CC-1 in the same area was measured. Mean cell size values (pixel) were calculated and any values above and below two standard deviations (SDev) identified were excluded. In order to standardise fluorescence intensity (mean grey level per unit area) for both MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence, values were adjusted for cell size before calculating the mean and standard error of the mean (SEM) for all samples.

All experiments were carried out in triplicate with a total of 50 cells per sample. Analysis was carried out by converting the mean grey level intensity (and pixel) into percentage values to illustrate the relative percentage change between samples (inter-sample variation) compared to 5mM glucose normoxia (100%). The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Were p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p<

0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

2.5.3. Co-localisation of fluorescent staining

Images showing the distribution of MitoTracker Green FM (5μ M in DMSO) and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1μ M in DMSO) fluorescent dye(s) in identical cells (obtained using Leica QWin software) were superimposed using ImageJ freeware. Co-localised staining was evident as yellow staining and occurs in proliferating cells while accumulation of RedoxSensor Red CC-1 stain outside the mitochondria accumulates in lysosomes in quiescent cells. To confirm the distribution of both dyes the images were converted to Stacks (ImageJ freeware) and identical cross-sections analysed after subtraction of the background. Pixel values obtained for each cross section were normalised to 100 pixels which allows both sets of values to be superimposed and allows the identification of any shift in RedoxSensor Red CC-1 staining from mitochondrial to lysosomal.

2.5.4. Mitochondrial measurement

Images of HUVECs loaded with MitoTracker Green FM were coded by an independent individual and selected at random. A standardised section (6mm length) obtained from a 400x magnified calibration bar was selected from each picture (at random) and individual mitochondria measured using the "freehand line selection" tool in ImageJ freeware. The output obtained was given as "length - no of pixel". A total of six cells per sample (selected at random) were analysed. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as p < 0.05, p < 0.01 or p < 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

2.6. Superoxide radical activity measurement

2.6.1. HUVEC preparation for use with SOD Assay Kit -WST

Cells (9x10⁵) were grown and treated as described in Section 2.2. After 24h incubation with standard medium cells were trypsinised (Section 2.2.4), harvested and centrifuged at 2000g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the cells washed four times by adding 1ml PBS and centrifuging at 1000g for 10min at 4°C. After removal of the PBS HUVECs were broken up using the freeze-thaw method (-20°C for 20min, 37°C for 10min, repeated x 2). One ml of PBS was added to the cell pellet and cells centrifuged at 10 000g for 15min at 4°C. The supernatant was carefully taken off and 10µl of a 1mM potassium cyanide (KCN) in dH₂O solution (Fisher-Scientific, Loughburough) was added to block the cytoplasmic fraction of Cu/Zn SOD. Twenty µl of the resultant supernatant was removed and added to a 96 well plate.

A commercially available superoxide radical activity testing kit (SOD Assay Kit -WST, NBS Biological, Huntington) was used to measure superoxide radical formation. The kit is based on the reduction of water-soluble tetrazolium salts (2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium, monosodium salt) by superoxide radicals resulting in a colorimetric reaction. The amount of coloured product formed is proportional to the amount of superoxide radical present (Ukeda *et al.* 2005). All solutions where made up according to kit instructions. A 20µl volume of the sample solutions and all control solutions were added to the 96 well plate in triplicate. This was followed by 200µl of WST working solution (NBS Biological, Huntington) and 20µl of enzyme solution (0.1M xanthine oxidase) and incubated

for 20min and kept at 37°C in either normoxia or hypoxia, as previously described. The level of activity was determined by measurement of absorbance at 450nm using a FL600 Microplate reader (Biotek, Warminster, UK).

2.6.2. Statistical analysis

The mean absorbance values (n = 3) were converted into a percentage value to illustrate the relative change between samples compared to total superoxide radical formation in 5mM glucose normoxia (100%) samples. The normalised data was analysed using either a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

2.7. Hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) antisense

In order to determine the role played by HIF-1 α in the induction of DNA damage, a HIF-1 α antisense oligonucleotide probe was used. HUVECs were seeded into a 96 well plate at three different concentrations (0.1×10^5 , 0.5×10^4 , 0.1×10^4 cells/ml) and the plate analysed at intervals of 24h, 48h and 72h in order to determine the optimal seeding density of HUVECs onto 16 well chamber slides and this was used in all subsequent antisense experiments. Absorbance values were obtained for three independent samples each with seven replicates.

HUVECs were prepared as previously outlined and seeded into a 16 well chamber slide using standard media. A fluorescently labelled control oligonucleotide (2 μ M) (Biognostik[®], Göttingen) was added to the cells for periods of 1, 2, 4, 8, 24 and 48 hour intervals. After the incubation was complete, the media was removed and the slides were fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde (CH₂O)_n /GMEM for 5min, before dehydrating slides using a graded series of ethanol (C₂H₆O) (70% - 100%) (Fisher-Scientific, Loughborough). The uptake time of the oligonucleotide was identified by detecting the intensity of the fluorescent FITC (450/515nm; excitation/emission) signal using a Leica DML fluorescent microscope. The efficacy of HIF-1 α antisense to reduce protein levels in the HUVECs was determined by immunocytochemical detection of HIF-1 α protein following the addition of HIF-1 α antisense (2µM); (Biognostik[®], Göttingen) for 2, 8 and 24hours.

2.7.1. Immunocytochemistry

Following incubation of HUVECs with HIF-1a antisense (2µg) for 24h, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 5 minutes and frozen at -20°C until required for subsequent immunocytochemical detection of HIF-1a protein. Prior to use, the slides were removed from the freezer and allowed to thaw at room temperature for 60 minutes. This was followed by a further 5 minute incubation in Tris buffered saline pH 7.6 (TBS) (0.05M tris/HCl, 0.15M NaCl Buffer, to 1L in dH₂O). This latter process was repeated twice. A 1:200 dilution of primary antibody (HIF-1a); (Affinity Bioreagents, Cambridge, UK) in TBS was added to each cell chamber section and left at 4°C overnight. The following morning, the excess liquid was removed and the slides washed in TBS for a further 3 x 5 min at room temperature. A 1:300 dilution of secondary antibody (rabbit a-mouse biotinylated) (ABR, Cambridge, UK) was prepared in TBS and added to respective cell samples. Cells were again washed in TBS for 10min and this was repeated twice. The StreptABComplex (DAKO Ltd, Cambridgeshire, UK) was prepared as recommended by the manufacturer, added to the samples and incubated for 30min. The sections were washed in TBS for 3 x 10min followed by the addition of 50µl of substrate (20mM naphtol AS-MX disodium salt, 18mM Fast red, 14mM levamisol) prepared in veronal acetate buffer (48mM sodium acetate dehydrate, 8mM Sodium diethyl barbiturate, 0.1M HCL to pH 9.2) for 1 to 3min. Slides were washed in water to remove any non-specific staining. Slides were again washed in dH₂O, allowed to air dry and mounted in aqueous permanent mounting medium (DAKO Ltd, Cambridgeshire). Analysis of the staining intensity and distribution was carried out using a Leica DML light microscope.

2.8. Reverse Transcriptase - Polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

HUVECs were grown and treated as described in section 2.2. RNA was isolated using Qiashredders and the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Crawford, UK) from the cells that had previously been incubated under standard conditions and from cells incubated in the presence of HIF1 α antisense, as previously described. After 24h incubation, cell culture flasks were placed on ice and washed three times using sterile PBS before the addition of 600µl of RLT lysis buffer (Qiagen, Crawford, UK) containing 10µl mercaptoethanol (0.1µM)/1ml RLT buffer. The resulting cell lysate was collected using a cell scraper and any clumps dispersed by gentle pipetting. All solutions used in the isolation of RNA were treated with diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) 0.1% prior to use to remove any endogenous RNases.

A fixed volume of 450µl of the collected cell lysate was added to each Qiashredder column (Qiagen, Crawford) and centrifuged for 2min at 8000g to homogenise the lysate. This was followed by the addition of 70% ethanol (Fisher-Scientific, Loughborough) to the homogenised lysate before transferring 600µl of the homogenate to each RNeasy mini column. A further 600µl of RW1 buffer was added to the column and centrifuged for 15sec at 8000g before transferring the column into a new collection tube. Cells were washed by adding 500µl of RPE buffer followed by centrifugation at 8000g for 15sec. After discarding the flow through, a further 500µl of RPE buffer was added to the column and centrifuged at 8000g for 2min to dry the RNeasy membrane. Again the column was placed into a new collection tube and centrifuged at maximum speed for a further 1min. Finally 30µl of RNase-free water was directly pipetted onto the RNeasy membrane and the column centrifuged for

Iminute at 8000g. The purity of the sample was checked by running a 10μ l sample of RNA through a 1.2% (w/v) agarose electrophoresis gel. In all samples, 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) bands were evident, with no evidence of RNA degradation.

2.8.1. RNA Quantitation

RNA sample concentration was determined spectophotometrically, assuming that one optical density unit is equivalent to 40μ g/ml RNA. The purity of the RNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at 280nm and determining the 260nm/ 280nm ratio. This was routinely found to be within the range 1.9 - 2.1. The RNA was further concentrated by the addition of 3 times the volume of ice cold ethanol (100%) and sodium acetate at 52mM (pH 5.2) followed by incubation at -20°C for at least 2h. This was followed by centrifugation at 8000g for 5min before washing the pellet twice using 70% (v/v) DEPC treated ethanol and centrifuged at 8000g. The pellet was allowed to air dry before adding 20µl of RNAse free water and the RNA stored at -20°C prior to use.

2.8.2. Preparation and amplification of cDNA

To each sample tube (thin walled PCR tube) containing 5µg of re-precipitated RNA 1mg/ml of oligo – deoxythymidine (13mer) (Sigma Genosys, Poole) was added and incubated at 70°C for 10min. The PCR tubes were placed on ice and all sample droplets around the edge of the tube were collected using a pulse-spin. To each tube 4µl of reaction buffer, 25mM of nucleotide mix (Roche, Burges Hill, UK), 0.1M DTT and 100units of reverse transcriptase (Qiagen, Crawley) were added and mixed gently. The PCR reaction mixes were incubated at room temperature for 10min before placing the PCR tubes in the Thermocycler and incubating them at 42°C for 50min followed by 95°C for 5min when the reaction was completed. To each tube 80µl of DEPC treated water was added and samples were stored at - 20°C prior to use.

Primer sequences specific for the amplification of HIF-1 α were determined using the database facilities of the Human Genome Mapping Project and the specificity was determined by BLAST search analysis. To 5 μ l of purified cDNA, 5 μ l (10mM concentration) of HIF-1 α primer (Sigma Genosys, Poole) or β_2 -Microglobulin primer (Sigma Genosys, Poole) (Table 2.2) were added. Samples were placed in the Thermocycler (1cycle, 94.5°C, 2min; 33cycles, 55°C, 1min; 1cycle, 72°C, 2min). The samples were stored at -20°C prior to resolution using agarose gel electrophoresis if not used immediately.

Primer	Sequence	Product size (bp)
HIF-1a	5' TGCTTCACTCATCCCATTCA 3' 3' TTTTGCTCTTTGTGGTTGGA 5'	385
β2-Microglobulin	5' CCTTGAGGCTATCCAGCGTACTCC 3' 5' CCATGATGCTGCTTACATGTCTC 3'	321

 Table 2.2: DNA sequences of oligonucleotide PCR primers.

A 1.2% (w/v) ultrapure agarose (Biological Grade Agarose) gel in 1 x TBE buffer was prepared. Ethidium bromide (50µg) was added to the resulting solution to visualise DNA fragments in the gel. Loading dye (2.5µl) and dH₂O (5µl) was added to each 5µl sample of amplified cDNA and loaded into the wells. DNA fragments of known size (Promega, Southampton, UK) were added as reference markers which act as controls allowing the size determination of amplified DNA fragments (Table 2.1). Electrophoresis was carried out at 100V for 1hr. Following amplification the size of the resulting fragments was determined by comparison with the known standards. The specificity of the amplification was subsequently confirmed by sequencing (Aberdeen University Sequencing Unit) and shown to be > 98% homologous with predicted sequence (Wang *et al.* 1995).

2.9. Capillary Zone Electrophoresis

2.9.1. Apparatus

Capillary electropherograms were obtained using a Hewlett-Packard 3D capillary electrophoresis system (Waldborn, Germany). Electrophoresis and sweeping experiments were performed in fused silica capillaries $50\mu m \times 65cm$ obtained from Composite Metal Services (Ilkeley, UK). The detection wavelength was set at 200 and 280nm.

2.9.2. Sample preparation

Stock solutions of 400mM sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) ((BDH, Poole) and 250mM disodium hydrogen phosphate (DSHP), pH 2; (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough) were made up in water and diluted as required for the preparation of running buffer. The running buffer was prepared by diluting 2.0 ml of SDS and 2ml of DSHP with 2.5ml of HPLC grade methanol (0.1M) (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough) and making up to a final volume of 10ml. Stock solutions of silymarin, taxifolin and silibinin (1M) were made up in HPLC grade methanol and further diluted in 50mM DSHP to give secondary stock solutions of 1:25 silymarin, 1:25 silibinin and 1:625 taxifolin.

2.9.3. Capillary electrophoresis procedure

Prior to each analysis, the capillary was flushed with 0.1M sodium hydroxide for 2min followed by the running buffer (80mM SDS; 50mM DSHP; 25% Methanol) for 3min. The sample was then injected for 300 seconds using pressure (50mbar) and a voltage of 30kV was applied until all peaks were separated (30min). Calculation of individual components could then be determined using the area under the curve (AUC).

CHAPTER THREE: Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA integrity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells

3.1. Hypothesis

Changes in glucose concentration and oxygen tension have an effect on the DNA integrity of human umbilical vein endothelial cells.

3.2. Introduction

Oxidative stress plays a significant role in the development of diabetic complications with ROS-related DNA damage levels elevated in both type 1 and 2 diabetic patients (Dandona *et al.* 1999). It has been shown that high glucose (20mM) prolongs cell cycle traversal in cultured human macrovascular endothelial cells (Lorenzi *et al.* 1987), which is important when investigating the contribution of high blood glucose levels in the development of vascular complications. Changes in cellular oxygen tension also have to be taken into account. Aerobic life is dependent on molecular oxygen for ATP generation and cell viability (Michiels *et al.* 2002), but the range at which optimal oxygen tension is achieved is very narrow. An increase in oxygen tension leads to a simultaneous increase in ROS and increased DNA damage, while a reduction in cellular oxygen tension impairs energy availability, thereby impacting on cell viability (Michiels *et al.* 2002). Until recently, both events (hyperglycaemia and hypoxia) have been investigated as separate mechanisms in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus.

If we are to fully understand the processes which lead to the development of these detrimental vascular changes, we need to take both factors into consideration. This notion supported by two recent publications confirms that both hypoxia and hyperglycaemia are two separate events which could have a potentially additive effect on the molecular changes in microvascular endothelial cells (Catrina *et al.* 2004, Nyengaard *et al.* 2004).

Thus, the effect hypoxia and hyperglycaemia on cell proliferation and endothelial DNA damage over a 24h period were examined.

3.3. Materials and Methods

The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on cell growth was determined using the Alamar blue proliferation assay (Fields *et al.* 1993) (Section 2.2.5). Any effect of these conditions on DNA integrity was determined using agarose gel electrophoresis (Section 2.3) and the comet assay (Section 2.4). HUVECs challenged with equimolar concentrations of glucose and mannitol (latter used to control for changes in osmolarity) for 24h were cultured as described in Section 2.2.4 and their DNA extracted as described in section 2.3. A further challenge of HUVECs with 1mM H₂O₂ for 24h was included as positive control. This high concentration of H₂O₂ was used to induce maximal DNA damage (Astley *et al.* 1999; Lockett *et al.* 2006). Comet scores are expressed as arbitary units (au) unless otherwise stated.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate with three internal replicas per sample. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Were p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test was used (Mean – 100%/ SEM). The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension of HUVEC proliferation

The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on HUVEC proliferation was determined over a period of 24h. The rate of cell growth was significantly increased in the

presence of high glucose concentration (20mM; 0.30 ± 0.006) when compared to growth in 5mM (0.20 ± 0.007) (p=0.004) and further increased with a reduction in oxygen tension (20mM H) (0.40 ± 0.007) (p=0.003) (Fig.3.1) when compared to respective glucose controls.



Fig 3.1: Effect of 5mM & 20mM glucose, normoxia and hypoxia on cell proliferation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells as determined by Alamar blue assay after 24h. Significance of conditions on cell growth was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test and level of significance at p < 0.001 is denoted ***.

3.4.2. Effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA integrity

DNA was extracted and purified from HUVECs and $50\mu g$ resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis. From visual inspection, there was no evidence of DNA degradation in normoxia (Fig.3.2a), while DNA damage was evident in HUVECs cultured in 20mM glucose in hypoxia for 24h as shown by intense fluorescence in regions of gel corresponding to < 500bp (Fig.3.2b). Samples incubated with equimolar concentrations of mannitol show no comparable DNA damage.

The comet assay was used to examine in more detail the effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA fragmentation. Blinded analysis showed that HUVECs exposed to 1mM H₂O₂ presented with a high score in the comet assay (343 ± 9) which were significantly higher than the control (37 ± 9) (p < 0.001) (Fig.3.3b). Fig.3.3a illustrates comets representative of this score. H₂O₂ treatment was used as a positive control and incorporated in every subsequent experiment. The positive control routinely showed high levels of DNA damage (p > 0.05). The data presented is representative of three separate experiments with difference between experimental means of 5.4 (au).

DNA damage that may be attributed to the processing of the cells was determined using DNA purified from cells prior to incubation and is subsequently referred to as t = 0h. There was no significant increase in DNA fragmentation between cells at t = 0h and cells incubated in 5mM glucose normoxia for 24h. Hypoxic conditions increased DNA damage levels significantly when compared both to t = 0h (45 ± 3.6) (p = 0.003) and normoxia (70 ± 5) (p=0.004) at an equivalent time period (Fig.3.4). DNA damage values stayed below a total score of 100 (au) indicating minimal overall DNA damage. Inter-sample variation was small (t = 0h: 60 ± 2.9 ; t=24h N: 59 ± 3.7 ; t=24h H: 84 ± 5.4).

Fig. 3.2: Agarose gel showing DNA isolated from HUVECs exposed to a range of glucose concentrations and oxygen tension. The DNA was visualised using UV light. From left to right (a) Normoxia ($5\%CO_2/20\%O_2/90\%$ air): 1. DNA marker 125-2313bp, 2. t = 0h, 3. 5mM glucose, 4. 20mM glucose, 5. 5mM mannitol, 6. 20mM mannitol, 7. DNA marker 50-1000bp. (b) Hypoxia ($5\%CO_2/5\%O_2/90\%$ air): 1. DNA marker one 125-2313bp, 2. t = 0h, 3. 20mM mannitol, 4. 5mM mannitol, 5. 20mM glucose, 6. 5mM glucose, 7. DNA marker two 50-1000.



Fig 3.3: Effect of H_2O_2 (1mM) on HUVEC DNA damage using the comet assay. (a) Illustration of representative comets for minimal and near to maximal DNA damage as seen with the positive control using the comet assay. (b) quantitative analysis of the DNA damage induced by H_2O_2 cells. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Mann-Whitney U test: ***p < 0.001).

(a)



(b)





Fig. 3.4: DNA damage in HUVECs for 24h. Cells were cultured in 5mM glucose normoxia or hypoxia for 24h and analysed using the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskall-Wallis test: **p < 0.01).

A change in DNA integrity was determined in response to high glucose and low oxygen culture conditions for 24h. High glucose concentration (20mM) significantly increased DNA damage in HUVECs (119±7) when compared to 5mM glucose in normoxia (70±5) (p<0.001) (Fig.3.5). Furthermore, cells incubated in high glucose conditions (20mM) in hypoxia showed a further significant increase in DNA damage when compared to normoxia (237±15) (p < 0.001). The greatest increase in DNA damage can be seen in cells incubated in both high glucose (20mM) and low oxygen tension suggesting an additive effect of DNA damage by these conditions (237±15) (p < 0.001).

To identify the effect of time on the observed DNA damage DNA integrity was analysed after 24h & 48h in cells incubated in hyperglycaemic conditions (20mM). There was a significant increase in DNA damage both in cells incubated in normoxic (166±2) as well as hypoxic (200±1) conditions after 48h when compared to 24h (p < 0.001) (Fig.3.6). Further, the effect of re-oxygenation on cells exposed to hypoxic conditions for 24h was determined by incubating the cells in normoxic conditions for a further 24h (199±9) (p < 0.001). The DNA damage observed was not significantly different from the level of DNA damage found in HUVECs exposed to hypoxic conditions for a total of 48 h.



Fig. 3.5: DNA damage in HUVECs due to glucose concentration (5mM & 20mM) and/ or oxygen tension (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) as determined by the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: ***p < 0.001).



Fig. 3.6: Effect of incubation time and re-oxygenation (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) on HUVEC DNA damage. Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media prior to incubation and DNA damage is determined by the comet assay. The change in DNA damage is expressed relative to control (20N = 100%). The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Student's t-test: ***p<0.001).

To determine the significance and the specificity of glucose mediated DNA damage, HUVECs were treated with equimolar concentrations of mannitol (5mM & 20mM) and compared to glucose treated HUVECs (Table 3.1). HUVECs treated with 20mM glucose showed a significant increase in (%) DNA damage when compared to 5mM glucose (Normoxia: p < 0.01; Hypoxia: p < 0.001) confirming earlier observations (Fig. 3.5). The DNA damage score seen in HUVECs induced with equimolar concentrations of mannitol is a lot higher throughout (88±4.98) when compared to samples treated with glucose (40±0.99). When adjusted for baseline (5N = 100%) however, there is no significant change between mannitol treated samples (Kruskal-Wallis test: p > 0.05).

	5mM Normoxia	20mM Normoxia	5mM Hypoxia	20mM Hypoxia
Glucose				
Mean ± SEM	40 ± 0.99	53 ± 4.38 (+ 33%)	55 ± 2.89 (+ 37%)	83 ± 5.03 (+ 108%)
Mannitol				
Mean ± SEM	88 ± 4.98	94 ± 3.67 (+ 7%)	87 ± 5.63 (+ 9%)	107 ± 5.48 (+ 22%)
Negative control	39 ± 3	Positive control	379 ± 1	

Table 3.1: DNA damage induced by equal concentrations of mannitol & glucose (5mM & 20mM) on HUVECs, as determined by the comet assay. The relative percentage difference is compared to each 5mM glucose or 5mM mannitol sample incubated in normoxia (100%). The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3).

3.5. Discussion

The analysis of DNA integrity and proliferation of HUVECs in response to glucose concentration and oxygen tension in an established cell culture model has yielded significant findings. Results demonstrated that both high glucose and low oxygen significantly increases HUVEC proliferation. Accelerated endothelial cell proliferation in response to hypoxia is well established in the literature since it is a characteristic feature of tumour cell growth. Increasing tumour mass results in progressively more nutrient deprived and hypoxic areas (Scheurer *et al.* 2004). In order to improve oxygen tension a number of adaptive responses are triggered including the activation and translocation of the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor (HIF-1). HIF-1 increases vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) transcription, which results in new vessel growth and accelerated cell proliferation (Zgouras *et al.* 2003).

Accelerated proliferation rates in response to 20mM glucose, however, is not consistent with other observations (Curcio *et al.* 1992; Varma *et al.* 2005). Most studies report a reduction in primary HUVEC proliferation rate over time when treated with glucose (Varma *et al.* 2005). This is believed to be due to the pro-apoptotic effects of glucose resulting from oxidative stress-regulated signalling pathways (Buttke *et al.* 1994; Vaux *et al.* 1996). Involvement of ROS in the induction of apoptosis by high glucose has been demonstrated in cultured human endothelial cells (Du *et al.* 1999). More recently, it was shown that high glucose concentration, induces NF-kappaB-related up-regulation of COX-2 via PI3K/Akt signalling, which in turn triggers caspase-3 activity that facilitates HUVEC apoptosis and reduced cell proliferation (Sheu *et al.* 2005). Most studies however, use primary isolates of HUVECs or excessive concentrations of glucose (up to 40mM) (Varma *et al.* 2005) it is therefore difficult to establish a direct comparison to our results.

The combination of high glucose and low oxygen concentration induced the most significant increase in HUVEC proliferation rate. The effect of simultaneous exposure of hyperglycaemia and hypoxia on HIF-1 α protein stability in primary dermal fibroblasts and endothelial cells has been reported (Catrina *et al.* 2004). They suggest that hyperglycaemia abolishes the hypoxia afforded protection of the HIF-1 α subunit against proteasomal degradation. This may effect a loss of HIF-1 α , and subsequent HIF1 activity leading to a reduction in cell proliferation rate due to the loss in VEGF expression. However, this is not supported by the current data. Furthermore, since cellular proliferation rates seem to be closely linked to the production of ROS and apoptosis, the determination of cellular DNA damage and repair has also been of great interest (Chai *et al.* 2000). Several studies looking at DNA damage in diabetes mellitus have reported an increase in DNA damage in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes patients (Dandona *et al.* 1996).

In our agarose gel electrophoresis results the effect of high glucose (20mM) or low oxygen tension in HUVECs for 24h failed to show any DNA fragmentation (Fig. 3.2 and Fig. 3.5), while the combined effects of high glucose concentration and low oxygen tension showed significant evidence of DNA degradation (Fig. 3.2 and Fig. 3.5). Since agarose gel electrophoresis requires the cumulative extract of cultured cellular DNA there are many possible explanations for the lack of fragmentation observed with glucose alone. Given the very short time frame in which the HUVECs were exposed to the detrimental conditions it is most likely that the level of DNA damage inflicted is too small to be measurable by agarose gel electrophoresis. A more sensitive method of analysis such as the single cell gel electrophoresis assay is required to determine the extent of DNA damage inflicted.

An increase in HUVEC DNA damage using the comet asay has previously been reported after five days exposure to 45mM glucose supplemented culture medium (Shimoi et al. 2001) but no-one has reported damage in the combined conditions of hypoxia and hyperglycaemia over a 24hour period.

Although hyperglycaemia and hypoxia are known to cause cell damage (Shimoi *et al.* 2001), little has been reported about the combined and acute effect of both these conditions on endothelial cells. One of the earliest studies carried out in HUVECs reported that hyperglycaemia induced apoptosis after 72h chronic exposure to 30mM glucose (Baumgartner-Prazer *et al.* 1995). This was supported by further work which reported a rapid rise in ROS after only 2-6h exposure of HUVECs to 30mM glucose concentrations (Du *et al.* 1999). Furthermore, hypoxia induced a significant increase in DNA damage which appears to be independent to that of glucose. Although the effect of hypoxia and its highly developed adaptive responses in endothelial cells has been well documented for CV disease (Giordano *et al.* 2005; Verrier *et al.* 1996) and cancer (Fuks *et al.* 2005), the consequences of hypoxia on the development of diabetic vascular complications has been less well investigated.

One possible indication of the mechanisms involved lies in the observation that the DNA damaging effects of glucose and hypoxia seem to be additive (Fig. 3.5). It is documented that glucose induces a state of "pseudohypoxia" due to its effect on NO and the free cytosolic NADH/NAD+ ratio (Williamson *et al.* 1993). The known additive effects of high glucose and low oxygen concentrations can be rationalised as cytosolic NADH levels are increased by both hypoxia and hyperglycaemia-mediated pathways via different yet additive mechanisms (Nyengaard *et al.* 2004). Since the net energy charge of the cytosol seems to be an indicator of a cells commitment for further proliferation, the observed increase in cell proliferation rate seem to be in line with this hypothesis (Breiter-Hahn *et al.* 1998).

To add an even more interesting dimension to these results, Fig. 3.6 shows that the DNA damage inflicted within the first 24h is not reversed by subjecting cells to an equal time
period of re-oxygenation. There appears to be a steady increase in DNA damage over time an observation which is of immense importance with respect to the cumulative damage inflicted on endothelial cells in hyperglycaemic or/and hypoxic conditions.

3.6. Limitations of the study

As mentioned before comparison of the current data to most published research in the area is limited by the fact that this study uses an established HUVEC line. The use of a cell line is a well established model system for preliminary studies of endothelial function in response to changes in glucose and oxygen levels (Zanetti *et al.* 2001; Nachman *et al.* 2004; Fang *et al.* 2005) often providing important information to justify the progression of the research to a primary cell model or an *in vivo* setting. A cell line can be distinguished from primary cells in that they possess the ability to proliferate indefinitely. This allows their use to much higher passage numbers but is arguably limited by the use of cultured clones. The use of endothelial cells in culture, whether primary or a cell line, are not likely to be entirely reflective of the processes which occur in the tissues as they lack the interaction with other tissue factors, a limitation avoided by the use of an *in vivo* model (Bricknell, 2004). However, the data provides important preliminary information on which to base further studies to elucidate the processes involved.

A further limitation is the experimental definition of hypoxia and normoxia when using vein endothelial cells. Normal oxygen pressure in human umbilical vein blood is 3.2% to 5.1% O₂ (ie, pO₂=22 to 35 mm Hg) (Casanello *et al.* 2005), therefore the use of 5%O₂ in hypoxia and 20% in normoxia is not entirely reflective of the physiological conditions but it does provide a stable system for the investigation of the effect of reduced oxygen availability and facilitates the investigation of the mechanisms underlying this phenomenon. Stable oxygen levels below 5% are notoriously difficult to achieve with the equipment used and although true hypoxia is not achieved the use of 5%O₂ is widely established in the literature (Namiki et al. 1995; Buras et al. 2000) and it is the response to the relative reduction of oxygen tension that is of interest in this study.

3.7. Conclusion

In conclusion, we can state that both glucose and oxygen exhibit distinct yet potentially additive effects on endothelial cells which results in an increase in cell proliferation, DNA damage a nd possibly DNA repair mechanisms over a 24hour period. The generation of oxidative stress in response to hyperglycaemia and the expression of potential hypoxia dependent mechanisms such as the expression of HIF-1 are now investigated to facilitate our understanding of these events.

CHAPTER FOUR: Role of mitochondrial ROS production in hypoxia- and hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial DNA damage

4.1. Hypothesis

Mitochondrial ROS production, play a role in hypoxia- and hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial DNA damage.

4.2. Introduction

A change in mitochondrial regulation, such as increased ROS production and mitochondrial DNA damage, has been shown to contribute to disease and ageing (Kang *et al.* 2005). Mitochondria are therefore fast emerging as a selective target for distinct therapeutic approaches (Armstrong *et al.* 2006). The first association of a defect in oxidative phosphorylation with diabetes was made as far back as 1959 by Bierman *et al.* Since then, a multitude of signalling pathways have been identified which all contribute to the excessive ROS production by the mitochondria during hyperglycaemia and more recently, hypoxia (Nyengaard *et al.* 2004). More recently, it has been suggested that mitochondrial superoxide production is the missing link between diabetic hyperglycaemia and the activation of a number of biochemical pathways known to be involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes such as PKC, AGE and the Polyol pathway (Nishikawa *et al.* 2003). Furthermore, damaged mtDNA amplifies oxidative stress by reducing the expression of certain proteins critical for electron transport and mitochondrial regulation. This initiates a cycle of ROS production and mitochondrial dysregulation which eventually triggers apoptosis and vascular damage (van Houten *et al.* 2006).

The events associated with the increased DNA damage seen in Chapter Three will be further elucidated. The effect that hypoxia and/or hyperglycaemia have on mitochondrial number, morphology as well as on ROS production in human umbilical vein endothelial cells is determined.

4.3. Materials and Methods

The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on HUVEC size was determined using specialised imaging software (Section 2.5). The effects of increased glucose concentration and/or decreased oxygen tension on mitochondrial number and morphology were determined using MitoTracker Green FM fluorescent dye (Section 2.5) which was colocalised with the fluorescent dye RedoxSensor Red CC-1 to determine the cellular redox potential. The resulting images were analysed using ImageJ software. The cellular production of superoxide radical formation was also measured using a commercially available kit (Section 2.6). HUVECs challenged with glucose and oxygen for 24h were cultured as described in Section 2.2 and mitochondria were visualised as described in Section 2.5.1.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate and repeated on three separate occasions. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Where p < 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA (with Tukey's post-hoc test) was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Co-localisation of ROS production with mitochondria

Co-localisation and cross-sectional distribution of both MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 was carried out to verify the specificity of the RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescent stain for the mitochondria (Fig. 4.1). Co-localisation of both dyes occurs in proliferating cells while the accumulation of RedoxSensor Red CC-1 stain (a redox sensitive dye) outside the mitochondria accumulates in lysosomes, indicative of contact inhibited cells (Shukla *et al.* 2003).

4.4.2. Identification of ROS production from HUVEC mitochondria

To determine if the cellular ROS production is directly associated with the mitochondria, **HUVECs** were perfused with the protonophore carbonyl cyanide p-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (FCCP) (1µM) (Fig. 4.2). The FCCP collapses the membrane potential (Aronis et al. 2002). This shows that the ability of the cell to take up the oxidised CC-1 product requires an intact membrane potential. Changes in the intensity of the RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence dye were visualised and measured using ImageJ freeware (Fig.4.3). Statistical analysis using a Mann-Whitney U test shows a significant reduction in fluorescence intensity in HUVECs perfused with FCCP (1.83±0.01) compared to untreated cells (8.74 ± 0.12) , (p < 0.001).

4.4.3. Changes in HUVEC size in response to glucose and oxygen

In order to investigate if glucose concentration and oxygen tension has an effect on cell morphology such as size and appearance, any potential changes in HUVEC size over time (6h & 24h) were determined using ImageJ freeware. This will help with the interpretation of any results (such as mitochondrial numbers and cellular ROS production) gathered in this context.

Changes in cell size were determined relative to control and expressed as a percentage of control (t = 0h) (Fig.4.4). Neither glucose (5mM & 20mM) nor oxygen concentration had any significant effect on HUVEC size in cells incubated for 6h (5N: 102 ± 6 ; 20N: 108 ± 1 ; 5H: 116 ± 8 ; 20H: 110 ± 7) and 24h (5N: 105 ± 0 ; 20N: 108 ± 4 ; 5H: 104 ± 3 ; 20H: 111 ± 5). These values were obtained using a Student's t-test in which changes in cell size were determined relative to control (t = 0h) at 6h and 24h. A calculation of the level of significance comparing samples with each other was carried out using an ANOVA plus Tukey's post-hoc test also failed to highlight any significant differences between samples (p > 0.05).

4.4.4. Changes in MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in response to glucose and oxygen

Changes in both MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity were determined using ImageJ freeware. The percentage change in fluorescence intensity for both markers was determined relative to control (t = 0h 100%). Statistical analysis using a Student's t-test analysing the percentage changes in MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity relative to control (t = 0h) showed neither glucose (5mM & 20mM) nor oxygen concentration (normoxia and hypoxia) to have a significant effect on MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity after 6h (5N: 102±13; 20N: 122±37; 5H: 139±30; 20H: 108±12) or 24h (5N:114±33; 20N: 111±19; 5H: 81±16; 20H: 105±6) (p > 0.05) (Fig. 4.5). Additional analysis of the significance for each individual experiment was carried out using an ANOVA with a post-hoc Tukey's test to confirm that there was no significant change in MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity at either time point (p > 0.05).

RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in HUVECs was analysed in an identical manner. There was a significant reduction in fluorescence intensity in HUVECs which had been incubated for 24h (5N: 133 ± 56 ; 20N: 128 ± 37 ; 5H: 141 ± 21 ; 20H: 141 ± 14) compared to

6h (5N: 337 ± 26 ; 20N:427±46; 5H: 349 ± 12 ; 20H: 450±63) (p < 0.05) in varying glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen conditions (normoxia & hypoxia) when compared to control (Fig. 4.6). A Student's t-test, confirmed these findings (p ≤ 0.05).











Fig. 4.1: Examples of co-localisation staining and cross-sectional distribution of both MitoTracker Green FM (5 μ M) stain and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1 μ M) stain in a human umbilical vein endothelial cell line (Magnification: 400x).

Fig. 4.2: Images showing the relationship between the ability of the mitochondria to take up oxidised CC-1 product and its membrane potential (400x Magnification). 1) MitoTracker Green FM dye (5 μ M); 2) RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1 μ M); 3) RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence after collapsing the membrane potential using carbonyl cyanide p-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (1 μ M). Samples analysed from left to right: (a) 5mM glucose Normoxia; (b) 20mM glucose Normoxia; (c) 5mM glucose Hypoxia; (d) 20mM glucose Hypoxia. The images are representative of samples from three different experiments (n = 3).





Fig. 4.3: Effect of the protonophore carbonyl cyanide p-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (FCCP) (1 μ M) on RedoxSensor Red CC-1 (1 μ M) fluorescence intensity in HUVECs. The change in fluorescence intensity was analysed using a Leica DML fluorecent microscope and ImageJ freeware. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3 total of 150 HUVECs) (Mann-Whitney U test: ***p < 0.001).

Fig. 4.4: Determination of the effect of time, glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia, H = hypoxia) on size of human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The change in cell size is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The graph is representative of the mean \pm SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's test: p > 0.05).



Fig. 4.5: Effect of time, glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) on MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The change in fluorescence intensity is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The graph is representative of the mean \pm SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's test: p > 0.05).



Fig. 4.6: Effect of time, glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) on RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The change in fluorescence intensity is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The graph is representative of the mean \pm SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01).



4.4.5. Morphological changes of mitochondria in response to glucose and oxygen

In a blinded analysis the effect of glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen (normoxia and hypoxia) on mitochondrial morphology in HUVECs over time (6h & 24h) was assessed. Adaptive stress responses lead to changes in mitochondrial morphology (Fig. 4.7) and are indicative of cellular response mechanisms. A quantitative analysis of the mitochondrial length (Fig. 4.8) showed no significant changes in mitochondrial length between samples over time compared to control (6h – 5N:27±3; 20N: 37±5; 5H: 35±8; 20H: 52±8 & 24h – 5N: 35±5; 20N: 42±8; 5H: 36±10; 20H: 38±8) (p > 0.05). In addition no consistent changes in mitochondrial morphology with a change in culture conditions could be observed (Fig.4.7)

4.4.6. Superoxide radical production in response to glucose and oxygen

Using a commercially available kit, the total cellular superoxide radical production in response to 5mM and 20mM glucose as well as normoxic and hypoxic conditions was determined. The percentage proportion of superoxide radicals found in mitochondria and the cytoplasm was analysed. The results showed no significant change in total cellular superoxide radical production between samples (5N: 100 ± 0 ; 20N: 100 ± 2 ; 5H: 102 ± 3 ; 20H: 103 ± 2) (p > 0.05) (Fig.4.9a). Most of these superoxide radicals seem to be produced in the mitochondria with a significant increase in cells incubated in hypoxia (5mM glucose) compared to normoxia (5N: 66 ± 3 ; 5H: 81 ± 2) (Fig. 4.9b). This increase is reflected by a corresponding decrease seen with cytoplasmic radical formation in the same samples (5N: 34 ± 3 ; 5H: 22 ± 1) (p < 0.05) (Fig. 4.9c).

Fig. 4.7: Illustration of the morphological changes seen during the mitochondrial fusion and fission process in HUVECs (400x magnification). (1) Mitochondria appear long and strand like (2) Fission i.e. break up and shortening of mitochondria is visible (3) Mitochondria appear punctate, fission is complete.





2.



Fig. 4.8: Quantitative blind analysis of mitochondrial length in response to changes in glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia; H = hypoxia) in HUVECs. Twenty random mitochondria were measured per cell. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from six separate cells (n = 6) with 10 observations per cell (Kruskal-Wallis test: p > 0.05).



Fig. 4.9: Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical formation in response to changes in glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia; H = hypoxia) in HUVECs. The change in superoxide radical formation is compared relative to total cellular superoxide radical control (5N = 100%). (a) total superoxide radical formation in HUVECs (b) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in mitochondria (c) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in the cytoplasm. Samples were analysed using a SOD-WST kit. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM from three different experiments (n = 3) (ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's test: * p > 0.05).

(a) total cellular



(b) mitochondrial



(c) cytoplasmic



4.5. Discussion

The focus of this chapter was to determine the effect that hypoxia and hyperglycaemia have on endothelial mitochondrial number, morphology and cellular ROS production to determine if this may offer an explanation for the effect of increased cell proliferation and increased DNA damage observed in the previous chapter. The type of quantitation carried out to determine the number of mitochondria and ROS production was highly dependent on a consistent cell size within the population studied. We demonstrated that, with different concentrations of glucose and oxygen, there was no significant difference in cell size (p > 0.05) between treatment groups after 24h exposure (Fig. 4.4). Changes in cell size are highly cell-type dependent, with some reports of changes in cell size, such as swelling (Schmiedl et al. 2001) and changes in cell structure (Mandal et al. 2006), in response to hyperglycaemiainduced oxidative stress. However, evidence corresponding to a time-frame of 24h is hard to find, as exposure times vary considerably. It would be unrealistic to expect cell size to stay constant, given the processes involved in oxidative stress such as apoptosis, but for the interpretation of our results it is important to know that cell size remains unaffected after only 24h incubation to allow for an accurate interpretation of the results which have been gathered from HUVECs treated in the various conditions.

Analysis of the mitochondrial content also showed no significant change between treatment groups after 6h and 24h (Fig. 4.5). However, the relatively large SEM values indicate a high degree of variability which is indicative of the heterogeneity of the mitochondrial population. Although mitochondria are known to form a reticulum, evidence exists that mitochondria within individual cells can also form morphologically heterogeneous and physically distinct entities (Collins *et al.* 2002). This allows the mitochondria to function independently with respect to their individual $\Delta \psi_m$, Ca²⁺ uptake and mPTP activation. It is therefore perceivable that the large variability in MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence is indicative of either (a) an increase in mitochondrial permeability, as a result of cell structure changes in response to prolonged exposure to oxidative stress, (b) a possible increase in mitochondrial fragmentation or (c) a simple variability in dye uptake due to changes in $\Delta_{\Psi m}$ (Keij *et al.* 2000, Buckman *et al.* 2001, Pendergrass *et al.* 2004).

It is known that mitochondrial morphology is regulated by the fusion and fission processes described earlier, which are strongly linked to oxidative stress. Therefore, changes in mitochondrial fragmentation in response to oxidative-stress-induced apoptosis (Frank *et al.* 2001) may lead to an increase in fluorescence intensity, depending on the extent of the fragmentation. Although this is pure speculation as our data cannot verify these assumptions we do see a modest reduction in MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence in hypoxia-treated samples but it does not reach statistical significance. Since hypoxia has been reported to increase mitochondrial length and reduce fission (Skulatchev *et al.* 2001) we would possibly expect to see a drop in fluorescence intensity. At this point, however, we cannot make any assumptions about changes in mitochondrial morphology and it is sufficient to bear in mind that total cellular MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence does not show any significant change after 24h exposure to hyperglycaemia and hypoxia (Fig. 4.5).

There is, however, a significant difference between mitochondrial ROS production at 6h compared to 24h (p < 0.05); (Fig. 4.6). The RedoxSensor Red CC-1 stain passively enters live cells where the non-fluorescent probe is either oxidised in the cytosol and accumulates in the mitochondria, or the probe is transported to the lysosomes where it is oxidised. The differential distribution of the oxidized product between mitochondria and lysosomes appears to depend on the redox potential of the cytosol (Chen *et al.* 2000) and on the proliferation rate, with predominantly mitochondrial staining in proliferating cells and lysosomal staining in contact-inhibited cells (Chen *et al.* 2000). The observed change in cellular redox potential in response to glucose and/or hypoxia is in agreement with the literature reports (Nakajima *et al.* 2006, Zhang *et al.* 2007). Co-localisation studies show that

most if not all of the oxidised product accumulates in the mitochondria (as seen in Fig. 4.1.). These findings are supported by Fig. 4.2 and Fig. 4.3, which demonstrate that the RedoxSensor Red CC-1 signal is significantly reduced when the mitochondrial membrane potential is artificially collapsed using FCCP (1 μ M) (p < 0.001). Artificially collapsing the membrane potential also identifies the close relationship between glucose- and/or hypoxia-generated oxidative stress and the mitochondrial membrane potential. Although it has been shown that mitochondrial ROS production is dependent on the $\Delta_{\Psi m}$ with a high membrane potential seemingly favouring the production of ROS (Kadenbach *et al.* 2003, Zhang *et al.* 2007), no direct reports exist for this interdependence in response to hypoxia and/or hyperglycaemia.

Our findings confirm an early change in cellular redox potential in response to glucose and hypoxia within the first 6hours of exposure. Since we have shown that neither cell size nor mitochondrial numbers change under identical conditions, this rise cannot be explained by an increase in intensity-to-size ratio (i.e. smaller cells: increased fluorescence or more mitochondria: increased fluorescence) but could reflect either an impaired ability of the mitochondria to take up the oxidised CC-1 product or a decrease in the cellular redox potential.

The results from Chapter Three have demonstrated that HUVECs exhibit an increase in DNA damage after 24h incubation. Furthermore, the net increase in ROS seen here, together with the knowledge that overproduction triggers apoptosis almost as a fail-safe mechanism to prevent the cells from uncontrolled proliferation in the presence of oxidative stress (Kannan *et al.* 2000), may represent a distinct but related phenomena. It also needs to be considered that the significant increase in ROS production after 6h is a possible consequence of the pre-treatment culture conditions for HUVECs. HUVECs are incubated with glucose free/serum free media overnight in order to ensure all cells are in the same stage of the cell

cycle prior to treatment with different glucose and oxygen concentrations. The rise in ROS production could be a consequence of the HUVECs resuming "normal" cellular function. As there is no significant difference in ROS production between samples, cellular ROS production may not be the sole cause for the observed loss of DNA integrity with high glucose concentration and low oxygen tension.

It is, however, important to distinguish between cytoplasmic and intra-mitochondrial oxidative stress (Kristal *et al.* 1997). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is very susceptible to ROS-induced DNA damage, more so than nuclear DNA (nDNA). In 1974, Clayton *et al.* found that UV- induced pyrimidine damage was not repaired in mtDNA, a result interpreted as a complete absence of repair capacity in mitochondria. It has since been shown that mtDNA repair enzymes are encoded for in the nucleus and are transported into the mitochondria via the membrane potential (Bohr *et al.* 2002). Subsequently, any change in mitochondrial membrane potential will affect the transport efficiency and repair capacity of mtDNA repair enzymes.

An interesting study carried out as far back as 1997 reported that H_2O_2 -induced mtDNA damage incurred after 15min was repaired efficiently within 1.5h after H_2O_2 withdrawal. However, extension of H_2O_2 treatment from 15 to 60min led to persistent mtDNA lesions refractory to repair up to 24h after treatment (Yakes *et al.* 1997). They observed that prolonged exposure to H_2O_2 damage correlated with a loss of mitochondrial function and eventually cell death. They hypothesised that a vicious cycle exists whereby oxidative mtDNA damage leads to faulty gene expression, deficiency of key electron transport enzymes, subsequent ROS production and ultimately cell death (van Houten *et al.* 2006). Therefore, it is fair to say that the redox status of the cell has a multilayered effect on cell survival and cell death.

As mentioned above mitochondrial fusion and fission are integral to the mitochondrial responses to oxidative stress (Section 4.2). A recent paper by Yu et al. (2006) observed that dynamic changes in mitochondrial morphology are associated with high glucose-induced overproduction of ROS. Mitochondria undergo rapid fragmentation with a concomitant increase in ROS formation after exposure to high glucose concentrations. They suggest that mitochondrial fragmentation mediated by the fission process is a necessary component for high glucose-induced respiration increase and ROS overproduction (Yu et al. 2006). Considering this hypothesis we analysed our samples for any evidence of increased fusion and fission processes. Figure 4.7 shows examples of cells exhibiting long and strand like mitochondria (a) and their increased level of fragmentation (b) until nearly all mitochondria are fragmented and fission is complete (c). However, although there is evidence of individual cells having undergone fission to a more or less advanced extent, the analysis of individual mitochondrial length did not result in any significant differences between samples and time points (Fig. 4.8). Since our results did not confirm the recent literature findings (Yu et al. 2006), we are unable to extrapolate whether a hyperglycaemia and/or hypoxia-induced rise in respiration with subsequent ROS overproduction is dependent on mitochondrial morphology.

One key aspect of cellular stress is the antioxidant defence enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase. They, alongside other antioxidants, ultimately determine the availability and increased production of ROS since they are very effective free-radical scavengers. In order to understand the effect that glucose and hypoxia have on their activity, mitochondrial superoxide radical formation was analysed in response to high glucose and low oxygen levels (Fig. 4.9).

Superoxide dismutase together with catalase is responsible for scavenging superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) in the cytoplasm (Cu/Zn-SOD) and the mitochondria (Mn-SOD). The

overproduction of mitochondrial superoxide has been hypothesised to be the missing link between hyperglycaemia and the activation of the known biochemical pathways involved in the development of vascular complications (Nishikawa *et al.* 2000).

These data demonstrate that total cellular superoxide levels do not change in response to glucose and/or oxygen concentration alone. The highest level of $O_2^{-\tau}$ radicals can be found in the mitochondria, where a significant increase in generation was observed in normoglycaemic samples exposed to hypoxia for 24h. The inverse is true for $O_2^{-\tau}$ radical production in the cytoplasm (Cu/Zn-SOD). Although the high mitochondrial $O_2^{-\tau}$ radical levels could be interpreted as confirmation that superoxide radicals are predominantely produced in the mitochondria, their levels do not seem to change in response to hyperglycaemia. On the contrary, mitochondrial $O_2^{-\tau}$ levels are significantly increased in normoglycaemic cells when exposed to hypoxia for 24h, but remain unaffected in response to glucose. From these results, it appears unlikely that mitochondrial superoxide radical formation is the sole cause for oxidative-stress-mediated DNA damage in HUVECs, and other factors relating more specifically to hypoxia will have to be considered.

The study carried out by Brownlee *et al.* (2005) verified the hypothesis that hyperglycaemia induces superoxide radical formation through the mitochondrial electron-transport chain by over-expressing UCP-1 (collapsing the mitochondrial membrane potential) or Mn-SOD. The results indicated that hyperglycaemia does not increase ROS production when UCP-1 is over-expressed, verifying that ROS production is associated with the mitochondrial electron-transport chain. Secondly, over-expression of Mn-SOD led to a similar reduction in ROS production in response to hyperglycaemia indicating that the ROS produced are indeed superoxide radicals. In addition, they tested the effect of Mn-SOD and UCP-1 over-expression on the activation of all known biochemical mechanisms involved in causing

vascular complications (i.e. Polyol, AGE and PKC) and found that none of the pathways were expressed in response (Du *et al.* 2001, Brownlee *et al.* 2005).

4.6. Conclusion

This study has identified that mitochondria play an important role in the immediate responses to oxidative stress in endothelial cells. As the results do not support a correlation between hypoxia/hyperglycaemia and cellular ROS production on changes in DNA damage, the involvement of hypoxia in the endothelium mediated oxidative stress response will now be investigated. Thus, evidence for hypoxia-mediated survival signalling via the transcription factor HIF-1 will now be presented.

CHAPTER FIVE: Role of HIF-1α in hypoxia- and hyperglycaemia-induced DNA damage in HUVECs

5.1. Hypothesis

The transcription factor HIF-1 α plays a role in hypoxia- and hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial DNA damage.

5.2. Introduction

HIF-1 α mediated VEGF expression plays a crucial role in oxygen-dependent diabetic diseases, such as proliferative diabetic retinopathy (Arjamaa *et al.* 2006), diabetes-related cardiovascular disease (Marfella *et al.* 2002), neuropathy (Chavez *et al.* 2005) and diabetic wound healing (Ozawa *et al.* 2001). It has been proposed that HIF-1 activity requires a functional mitochondrial electron transport chain and that the generation of mitochondrial superoxide radicals (at complex I and III of the ETC) and subsequent formation of hydrogen peroxide are required for the induction of HIF-1 activity and the transcription of its downstream targets in hypoxic cells (Chandel *et al.* 1998).

Although HIF-1 α expression is strongly hypoxia associated, evidence is accumulating which suggests that hyperglycaemia alone can impact on HIF-1 α regulation (Catrina *et al.* 2004). It has been shown that high glucose concentration increases basal HIF-1 α mRNA expression in streptozotocin diabetic rat heart (Marfella *et al.* 2002), as well as interfering with hypoxia induced proteasomal dependent stabilisation of HIF-1 α and its transcriptional activation (Catrina *et al.* 2004). This implies that hyperglycaemia can directly regulate HIF-1 α activity and stabilisation identifying a more complex regulatory mechanism for HIF-1 α in diabetes highlighting a need for investigating the role of HIF-1 α in the pathology of diabetes mellitus and its complications. In this Chapter the contribution of HIF-1 α to glucose and hypoxia mediated changes in endothelial cell DNA damage and mitochondrial ROS production was assessed to further elucidate the involvement of hypoxia in the endothelial mediated oxidative stress responses.

5.3. Materials and Methods

The optimisation of HUVEC seeding density used with 16 well chamber slides to ensure that the cells remain within the proliferation phase during the experiment was carried out in 96 well plates using the Alamar blue proliferation assay as described in Section 2.2.5 The uptake of FITC labelled control oligonucleotide using fluorescent imaging (Section 2.7) was also determined in order to optimise the time frame for incubation with the antisense. HIF- 1α protein was detected using immunocytochemical analysis (Section 2.7.1) and HIF- 1α mRNA was detected using the reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (Section 2.8). The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA integrity, cell size, mitochondria number and cellular redox potential was determined as described in previous Chapters (Sections 2.4, 2.5).

HUVECs exposed to 5 or 20mM glucose and/or 5 or 20% oxygen for 24h were cultured as described in Section 2.2.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate with three internal replicas per sample. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Were p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/ or ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test was used. The level of
significance is expressed as p < 0.05, p < 0.01 or p < 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Effect of HIF-1a antisense on the level of HIF-1a protein and mRNA

Optimal seeding density (Fig. 5.1) was determined for the immunocytochemical analysis of HIF-1 α activity in HUVECs grown on 16 well chamber slides for 24h ± HIF-1 α antisense oligonucleotide. An alamar blue assay was carried out to determine the optimal seeding density based on the proliferation rate profiles of three different HUVEC samples (1x10⁵, 0.5x10⁴, 0.1x10⁴). As Fig.5.1 shows cells seeded at 1x10⁵ and 0.5x10⁴ reach a plateau in their proliferation phase between 24h & 48 h after which cell proliferation levels off while cells seeded at density of 0.1x10⁴ continue to grow throughout the 48 h period. Subsequent immunocytochemical detection of HIF-1 α was carried out using a 0.1x10⁴ cells/well seeding density.

5.4.2. Uptake of control oligonucleotide

Optimal oligonucleotide incubation time was determined using a FITC labelled control oligonucleotide representative of the HIF-1 α antisense oligonucleotide which will be used during the experiment. The fluorescently labelled oligonucleotide was maximally taken up into the cells within 6h and was still present after 24h (Fig. 5.2). All future results were conducted using a 24h incubation time.



Fig. 5.1: Determination of the optimal seeding density of HUVECs to be used with 16well chamber slides. Cell proliferation of HUVECs seeded at three different concentrations $(0.1 \times 10^5, 0.5 \times 10^4, 0.1 \times 10^4)$ was determined using the Alamar blue assay. Each bar represents the mean ± SEM from six different experiments with six replicates per sample.

Fig. 5.2: Determination of the optimum incubation time for the cellular uptake of the FITC labelled control oligonucleotide (HIF-1 α antisense control). (a) 0h, (b) 1h, (c) 6h, (d) 24h incubation. A 2 μ M concentration of FITC labelled control oligonucleotide was directly added to 16well chamber slides containing 0.1×10^4 cells/well before analysis using a Leica DML Fluorescent microscope. The above images are representative of samples from six different batches of HUVECs (n = 6). Magnification: 200x



(b)



(c)

(**d**)





5.4.3. Effect of HIF-1α antisense on the level of HIF-1α protein and mRNA

Detection of the HIF-1 α protein was carried out to confirm that the HIF-1 α antisense is capable of blocking the expression of HIF-1 α protein in HUVECs. As Fig. 5.3 illustrates, cells grown in hypoxic conditions for 24h without antisense show intense red staining corresponding to HIF-1 α protein production in these cells (Fig. 5.3a). Fig. 5.3b shows the absence of staining in HUVECs incubated under identical conditions in the presence of HIF-1 α antisense oligonucleotide. This confirms the ability of HIF-1 α antisense oligonucleotide to block HIF-1 α protein synthesis to the level of detection sensitivity of this assay after 24h, the chosen time point for all future experiments.

The level of HIF-1 α mRNA was also determined using the reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction following cDNA preparation from RNA isolated from cells incubated in the presence of HIF-1 α antisense. The integrity of the RNA was confirmed following electrophoretic separation and the amplification of β 2 microglobulin from the cDNA (Fig.5.5a or b). Clear separation of both 18S and 28S ribosomal rRNA confirm the purity of the extracted RNA sample and confirm the suitability of this sample for use with PCR (Fig. 5.4). A HIF-1 α PCR product was detected irrespective of the presence of HIF-1 α antisense.



Fig. 5.3: Immunocytochemical detection of HIF-1 α protein in human umbilical vein endothelial cells treated with and without HIF-1 α antisense. (a) 20mM glucose hypoxia, no antisense (24h), (b) 20mM glucose hypoxia + HIF-1 α antisense (24h), Magnification: 200x.



Fig. 5.4: Resolution of RNA isolated from HUVECs. Representative agarose gel (1.2% w/v) demonstrating separation of total RNA with no evidence of degradation of RNA sample. RNA was visualised by staining with ethidium bromide and viewed under ultraviolet light.



Fig. 5.5: Agarose gel (1.2% w/v) showing (a) β_2 -Microglobulin (β_2 Mg) and (b) HIF-1 α PCR product compared to markers of known size. The products conformed to predicted size analysis of 321bp and 390bp for β_2 Mg and HIF-1 α respectively. The images are representative of three different experiments (n = 3).

5.4.4. Effect of HIF-1a antisense treatment on DNA damage

As reported in the previous chapters, DNA damage is increased in high glucose concentration and/or decreased oxygen concentration with the most significant increase in DNA damage observed in cells exposed to both conditions simultaneously (p < 0.001). These results are consistent with those obtained in Chapter Three (Fig. 3.5). In normoxic conditions, the addition of HIF-1 α antisense to HUVECs had no effect on the level of DNA damage seen in response to high (20mM) glucose concentration (p > 0.05) (Fig. 5.6). However, HUVECs cultured in hypoxia in the prescence of HIF-1 α antisense show significantly less DNA damage in response to both 5mM and 20mM glucose (p < 0.001).



Fig. 5.6: Determination of the effect HIF-1 α antisense (AS) (2 μ M) on glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) induced HUVEC DNA damage. Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media and incubated for 24h prior to analysis with the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean of three experiments ± SEM (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: ***p < 0.001; NS: p > 0.05).

5.4.5. Effect of HIF-1a antisense on ROS production and sub-cellular location

The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on HUVEC size over time was determined following HIF-1 α antisense treatment of HUVECs using ImageJ freeware. The percentage change in cell size was determined relative to control (t = 0h 100%) (Fig.5.7) and was found to be non significant using a Student's t-test (p > 0.05). There also was no significant difference between sample groups (p > 0.05). Results show no change in HUVEC size in response to HIF-1 α antisense treatment alone (6h - 5N: 99±1; 20N: 106±7; 5H: 104±4; 20H: 102±5; 24h - 5N: 98±3; 20N: 104±6; 5H: 102±5; 20H: 97±8) (p > 0.05) and when compared to untreated HUVECs (6h - 5N: 102±6; 20N: 108±1; 5H: 116±8; 20H: 110±7; 24h - 5N: 105±0; 20N: 108±4; 5H: 104±3; 20H: 111±1).

Changes in both MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity were determined using ImageJ freeware. The percentage change in fluorescence intensity for both markers was determined relative to control (t = 0h 100%) and analysed individually for all three experiments (Fig.5.8).

MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence was not affected by HIF-1 α antisense treatment when compared to control (6h - 5N: 140±21; 20N: 94±19; 5H: 152±26; 20H: 113±17; 24h - 5N: 145±21; 20N: 130±13; 5H: 110±24; 20H: 112±59) (Fig.5.8) as determined by Student's ttest (6h & 24h p > 0.05). There was also no statistically significant difference between sample groups treated with HIF-1 α antisense as analysed by ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test.

RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in contrast does change significantly over time (Fig. 5.9). When compared to control there is a significant increase in RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in AS treated samples after 6h in normoxia (6h – 5N: 337 ± 26 ; 5NAS: 499±77; 20N: 427±46; 20NAS: 517±62) (p < 0.05). The fluorescence intensity of control samples was significantly reduced after 24h which is in agreement with earlier findings (Fig. 4.6) (5N: 133 ± 56 ; 20N: 128 ± 37 ; 5H:141 ±21 ; 20H:141 ±14). The addition of AS to normoxia samples after 24h leads to a significant reduction in CC-1 fluorescence intensity which contrasts the results obtained after 6h (5NAS: 75 ± 28 ; 20NAS: 69 ± 8) (p < 0.05).

In hypoxia the addition of antisense significantly reduced CC-1 fluorescence intensity after 6h and 24h in 20mM glucose samples (6h – 20H: 450±63, 20HAS: 283±28; 24h – 20H: 141±21, 20HAS: 63±25) (p < 0.05). These results indicate that HIF-1 α has a direct effect on ROS production in hypoxia which may or may not contribute to the DNA damage seen in these conditions. The mechanisms, through which this occurs is unknown but appears to be different from that in normoxic conditions.

Fig. 5.7: Determination of the effect HIF-1 α antisense (AS) treatment (2 μ M) has on size of human umbilical vein endothelial cells compared to untreated (as shown previously in Fig. 4.3). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media before incubation with glucose concentration of either 5mM or 20mM and oxygen concentrations (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) for 24h. The change in cell size is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The above graph is representative of the mean ± SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations (SEM values range from 1-8% within a group) per sample (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test: p > 0.05).



Fig. 5.8: Effect of HIF-1 α antisense (AS) treatment (2 μ M) on MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells compared to untreated (as shown previously in Fig. 4.4). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/ serum free media before incubation in glucose concentrations of either 5mM or 20mM and oxygen concentrations (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) for 24h. The change in fluorescence intensity is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The above graph is representative of the mean ± SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test: p > 0.05).



Fig. 5.9: Effect of HIF-1 α antisense (AS) treatment (2 μ M) on RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescence intensity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells compared to untreated (as shown previously in Fig. 4.5). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/ serum free media before incubation in glucose concentration of 5mM & 20mM and oxygen concentrations (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) for 24h. The change in fluorescence intensity is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The above graph is representative of the mean ± SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test: *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p<0.001).



5.5. Discussion

Although HIF-1 α is recognized as a key mediator for a number of the cellular adaptive responses under hypoxic conditions (Section 5.2), little has been reported about its direct effect on endothelial DNA damage in response to hypoxia and/or hyperglycaemia. HIF-1a mediated adaptive responses appear to protect the cell in hypoxic conditions although its proapoptotic involvement has also recently been shown (Brunelle et al. 2002, Lee et al. 2004). HIF-1 has been shown to induce the expression of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes such as glucose transporter (GLUT-1) under hypoxic conditions (Semenza et al. 1994). It is suggested that increased glycolysis is necessary to produce energy when low oxygen will not support oxidative phosphorylation within the mitochondria. In contrast, Papandreou et al. (2006) found that, while HIF-1 stimulates enzymes required for glycolysis, it also actively represses mitochondrial function and oxygen consumption by inducing pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1). PDK1 phosphorylates and inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase from using pyruvate to fuel the mitochondrial TCA cycle. This causes a drop in mitochondrial oxygen consumption and results in a relative increase in intracellular oxygen tension resulting in increased oxygen availability and decreased cell death. On the other hand HIF-1 α has been shown to be pro-apoptotic with the activation of caspase-3, Apaf-1mediated caspase 9 and the release of cytochrome c having been reported in several cell types under hypoxic conditions (Brunelle et al. 2002). It has even been demonstrated that HIF-1 α is associated with the activation of the mitochondrial triggered apoptosis cascade (Weinmann et al. 2004).

Despite the intense research into the pro- & anti-apoptotic effects of HIF-1 α , the literature does not indicate if HIF-1 α is directly involved in acute oxidative stress induced endothelial DNA damage. Results obtained for HUVECs incubated in hypoxic and hyperglycaemic conditions for 24h and treated simultaneously \pm HIF-1 α antisense (Fig. 5.6) show significantly less DNA damage in cells incubated under hypoxic conditions, irrespective of the glucose concentration (p < 0.001). HIF-1 α antisense treatment has no effect on normoxia-induced DNA damage. These results suggest that HIF-1 α contributes to acute hypoxia-induced endothelial DNA damage seen in Chapter Three (Fig. 3.5), although the action of HIF-1 does not appear to be cytotoxic as cell proliferation is not affected within this time frame (Fig. 3.1).

One likely site of this effect is the mitochondria. Since HIF-1 α has been shown to influence mitochondrial function (Emerling *et al.* 2005), it is perceivable that a mechanism exists through which the activation of HIF-1 α initially contributes to mitochondrial ROS mediated cell damage. A recent paper describes the requirement of mitochondrial ROS release (from complex III) into the cytoplasm for the hypoxic stabilisation of HIF-1 α (Guzy *et al.* 2005) while a second paper describes how loss of mitochondrial function impairs cellular oxygen sensing and hypoxic HIF- α activation (Mansfield *et al.* 2005). Both papers seem to suggest that HIF-1 α requires mitochondrial ROS production for its stabilisation and activitation. However, higher ROS levels also instigate more cell damage.

In order to verify if mitochondrial ROS production is linked to HIF-1 α and the observed levels of DNA damage, mitochondrial ROS levels were determined in the presence of HIF-1 α antisense (Fig. 5.9). There is an early change in cellular redox potential in response to glucose and or hypoxia measurable after 6h. This is in line with earlier findings of HUVECs treated without the addition of antisense (Fig. 4.6). In hypoxia, HUVECs treated with HIF-1 α antisense for 6h show a significant reduction in RedoxSenor Red CC-1 flourescence intensity compared to identical untreated samples (p < 0.05). These observations suggests that hypoxia incurs a reduction in cellular redox potential in the absence of HIF-1 α and a potential reduction in cellular ROS formation. Since blocking HIF-1 α protein production has no effect on MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity (Fig.5.8) or overall HUVEC size (Fig.5.7), the reduction in cellular redox potential in hypoxia in the presence of HIFl α antisense seems to support the suggestions that the activation of HIF-1 α in hypoxia initially contributes to mitochondrial ROS production and possibly an associated increase in cell damage.

One possible mechanism through which the hypoxia stimulated release of ROS could contribute to the regulation of HIF-1 α is through the accumulation of DAG. It has been reported that both hypoxia and high glucose concentration lead to DAG production (Rossi *et al.* 1991, Temes *et al.* 2004). This in turn leads to the accumulation of phosphatidic acid via the activation of diacylglycerol kinase. Phosphatidic acid in turn is thought to regulate HIF-1 expression (Temes *et al.* 2004, Aragones *et al.* 2001). Furthermore, DAG and phosphatidic acid also leads to the direct activation of PKC (Stasek *et al.* 1993). PKC induces cell damage by reducing the mitochondrial ATP production, leading to an overload of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ and loss of mitochondrial function (Costa *et al.* 2006). Although PKC has not been implicated in the hypoxia triggered accumulation of DAG and subsequent regulation of HIF-1 (Temes *et al.* 2004), loss of mitochondrial function could lead to the loss of HIF-1 function if the above hypothesis is correct.

Alternatively, the HIF-1 α associated increase in endothelial DNA damage under hypoxic conditions (Fig. 5.6) could be an indication of a more direct involvement in the mediation of hypoxic cell death and apoptosis. Since Lee *et al.* (2004) were able to establish that the HGTD-P gene activates the mitochondrial apoptotic cascade through the induction of the mPTP a link has been established between HIF-1 α and mitochodrial apoptosis signalling. Although our results clearly show the involvement of HIF-1 α in mitochondrial redox changes (Fig. 5.9) (with the origin of the fluorescent RedoxSensor Red CC-1 marker confirmed as being mainly mitochondrial Fig. 4.2) we were also able to observe a proliferative increase under these same conditions (Fig. 3.1). As detailed in Chapter Three

however (Section 3.4.1), an increase in HUVEC proliferation under hypoxic conditions is associated with the increased transcription of VEGF, which in turn is mediated by HIF-1 (Zgouras *et al.* 2003).

In normoxia, a reduction in CC-1 fluorescence intensity can be observed in cells cultured in normoxic conditions for 24h when cultured in HIF-1 α antisense compared to untreated (Fig. 5.9). This is in stark contrast to fluorescence levels seen at 6h where HIF-1 α antisense seemingly induces mitochondrial ROS production significantly (Fig. 5.9). This suggests that HIF-1 α plays a significant role in ROS production under normoxic conditions and although this could be considered to be in line with findings that the normoxic expression of HIF-1 α is essential for macrophage function (Knowles *et al.* 2006) it also suggests that a reduction in hypoxia mediated DNA damage (Fig. 5.6) is unlikely to be due to a direct involvement of HIF-1 α as the results are not consistent for both 5mM and 20mM glucose samples.

Clearly the reactions and interactions within the cell are complex. It is also likely that a plethora of other possible mechanisms activated during the oxidative stress response such as MAPK, PI3K, p42/44 and apoptosis will contribute to the observed effects of HIF-1 α .

5.6. Conclusion

The present results have identified that that there seems to be a close relationship between HIF-1 α activity, endothelial DNA damage and cellular ROS production in hypoxia. As ROS production is not significantly different in 5mM glucose samples in the presence of HIF-1 α antisense it appears unlikely that the DNA protective effect of HIF-1 α anisense in hypoxia is due to its direct effect on ROS production. It is more likely that HIF-1 α is involved in

mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis signaling. More studies are required to corroborate this hypothesis.

CHAPTER SIX: Effect of glucose analogues and intracellular signalling inhibitors on endothelial DNA damage

152

6.1. Hypothesis

Endothelial DNA damage in response to hypoxia and hyperglycaemia is mediated through signalling pathways such as PKC and p42/44 activation or the metabolism of D-glucose.

6.2. Introduction

In order to elucidate the contributing mechanisms and signalling pathways involved in the development of hypoxia- and hyperglycaemia- induced loss of endothelial DNA integrity, DNA damage was assessed after the addition of glucose analogues (2-deoxy-D-glucose, 3-orthomethyl-glucose) and signalling inhibitors (PKC_{βII}/EGFR and PD98095 (p42/44 inhibitor)). 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) and 3-ortho-methyl glucose (3OM) are structural derivatives of D-glucose. Once inside the cell, 2DG is phosphorylated by hexokinases giving rise to 2-D-glucose-6-phosphate (2-DG-6P) during the first step of the glycolysis reaction. Because of its structure, the phosphorylated molecule (2-DG-6P) cannot be metabolized further or diffuse outside the cell leading to the inhibition of glycolysis and the accumulation of the metabolised by-product (2-DG-6P) inside the cell. 3-ortho-methyl glucose (3OM) is not metabolised at all and simply enters and leaves the cell.

Common signalling pathways activated in hyperglycaemia- and hypoxia- mediated events include, amongst others, protein kinase C (PKC) and p42/44MAPK (Wynne *et al* 2005, Idris *et al.* 2006). Known inhibitors of these pathways include the highly selective PKC inhibitor LY333531 and the p42/44 inhibitor PD98095.

The assessment of the effect glucose analogues (2-deoxy-D-glucose, 3-orthomethyl-glucose) and the signalling inhibitors $PKC_{\beta II}/EGFR$ and PD98095 (p42/44 inhibitor) have on endothelial DNA damage and cell proliferation after only 24h was carried out in order to elucidate the molecular processes which lead to the observed rise in DNA damage in response to high glucose concentration and low oxygen tension.

6.3. Materials and Methods

The effect of glucose concentration and oxygen tension on DNA integrity of HUVECs was determined using the comet assay (Section 2.4). This was carried out using equimolar concentrations of D-glucose and its analogues 2-deoxy-D-glucose and 3-ortho-methyl glucose as well as the signalling inhibitors $PKC_{\beta II}/EGFR$ inhibitor (1µM) and PD98095 (2µM). HUVECs challenged for 24h were cultured as described in Section 2.2. and their DNA extracted as described in Section 2.3.

Statistical significance was determined using a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/ or ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's test for normalised data. The level of significance expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. A non significant difference (NS) was denoted for samples where p > 0.05.

6.4. Results

6.4.1. Effect of D-glucose, 3OM and 2-DG-6P on DNA integrity of HUVECs

A comparison of the DNA damage profile of D-glucose to its analogues 2-deoxy-D-glucose and 3-ortho-methyl-glucose was carried out using the comet assay (Fig. 6.1). In HUVECs treated with D-glucose alone hyperglycaemia increases DNA damage levels significantly when compared to normoglycaemia (5N: 172 ± 4 ; 20N: $301\pm11 - p < 0.001$), (5H: 258 \pm 9; 20H: $577\pm12 - p < 0.001$); (Fig. 6.1). DNA damage was further significantly increased in hyperglycaemic samples simultaneously exposed to hypoxia (20N: 301 ± 11 ; 20H: $577\pm12 - p < 0.001$). These observations are in agreement with earlier findings (Fig. 3.5).

An almost identical DNA damage pattern can be seen with the glucose analogue 2-deoxy-Dglucose (5N: 178±8; 20N: 278±6 - p<0.001), (5H: 261±5; 20H: 599±19 - p<0.001), (20N: 278±6 vs 20H: 599±19 - p < 0.001) (Fig. 6.1). Loss of DNA integrity by 3-ortho-methyl is significantly higher in all samples compared to D-glucose (5N: 489±81; 20N: 396±58; 5H: 376±109; 20H: 412±82 – p > 0.05) apart from 20H. No significant difference in DNA integrity was seen between 3-OM treated samples (p > 0.05).

Fig.: 6.1: Comparison of the effect of D-glucose (5mM & 20mM) and equivalent concentrations of the glucose analogues 2-deoxy-D-glucose and 3-ortho-methyl-glucose on HUVEC DNA damage (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/ serum free media before incubation. Cells were analysed with the comet assay. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test : *** p<0.001).







6.4.2. Effect of specific signalling inhibitors on DNA damage

In order to elucidate contributing mechanisms which lead to the observed DNA damage in the different culture conditions, various inhibitors were used; namely PKC_{βII}/EGFR inhibitor and PD98095 (p42/44 inhibitor) (Fig. 6.2). Samples incubated with a PKC inhibitor (1µM) showed a significant increase in DNA damage compared to control in all samples almost appearing to be toxic to the cells (5N: 650±4; 20N: 600±40; 5H: 599±44; 20H: 725±16 - p < 0.001). While there was no significant difference between most PKC treated samples incubated under different culture conditions (p > 0.05), there is a significant increase in hypoxic conditions with an increase in glucose concentration from 5mM (577 ± 12) to 20mM glucose (725 ± 16) (p > 0.001).

The addition of PD98059 (2 μ M) showed no difference in DNA damage when compared to D-glucose control (p > 0.05). There is also no significant difference between PD98059 samples (5N: 334±89; 20N: 224±31; 5H: 231±43; 20H: 414±31 - p > 0.05).

Fig.: 6.2: Comparison of the effects of $PKC_{\beta II}/EGFR$ inhibitor (1µM) and PD98059 (2µM) on HUVEC DNA damage (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/ serum free media before incubation. Cells were analysed with the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (ANOVA plus post-hoc Tukey's test: p < 0.05).





The analysis of DNA integrity of HUVECs in response to D-glucose and its analogues (2DG and 3OM) demonstrated that 2DG gives a similar DNA damage pattern when compared to D-glucose, suggesting that the loss of DNA integrity in response to high glucose concentration and low oxygen after 24h is not linked to glycolysis or any of its downstream events beyond the first step of breakdown of glucose into glucose-6-phosphate.

This is surprising, as glycolysis is essential in cellular respiration and energy production, feeding into the citric acid cycle (mitochondria) and subsequent mitochdonrial oxidative phosphorylation. The excessive formation of oxygen radicals is a well-established mediator of hyperglycaemic damage to a wide range of tissues in diabetes, including neurons (Vincent *et al.* 2005), retinal cells (Robinson *et al.* 2000), and vascular endothelium (Zurova-Nedelcevova *et al.* 2006). Metabolic oxidative stress is also regarded as crucial mediator of beta cell dysfunction and apoptosis under hyperglycemic conditions (Martens *et al.* 2007).

Although surprising, the observation is not entirely unreasonable as some oxidative stress mediated pathways such as NO have a reported inhibitory effect on glycolysis. NO induced cellular toxicity has been reported to prevent both mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis (Mohr *et al.* 1999), affecting the blood brain barrier (Hurst *et al.* 2001). More recently, it was demonstrated that hyperglycaemia-induced overproduction of superoxide inhibits glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) another major enzyme of the glycolysis pathway. This is thought to trigger several pathways of injury involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications (Du *et al.* 2003).

As 2DG is phosphorylated by hexokinases giving rise to 2-D-glucose-6-phosphate (2-DG-6P) during the first step of the glycolysis reaction after which it accumulates in the cell failing to be metabolised any further, the resultant DNA damage observed must be associated with either glucose in its unmetabolised form, the hexokinase enzyme, the phosphorylated form of glucose or the accumulation of this product within the cell. The most likely explanation falls with the activation of the polyol pathway. As described in Chapter One (Section 1.6.1), the polyol pathway is activated as a result of the hexokinase enzyme becoming saturated in the presence of high glucose concentrations. It converts glucose into sorbitol and onwards into fructose utilising NADPH and NAD⁺, thereby altering the redox state of the cell, which in turn leads to depressed glutathione levels and the resulting loss of intrinsic protection against oxidative stress (Williams *et al.* 1999). It has been associated with the activation of PKC and NF- κ B (Ramana *et al.* 2002), which are involved in mediating biochemical and functional changes in diabetic vessels (Sheetz *et al.* 2002).

As mentioned above, a study carried out by Flores *et al.* in 2003 showed that hyperglycaemia (25mmol) stimulates the L-arginine/NO pathway in HUVECs within the first 2min of incubation, which is thought to occur via the activation of PKC (Flores *et al.* 2003). It is possible that conditions of high glucose concentration result in high intracellular glucose, thus saturating the glycolytic pathway. ROS, such as NO will be generated which in turn inhibits glycolysis and the glucose is shunted into the polyol pathway, where it is metabolised into sorbitol and fructose, leading to changes in the cellular redox state, depression of glutathione reductase levels and the activation of PKC, all of which are known to contribute to the development of DNA damage (Williams *et al.* 1999; De Mattia *et al.* 1994; Ramana *et al.* 2002).

In contrast, 3-OM, a glucose derivative which is not metabolised, but simply diffuses in and out of the cell, had no significant effect onDNA damage. The overall level of DNA damage, however, is significantly increased compared to that seen with D-glucose (Fig. 6.1), suggesting that damage is caused by the entry of glucose into the cell even before it is metabolised. Alternatively the higher levels of DNA damage could be caused by a lack of

cellular "nutrition" as glucose enters and leaves the cell without being utilised inducing a high degree of cellular stress.

Using cellular signaling inhibitors, the contribution of certain stress pathway to the observed DNA damage was assessed. The use of a PKC inhibitor on hyperglycaemia/ hypoxia induced DNA damage shows a significant rise in DNA damage levels compared to D-glucose alone (Fig. 6.2), suggesting that a loss of PKC activity is detrimental rather than beneficial to the DNA integrity of the HUVEC. Furthermore, DNA damage levels in cells containing a PKC inhibitor did not vary significantly with a change in culture conditions, suggesting that PKC levels remain unaffected by high glucose and hypoxic culture conditions in our experimental setup with the exeption of an increase between 5mM and 20mM glucose samples cultured in low oxygen tension. These results seem to exclude PKC as a possible source or contributing factor of hyperglycaemia/ hypoxia-induced DNA damage, despite a huge body of literature observing the contrary effect. Further studies would be required to look at PKC activity and the effect of its inhibition at different time points throughout this 24h incubation period. Attention should also be paid to the method of choice since the use of the PKC_{pII}/EGFR inhibitor almost appears toxic as HUVECs DNA damage levels are very high throughout.

The use of the p42/44 MAPK inhibitor, PD98059, did not result in any significant changes to DNA damage levels obtained with D-glucose (Fig. 6.2). From these results, it appears to be unlikely that p42/44 plays a significant role in the development of endothelial DNA damage in response to glucose or hypoxia after 24h. It does, however, show a trend of reducing DNA damage when HUVECs are exposed to the simultaneous exposure of hyperglycaemia and hypoxia (p = 0.05) adding weight to our observations from Chapter Three (Fig.3.5). A study looking at the activation of p42/44 (ERK) in response to D-glucose (25mM) in endothelial cells also failed to observe a rise in its activation (Liu *et al.* 2000), confirming our observations. The main body of evidence surrounding p42/44 (ERK) is centred around its

activation in hypoxia, where it has been shown to phosphorylate HIF-1 α and enhance the transcriptional activity of HIF-1 (Richard *et al.* 1999). Taking our result from Chapter Five into account, where we were able to discern that HIF-1 α activation in response to hypoxia contributes to the development of endothelial DNA damage, this extrapolation to the involvement of p42/44 in this process seems to go someway towards explaining the observed DNA damage. Especially since PD98059 results in an inhibition of HIF-1 α trans-activation, where it reduces the hypoxia-induced transcription of both the target gene and the hypoxia-responsive reporter gene (Hur *et al.* 2001). However, the observed change in DNA damage was not statistically significant (p > 0.05) and we did not see any effect of PD98059 on hypoxia induced DNA damage alone.

Since the results from the signalling inhibitor studies are inconclusive, more reliable and established methods should be used to analyse which signaling pathways respond to changes in glucose concentration and oxygen tension and how this impacts on the development of endothelial DNA damage. These include protein and enzyme assays such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) which can be used to quantitate kinase levels and evaluate their activities. By incorporating a recognize protein regardless of phosphorylation state and a phospho-specific antibody, ELISA-based assays can be used to measure total protein and activated protein levels. Molecular cloning techniques may also be used to identify the role PKC and p42/44 play in response to changed in glucose and oxygen tension within the endothelium.

6.6. Conclusion

Results presented in this Chapter suggest a possible involvement of the polyol pathway as well as p42/44 signaling in the development of endothelial DNA damage observed in Chapter Three. A common denominator may be the involvement of HIF-1 α which is in agreement with the observations from Chapter Five.
CHAPTER SEVEN: Effect of silymarin (*Silibum marianum*) on high glucose and low oxygen mediated DNA damage in HUVECs

7.1. Hypothesis

The flavonoid antioxidant silymarin (Silibum marianmum) has a beneficial effect on high glucose and oxygen mediated DNA damage in HUVECs.

7.2. Introduction

Amelioration of the effect of high glucose concentration and hypoxia on DNA damage in endothelial cells was examined using a known antioxidant, silymarin (*Silibum marianum*) (SM). Silymarin, also known as milk thistle, has been used as a therapeutic agent for over 2000 years. It has been reported to have a protective effect against ROS-induced DNA damage (Anderson *et al.* 1994) and to prevent a reduction in the enzymes superoxide dismutase (Nencini *et al.* 2006), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx) (Aldioost *et al.* 2006), all of which are responsible for the removal of catalase and the protection against ROS induced cell damage. Further, silymarin has been shown to improve nerve conduction velocity in diabetic neuropathy (Zhang *et al.* 1993), act as a membrane stabiliser (Fraschini *et al.* 2002) and prevent ROS-induced DNA damage (Yu *et al.* 1997). It is therefore perceivable that an antioxidant such as silymarin could be beneficial in counteracting oxidative stress-mediated DNA damage in the endothelial models, as previously described in this thesis.

The cytoprotective effect of the flavonoid antioxidant, silymarin, on high glucose and low oxygen-induced DNA damage and the potential mechanisms that are involved in silymarin mediated effects were investigated.

7.3. Materials and Methods

The effect of silymarin treatment (50-5000 μ M) (Wen *et al.* 2007), in combination with glucose concentration and oxygen tension on cell growth was determined using the Alamar blue proliferation assay (Fields *et al.* 1993); (Section 2.2.5). Any effect of these conditions on DNA integrity in combination with HIF-1 α antisense (2 μ M) was determined using the comet assay (Section 2.4) and the effect that silymarin treatment (50 μ M) has on the cellular uptake of HIF-1 α antisense was assessed using a FITC labelled control oligonucleotide (Section 2.7). The effect of these conditions on cellular mitochondrial numbers, HUVEC size and cellular redox potential was determined using both MitoTracker Green FM and RedoxSensor Red CC-1 fluorescent dye (Section 2.5) and analysed using ImageJ software.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate and repeated on three separate occasions. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Were p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA (with Tukey's post-hoc test) was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

7.4. Results

7.4.1. Effect of silymarin on DNA damage

Silymarin was added to HUVECs at concentrations of 50, 500 and 5000 μ M (in \leq 0.7% (v/v) DMSO) for 24h. The level of DNA damage was measured compared to DMSO control alone

in order to ensure that the effect of silymarin (50 μ M) used in subsequent experiments was not due to an effect of the DMSO alone. Results indicate that silyamrin shows a pronounced DNA damaging effect at concentrations above 500 μ M (5000 μ M: 232±29; p < 0.001) (Fig. 7.1). There is no significant difference in the level of DNA damage seen with 50 μ M (68±13) & 500 μ M (55±8) silymarin treatment for 24h. A vehicle control (DMSO 0.7% total) was carried out and found to be within acceptable levels (49±8 i.e. vehicle control shows minimal levels of DNA damage) confirming that the potent hydroxyl radical scavenging effects of DMSO do not have any effect on the results obtained by the actions of silymarin. All subsequent experiments were carried out at a concentration of 50 μ M silymarin.

7.4.2. Comparison of silymarin to alpha-lipoic acid

In order to compare the ability of silymarin to reduce DNA damage a comparison to α -lipoic acid (ala) (100µM) was carried out. In normoxic conditions, α -lipoic acid treatment resulted in significantly less DNA damage compared to silymarin when compared to a normalised control (20mM Normox: 100%) (20NSM (118±7) vs 20Nala (88±7): p = 0.024) (Table 7.1). In hypoxic culture conditions there was no significant difference between α -lipoic acid and silymarin treated samples (20HSM (103±4) vs 20Hala (97±6): p = 0.494). Results suggest that silymarin appears to be a cytoprotective antioxidant but is not as potent as alpha-lipoic acid.

7.4.3. Effect of silymarin on cell proliferation

As described previously, an alamar blue assay was carried out to investigate the effect silymarin (50 μ M) has on cell proliferation over 24h (Fig. 7.2). As before (Fig. 3.1), HUVEC proliferation rate is significantly increased in cells incubated in high glucose and low oxygen conditions for 24h (20N: 1.2±0.01; 20H: 1.7±0.01). The addition of silymarin does not appear to have any significant effect on cell proliferation over this 24h time frame although there seems to be a slight tendency for silymarin to reduce proliferation in all samples. This

tendency is however not statistically significant (5N: 1.1 ± 0.02 ; 20N: 1.1 ± 0.01 ; 5H: 1.4 ± 0.01 ; 20H: 1.4 ± 0.04).

7.4.4. Comet Assay – Effect of silymarin on glucose and oxygen mediated DNA damage In a blinded analysis, the effect of silymarin (50 μ M) on DNA integrity in HUVECs cultured in varying concentrations of glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen (normoxia & hypoxia) for 24h was assessed. Results confirmed earlier findings in untreated cells (Fig. 3.5 and 5.6) showing that hyperglycaemia leads to a significant rise in DNA damage in cells cultured under both normoxia (5N: 49±8; 20N: 79±3) and hypoxia (5H: 84±3; 20H: 156±5) (Fig. 7.3). The greatest increase in DNA damage can be seen in HUVECs cultured in both high glucose (20mM) and hypoxic conditions for 24h (20N: 79±3; 20H: 156±5).

Addition of silymarin (50 μ M) had no significant effect on DNA damage levels in HUVECs cultured in normoxic conditions for 24h (5NSM: 51±4; 20NSM: 67±5). It did, however, significantly reduce DNA damage levels in HUVECs cultured in hypoxic conditions for 24h (5H: 84±3 vs 5HSM: 54±3; 20H: 156±5 vs 20HSM: 67±5). Since DNA damage levels in silymarin-treated cells seem to remain constant between all culture conditions, the results suggest that silymarin treatment prevents a loss of DNA integrity with a change in culture conditions rather than repairing existing damage.

In order to determine how quickly silymarin exerts its protective effect, DNA damage levels in HUVECs cultured in 20mM glucose at 1, 6 and 24h in both normoxia and hypoxia were determined (Fig. 7.4). As seen previously (Fig. 3.5, 5.6 and 7.3) there is a significant increase in DNA damage in control samples cultured in both high glucose and low oxygen compared to high glucose alone (20N: 61 ± 5 vs 20H: 95 ± 9). This effect is evident after only 6h and increases over time. The effect of silymarin on the level of DNA damage could only be observed after 24h (Fig. 7.4). Interestingly, there was a significant rise in DNA damage in normoxia with the addition of silymarin after 24h (20N: 62±6 vs 20NSM: 104±7) whereas silymarin significantly reduced DNA damage in cell cultured in hypoxia for 24h (20H: 137±13 vs 20HSM: 72±3). These results suggest that loss of DNA integrity in endothelial cells is present after only six hours exposure to high glucose and low oxygen tension. Silymarin treatment appears to prevent DNA integrity loss in hypoxic culture conditions.

Extending the incubation time to 48h leads to a further rise in DNA damage in both normoxic (20N24: 100 ± 0 vs 20N48: 172 ± 11) and hypoxic (20H24: 164 ± 6 vs 20H48: 206 ± 5) conditions (Fig.7.5). The re-oxygenation of hypoxic cells for 24h did not cause any significant change to the level of DNA damage (20H+20N: 233 ± 2). The addition of silymarin (50µM) to the culture medium caused no significant change to the level of DNA damage in cells cultured in normoxic conditions (20N24SM: 121 ± 14 ; 20N48SM: 147 ± 4). However HUVECs cultured in hypoxic conditions, showed a significant reduction in DNA damage with the addition of silymarin compared to control (20H24: 164 ± 6 ; 20H24SM: 104 ± 2 ; 20H48: 206 ± 5 ; 20H48SM: 86 ± 1). This was also true for re-oxygenated samples (20re-ox: 233 ± 2 : 20re-ox SM: 91 ± 5) (Fig.7.5).



Fig. 7.1: Effect of silymarin (SM) on the level of DNA damage induced in human umbilical vein endothelial cells cultured in 5mM glucose normoxia for 24h. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three different batches of cells (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: *** p < 0.001).

Table 7.1: Effect of α -lipoic acid (100 μ M) compared to silymarin (50 μ M) on HUVEC cell DNA damage (normoxia and hypoxia). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media before incubation and analysis with the comet assay. Results are expressed as relative percentage change compared to control (Mean – 100%/ SEM) ± SEM from four separate experiments (n = 4) (Student's t-test: *p<0.05, **p<0.005, ***p<0.001).

Treatment	Relative percentage change in DNA damage (%)	Student's t-test p < 0.05 (normalised to 20mM Normox)	Student's t-test p < 0.05 (compared to silymarin treatment)
20mM glucose Normox	100		
20mM glucose Normox + 50µM silymarin	118 ± 7	0.081	
20mM glucose Normox + 100μM α – lipoic acid	88 ± 7	0.191	0.024 *
20mM glucose Hypox	170 ± 7	0.002 *	0.001 ***
20mM glucose Hypox + 50µM silymarin	103 ± 4	0.536	
20mM glucose Hypox + 100μM α – lipoic acid	97 ± 6	0.710	0.494

* (p < 0.05); ** (p < 0.01); *** (p < 0.001)



Fig. 7.2: Histogram showing the effect of silymarin (SM) treatment (50 μ M), on glucose (5mM & 20mM) and oxygen tension (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) -induced changes in cell proliferation in a HUVEC line after 24h incubation. Each bar represents the mean ± SEM from three different batches of cells (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: ***p < 0.001).



Fig. 7.3: Histogram illustrating the effect of the addition of silymarin (SM); (50 μ M) on endothelial DNA damage in response to 5 or 20mM glucose and oxygen concentrations (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) on HUVECs for 24h. Cells were analysed with the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001).



Fig. 7.4: Histogram illustrating the effect of addition of silymarin (50 μ M) to HUVECs incubated in high glucose (20mM) and in Normoxia and Hypoxia at 1h, 6h and 24h. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: ***p < 0.001).



Fig. 7.5: Effect of silymarin (SM) (50 μ M), incubation time (24h & 48 h) and re-oxygenation (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) on HUVEC DNA damage. Cells were analysed using the comet assay. The relative change in DNA damage is expressed as a ratio of the 20mM glucose damage in Normoxia (24h) sample (100%). The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Student's t-test: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001).

In order to determine the involvement of HIF-1 α on the DNA protective effect of silymarin, DNA damage was analysed in HUVECs treated with silymarin ± HIF-1 α antisense (2 μ M) (Fig. 7.6). If silymarin acts independently of HIF-1 α , then a reduction in DNA damage with silymarin treatment is expected followed by a further reduction when HIF-1 α activity is blocked as indicated by the results from Chapter Five (Fig. 5.6). No significant difference between silymarin treated samples alone could be observed with one exception, cells cultured in 20mM glucose normoxia which showed a significant increase in DNA damage compared to 5mM normoxia (5NSM: 41±1; 20NSM: 83±2) (Fig. 7.6). A corresponding rise in DNA damage seen in silymarin treated samples + AS was also observed (5NSMAS: 32±1; 20NSMAS: 69±1).

Antisense reduces DNA damage further when compared to SM treatment alone although in samples incubated in 5mM glucose/hypoxia (5HSM: 62 ± 1 ; 5HSMAS: 32 ± 1). Compared to untreated HUVECs (as shown in Fig. 3.5), silymarin \pm HIF-1 α antisense seem to prevent the loss of DNA integrity confirming the findings of Fig. 7.3.

In order to ensure that silymarin does not prevent HIF-1 α antisense uptake into the cell, which would lead to the production of false negative results seen with the comet assay in Fig 7.6 silymarin treated HUVECs cultured in hyperglycaemia and normoxia were incubated with FITC labelled control oligonucleotide. Results show no impairment of oligoncleotide uptake into the cells (Fig. 7.7) confirming that the results seen in Fig. 7.6 are a true reflection of the effect HIF-1 α AS has on DNA integrity in the different culture conditions.



Fig. 7.6: Determination of the effect that HIF-1 α antisense (AS) treatment (2 μ M) ± silymarin (SM) has on the level of DNA damage induced by 5mM and 20mM glucose and oxygen tension (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) in HUVECs. Cells were analysed using the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001).

Fig. 7.7: Determination of the effect silymarin treatment (50 μ M) has on cellular uptake of the FITC labelled control oligonucleotide (HIF-1 α antisense control) in hyperglycaemic cells cultured under normoxic condition. From left to right are (a) 0hour, (b) 1hour, (c) 6hour, (d) 24hour incubation. 2 μ M FITC labelled control oligonucleotide was directly added to 16well chamber slides containing 0.1x10⁴ cells/well before analysis using a Leica DML Fluorescent microscope. The pictures are representative of samples from three different batches of HUVECs (n = 3). Magnification: 200x.

(a)



(b)



(c)







Changes in HUVEC size over time (6h & 24h) in silymarin treated HUVECs \pm HIF-1 α antisense was determined using ImageJ freeware. Percentage changes in cell size were determined relative to control (t = 0h 100%) and analysed for all three experiments (Fig.7.8). Neither silymarin (50 μ M) treatment alone nor the addition of HIF-1 α antisense (2 μ M) had an effect on cell size.

7.4.6. Effect of silymarin treatment \pm HIF-1 α antisense on MitoTracker Green fluorescence

Changes in MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity over time (6h & 24h) in silymarin treated HUVECs \pm HIF-1 α antisense was determined using ImageJ freeware. The percentage changes in fluorescence intensity was determined relative to control (t = 0h 100%) (Fig.7.9). Silymarin (50 μ M) treatment alone reduces MitoTracker Green fluorescence intensity significantly in samples cultured in high glucose (20mM) and hypoxia after both 6h (control: 108 \pm 4; SM: 59 \pm 12 – p < 0.05) and 24h (control: 105 \pm 9; SM: 60 \pm 6 – p < 0.05). There is a reduced trend in fluorescence intensity in all samples treated with silymarin for 24h. The addition of HIF-1 α antisense (2 μ M) on the other had had no significant effect on MitoTracker Green fluorescence intensity despite the fact that fluorescence in most samples is still reduced.

Analysis of silymarin treatment with and without HIF-1 α antisense on cellular ROS production was carried out but no reliable data was obtained.

Fig. 7.8: Effect of silymarin (SM) treatment $(50\mu M)$ (a) \pm HIF-1 α antisense (AS) $(2\mu M)$ (b) on cell size in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The change in cell size is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The above graph is representative of the mean \pm SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post-hoc test: p > 0.05).

0

Q

(a)



(b)



Fig. 7.9: Effect of silymarin (SM) treatment $(50\mu M)$ (a) \pm HIF-1 α antisense (AS) $(2\mu M)$ (b) on MitoTracker Green FM fluorescence intensity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The change in fluorescence is expressed relative to control (t = 0h 100%). The above graph is representative of the mean \pm SEM of three separate experiments (n = 3) with 50 observations per sample (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post-hoc test: p > 0.05).







7.5. Discussion

The primary aim of this research was to assess the potential cytoprotective effect of silymarin on hypoxia and hyperglycaemia induced endothelial cell changes after 24h incubation.

In Chapter Three, we established that both glucose and oxygen concentration have distinct yet additive effects on endothelial cells which lead to an increase in DNA damage and a rise in cell proliferation after 24h. Since antioxidants are prime candidates for the attenuation of oxidative stress mediated DNA damage, silymarin presents itself as an attractive therapeutic agent. Although a number of different variables were being analysed each variable had its respective control that was used for the purpose of the statistical analysis. Results do indeed show a reduction in the loss of DNA integrity with silymarin compared to control after 24h but this effect seems to be limited to endothelial cells cultured in hypoxia. Since most of the research emphasis to date is based on glucose-induced cellular damage, this study adds weight to the notion that there is a hypoxic component in the development of high glucose-induced endothelial damage. To our knowledge, neither the additive effect of glucose and hypoxia induced DNA damage in endothelial cells after 24h exposure nor the strong cytoprotective effect of silymarin in this context have been reported.

Although samples cultured in hyperglycaemia and/or hypoxia showed the most significant reduction in DNA damage with silymarin, the level of DNA damage found in silymarin treated samples seems to remain constant throughout all culture conditions. This suggests that silymarin prevents DNA damage from occuring when endothelial cells are exposed to changing glucose and oxygen conditions, raising the question whether silymarin acts by improving the cellular environment due to its antioxidant capacity or if it acts through a different mechanism which is independent of its antioxidant activity.

One possible explanation for the mechanism(s) involved could lie with a recently established hypothesis by Nyengaard *et al.* (2004). The paper detailed the interaction between hypoxia and hyperglycaemia in endothelial cells via the accumulation of free cytosolic NADH by different yet additive pathways (Nyengaard *et al.* 2004), strengthening the argument that silymarin could achieve its cytoprotective effect by acting as an aldose reductase inhibitor (Nyengaard *et al.* 2004). However, in 2002 the predicted structural requirements of flavonoid aldose reductase inhibitors were published in an attempt to improve the selection process for novel therapeutic agents (Matsuda *et al.* 2002). Unfortunately, neither the structure of sililibinin, silichristine, silidianin or taxifolin correspond with any of these criteria or to the structural prediction criteria for the radical-scavenging potential of flavonoids (Rajendran *et al.* 2004), although the exclusivity of the proposed structures as aldose reductase inhibitors may not be comprehensive.

If silymarin was to act as an aldose reductase inhibitor, it would improve the cellular redox potential through its action on NADH. Although we were not able to measure changes in NADH levels per se, we attempted to measure changes in the overal cellular redox state with the use of the fluorescent marker CC-1. In Chapter Five, we showed that there is an early effect on the cellular redox state of the endothelial cell in response to changing glucose and oxygen conditions. Unfortunately, the results obtained for the addition of silymarin were inconclusive, as the CC-1 results showed a very obscure fluorescence pattern making its interpretation near to impossible. The reason for this is unknown, but is most likely due to the auto-oxidation of the fluorescent marker. Literature however details numerous accounts of silymarin protecting against oxidative stress (Svobodova *et al.* 2006, Nencini *et al.* 2006) as well as reports suggesting that silymarin restores the levels of antioxidant enzymes superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx) and catalase (CAT) in the pancreas of alloxan-induced diabetic rats (Soto *et al.* 1998). It is therefore perceivable that silymarin reduces the cellular imbalance between radical production and antioxidant enzymes, thereby reducing the development of oxidative stress resulting in less intense changes in the cellular redox state and a reduction in oxidative stress induced DNA damage.

Although a reduction in oxidative stress by silymarin would be in keeping with our findings, it is only one perceivable contributing mechanism. As shown in Chapter Five, we also determined that HIF-1 α activation in response to hypoxia contributes to the development of endothelial DNA damage. In combination with silymarin we were able to see a further reduction in endothelial DNA damage in samples cultured in SmM hypoxia, none however when cultured in 20mM (despite a reducing trend). Therefore the cytoprotective effect of silymarin in hypoxic conditions is unlikely to be attributable to a direct effect on HIF-1 α suggesting a multi-faceted cause of DNA damage. Further we suggeted a close relationship between HIF-1 α activity and cellular ROS production although we were not able to establish if HIF-1 α requires a functional mtETC for its accumulation in the nucleus. If this were true and silymarin reduced hypoxia mediated cellular oxidative stress levels as indicated above then this would result in a reduced activation of HIF-1 α which may explain why we are seeing less of an effect on DNA damage of silymarin + HIF-1 α AS as expected. Silymarin may act by improving the cellular environment due to its antioxidant capacity which may in itself influence how effective the HIF-1 α antisense is reducing DNA damage.

When compared to other well established potent antioxidants (e.g. alpha-lipoic acid) (Table 7.1) silymarin appears to be almost as potent in its cytoprotective activity, than alpha lipoic acid (Ziegler *et al.* 1999). Alpha lipoic acid is a potent neuroprotector in diabetic neuropathy as shown by two large scale randomized controlled trials (ALADINI and ALDIN III) (Ziegler *et al.* 1995, Ziegler *et al.* 1999). However, it is not clear from this data if the high antioxidant property directly accounts for silymarins' cytoprotective effect.

The majority of published data using silymarin deals with hepatic diseases and cancer using silymarin as a therapeutic agent rather than focusing on mechanistic studies. One particular

problem is the lack of standardisation of the extraction process and product composition leading to huge variations between batches and manufacturers. The European Pharmacopoea states that a minimum of 1.5% of silymarin should be expressed as silibinin and that the overall sample should not contain more than 2% foreign matter although "foreign matter" is not defined (European Phamacopoeia 2004). Even a direct request for the analytical details of silymarin from the German Central Laboratory for Pharmacists (quality assurance institution for products marketed in Germany) where silymarin is produced provides no further insight into the exact composition of silymarin (personal communication, July 2004). They do however acknowledge the presence of taxifolin but do not indicate its role or state the percentage concentration in respective batches of silymarin.

7.6. Conclusion

Given the results so far we can confirm that silymarin is a potent cytoprotective flavonoid antioxidant. It protects glucose treated HUVECs under hypoxic conditions with associtated changes in the cellular redox state, DNA damage and possibly DNA repair mechanisms. Despite its strong radical scavenging potential it is not clear if silymarin acts by improving the cellular environment or if it acts through a different mechanism independent of its antioxidant activity such as an aldose reductase inhibitor for example. In order to understand the mechanisms behind this cytoprotective activity the activity of the compounds which are found in the silymarin extract were then investigated.

CHAPTER EIGHT: Effect of silbinin and taxifolin on DNA damage in HUVECs in hypoxia and high glucose concentration

191

8.1. Hypothesis

The flavonoid antioxidants silibinin and taxifolin are responsible for the protective effects on endothelial DNA damage seen with silymarin in response to hypoxia and hyperglycaemia.

8.2. Introduction

Silymarin contains a number of different flavonoid isomers of which silibinin is thought to be the most therapeutically active component (Zhao *et al.* 1999). Probably less well known is that taxifolin can also be found in the silymarin compound although literature refers to taxifolin as the "parent compound" of all silymarin components (Hänsel *et al.* 1993). During the extraction process of silymarin, taxifolin combines with different coniferyl alcohol structures from the plant cell wall to give rise to the different flavonoids known collectively as silymarin which suggests that taxifolin is indeed an active ingredient found in the Milk Thistle plant. Fig. 8.1 shows a proposed chemical reaction of taxifolin and coliferyl alcohol. Taxifolin is very rarely mentioned as a component of silymarin although it is speculated that silymarin contains impurities which have a much higher antioxidant activity than the identified flavonolignans (Kvasnička *et al.* 2003). It is suggested that the purer the silymarin compound the less active it would become.

Therefore, the relative contribution that silibinin and taxifolin may have on the reduction in DNA damage mediated by silymarin, and the potential contributing mechanisms which lead to the development of endothelial cell changes in response to glucose and hypoxia was determined.



Fig. 8.1: Proposed oxidation/reduction reaction of taxifolin and coniferyl alcohol

8.3. Materials and Methods

The percentage concentration of silibinin and taxifolin within the silymarin compound was determined using Capillary Zone Electrophoresis (Section 2.9). The effect of glucose concentration, oxygen tension, silymarin (50 μ M), silibinin (25 μ M) and/or taxifolin (600 μ M) on DNA integrity was determined using the comet assay (Section 2.4). HUVECs were cultured as described in Section 2.2.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate and repeated on three separate occasions. The test distribution was assumed not to be normal to account for the limitations in sample size. Statistical significance was determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test or Mann-Whitney U test against the test hypothesis (H₀) that there are no differences between the means of the samples. Were p< 0.05 the H₀ must be rejected and the H_A (there is a difference between the means of the samples) accepted. Where data was normalised (100%) a Student's t-test (Mean – 100%/ SEM) and/or ANOVA (with Tukey's post-hoc test) was carried out. The level of significance is expressed as *p< 0.05, **p< 0.01 or ***p< 0.001. No significant difference was assigned to samples where p > 0.05.

8.4. Results

8.4.1. Relative amounts of taxifolin and silibinin found within commercially available silymarin sample

Analysis of the individual electrophoresis fractions of silibinin and taxifolin present in silymarin was carried out using capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) analysis. Quantitative analysis indicated that taxifolin and silibinin was present at levels of 4.1% (Fig. 8.3, Table 8.1) and 46.5% (Fig. 8.4, Table 8.1) of silymarin respectively. The equivalent concentration of taxifolin (600μ M) and silibinin (25μ M) were then used in comparative experiments. It is

however noteworthy that the small area under the curve (AUC) associated with taxifolin may be a source of inaccuracy in the calculation of the final concentration used in all subsequent experiments. **Fig. 8.2:** Electropherogram showing the separation of (a) silymarin (b) taxifolin (c) silibinin. Capillary total length 650mm x 50µm. I.D.; running buffer (pH 2.0) containing 80mM SDS, 50mM DSHP and 25% methanol. Detection at 200nm. Injection time 300s at 50mbar.



(b)





197

Fig 8.3: Separation of taxifolin from silymarin. Results show respective electropherograms of the separation of silymarin (a) and taxifolin (b). Capillary total length 650mm x 50 μ m. I.D.; running buffer (pH 2.0) containing 80mM SDS, 50mM DSHP and 25% methanol. Detection at 280nm. Injection time 300s at 50mbar.



(b)



Fig. 8.4: Separation of silibinin from silymarin. Results show respective electropherograms showing the separation of silymarin (a) and silibinin (b). Capillary total length 650mm x 50 μ m. I.D.; running buffer (pH 2.0) containing 80mM SDS, 50mM DSHP and 25% methanol. Detection at 200nm. Injection time 300s at 50mbar.




(b)



	Total area under the curve (AUC) of silymarin 1:25 [mAU*s]	AUC of identified taxifolin peak in silymarin sample 1:25 [mAU*s]	Percentage Area (%) of total	Molecular equivalent in silymarin sample (µM)
taxifolin	2372	97.3	4.1	600
silibinin	2150.7	1000.3	46.5	25

Table 8.1: Area under the curve (AUC) values for taxifolin and silibinin identified during CZE analysis of a 1M silymarin sample. Percentage analysis (%) indicates that taxifolin represents 4% of the total of the commercially available sample of silymarin while silibinin represents 46.5%.

8.4.2. Effect of taxifolin on DNA damage

Analysis of all antioxidants was limited to HUVECs cultured in high glucose conditions as Chapters Three and Seven have shown that glucose/hypoxia mediated cytotoxicity and the cytoprotective effect of silymarin are limited to these conditions. Analysis of the effect of different taxifolin concentrations (50μ M - 600μ M) on endothelial DNA damage indicate that all three concentrations of taxifolin (600TX: 48 ± 6 ; 100TX: 53 ± 9 ; 50TX: 48 ± 5) as well as silymarin (SM: 60 ± 11) significantly reduces DNA damage in hypoxia treated samples compared to untreated (20H: 78 ± 18) (Fig. 8.5). No effect on DNA damage of either silymarin or taxifolin could be observed in cells cultured in normoxic conditions (20mM) (600TX: 56 ± 8 ; 100TX: 56 ± 6 ; 50TX: 59 ± 4 ; SM: 67 ± 9 ; 20N: 55 ± 11).

8.4.3. Effect of pre-incubation of HUVECs with antioxidants on DNA damage levels

Pre-exposure of cells to antioxidants has to be distinguished from any effect on DNA integrity seen with simultaneous exposure. HUVECs (20mM) were pre-incubated with silymarin (50 μ M) (N: 51 \pm 9; H: 38 \pm 5), taxifolin (600 μ M) (N: 50 \pm 6; H: 42 \pm 9) and silibinin (25 μ M) (N: 64 \pm 7; H: 52 \pm 9) for 24h in hypoxic and normoxic culture conditions (Fig. 8.6). Pre-incubation did not lead to any changes in DNA damage profile compared to acute incubation (Fig. 8.6) (control (N: 60 \pm 8; H: 98 \pm 16); silymarin (N: 68 \pm 9; H:60 \pm 6), taxifolin (N:42 \pm 7; H:50 \pm 2) and silibinin (N:74 \pm 9; H:83 \pm 11)), with the only exception of silibinin. Its cytoprotective effect appeared to be significantly enhanced in hypoxic conditions when cells were pre-incubated (20H: 98 \pm 16; 20HSB: 83 \pm 11). These results suggest that silibinin could be acting through a different mechanism than taxifolin.



Fig. 8.5: Effect of taxifolin (TX) concentration (50μ M - 600μ M) on HUVEC DNA damage levels) incubated in 20mM glucose compared to silymarin (SM) (50μ M) and untreated control (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia). Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media before incubation and subsequent analysis with the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean ± SEM from three separate experiments (n=3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01).



Fig. 8.6: Effect of 24h pre-exposure of HUVECs with silymarin (50 μ M), taxifolin (600 μ M) and silibinin (25 μ M) on hyperglycaemia induced DNA damage (N = normoxia and H = hypoxia) compared to 24h simultaneous exposure as seen in Fig. 8.7. Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media before incubation. Cells were analysed with the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM from three separate experiments (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: ***p < 0.001).

8.4.4. Effect of HIF-1α antisense treatment in addition to silibinin and taxifolin

As with silymarin (Fig. 7.6) the effect of HIF-1 α antisense in addition to treatment with taxifolin or silibinin was assessed. This was examined across the spectrum of concentrations used eg. 5mM & 20mM in both normoxia and hypoxia. A significant decrease in DNA damage was observed in samples treated with taxifolin alone in response to an increase in hypoxia as well as glucose when compared to control (5NTX: 34±1; 20NTX: 43±1, 5HTX: 58±1; 20HTX: 64±1) (Fig. 8.7a). This was accompanied by a further decrease in hypoxia and hyperglycaemia induced DNA damage in samples treated with both taxifolin and HIF-1 α antisense (5NTXAS: 28±1; 20NTXAS: 43±1, 5HTXAS: 43±1; 20HTXAS: 52±1).

Addition of silibinin to HUVECs did not result in a significant change of DNA damage level compared to control except for samples incubated in both high glucose concentration and hypoxia (20H: 188±2; 20HSB: 81 ± 1). Addition of HIF-1 α antisense to silibinin treated cells had no effect on DNA damage levels compared to silibinin treatement alone (Fig. 8.7 b).

8.4.5. Superoxide radical production in silymarin, taxifolin and silibinin treated HUVECs

Using a commercially available kit, the total superoxide radical production in response to antioxidants, silymarin (50 μ M), taxifolin (600 μ M) and silibinin (25 μ M) was determined. The percentage proportion of superoxide radicals found in mitochondria and the cytoplasm was analysed. The results show no significant change in superoxide radical production in and between any of the treatment groups (p > 0.05) (Fig. 8.8 – 8.10). However for cells incubated with silymarin and silibinin there was a decrease in mitochondrial SOD associated with an increase in cytoplasmic SOD. In contrast no such correlation was evident for taxifolin indicating that these antioxidants do not protect HUVECs from a loss of DNA intetegrity in response to hyperglycaemia and/ or hypoxia by acting on superoxide radical production or scavenging.

Fig. 8.7: Determination of the effect HIF-1 α antisense (AS) treatment (2 μ M) has on the level of DNA damage induced in taxifolin (600 μ M TX) (a) and silibinin (25 μ M SB) (b) treated HUVECs. Cells were stepped down overnight in glucose free/serum free media before 24h incubation. Cells were analysed using the comet assay. The results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 3) (Kruskal-Wallis test: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001).



(b)

(a)



Fig. 8.8: Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical formation in response to changes in glucose (5mM and 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia; H = hypoxia) in silymarin (50 μ M) treated HUVECs. The change in superoxide radical formation is compared relative to total cellular superoxide radical control (5N = 100%). (a) total superoxide radical formation in HUVECs (b) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in mitochondria (c) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in the cytoplasm. Samples were analysed using a SOD-WST kit. Each bar represents the mean ± SEM from three different experiments (n = 3) (Student's t-test and ANOVA plus post hoc test: p > 0.05).

(a) total cellular







(c)

cytoplasmic



Fig. 8.9: Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical formation in response to changes in glucose (5 & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia; H = hypoxia) in taxifolin (600 μ M) treated HUVECs. The change in superoxide radical formation is compared relative to total cellular superoxide radical control (5N = 100%). (a) total superoxide radical formation in HUVECs (b) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in mitochondria (c) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in the cytoplasm. Samples were analysed using a SOD-WST kit. Each bar represents the mean ± SEM from three different experiments (n = 3) (Student's t-test; p > 0.05).

(a) total cellular







(c) cytoplasmic



Fig. 8.10: Determination of changes in cellular superoxide radical formation in response to changes in glucose (5 & 20mM) and oxygen concentration (N = normoxia; H = hypoxia) in silibinin (25 μ M) treated HUVECs. The change in superoxide radical formation is compared relative to total cellular superoxide radical control (5N = 100%). (a) total superoxide radical formation in HUVECs (b) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in mitochondria (c) percentage proportion superoxide radical formation found in the cytoplasm. Samples were analysed using a SOD-WST kit. Each bar represents the mean ± SEM from three different experiments (n = 3) (Student's t-test: p > 0.05).

(a) total cellular







(c) cytoplasmic



8.5. Discussion

Results showing the beneficial effects of taxifolin and silibinin on reducing DNA damage mediated by high glucose and hypoxia facilitate our understanding of silymarin effects. Although taxifolin is not considered as an active component of silymarin, these results raise questions about its role in the protective effects of silymarin. With the lack of standardisation of the relative components of silymarin, this may contribute to variation in effectiveness.

At a concentration of 600μ M – 50μ M taxifolin has a strong cytoprotective property reducing the loss of DNA integrity in response to high glucose and/ or hypoxic conditions (Fig. 8.5). This effect is as potent as that of silymarin and appears to be independent of the concentration used in this study (Fig. 8.5). Since taxifolin is classed as a flavonoid antioxidant, its effect does not come as a surprise. What is surprising is that the potent effect of taxifolin does not appear to be concentration dependent, suggesting that its powerful effects can be achieved with very small quantities as low as 50μ M equivalent to $1/12^{th}$ of the total taxifolin concentration found in the silymarin sample tested. At this level taxifolin would hardly be detectable within the silymarin complex and would indeed be classified as a likely "impurity". The fact that it is a very potent DNA protective agent even at this very low concentration adds weight to the hypothesis that silymarin contains impurities which are more potent than silyamrin itself (Kvasnička *et al.* 2003). As it was not possible to find any references to the amount of taxifolin commonly used in *in vitro* studies (or the amount present in the maritime bark extract), it is difficult to place these and any future work into a context with previous findings.

A study looking at the cytoprotective effectiveness of 25μ M silibinin revealed that silibinin is not as potent a cytoprotective agent as taxifolin (Fig. 8.6). Since the molecular weight for silymarin is sometimes misleadingly quoted as that of silibinin, a concentration of 50μ M was chosen which is equivalent to the final concentration of silymarin used. Since the CZE anlaysis (Fig. 8.4) revealed that only approx 50% of the total amount is composed of silibinin the effects were compared to a concentrations of 25μ M which is representative of the true contribution of silibinin in the silymarin complex.

Despite the fact that the potency of silibinin as a therapeutic agent has been convincingly shown (Lirussi *et al.* 2002) these results would suggest that although silibinin is a potent cytoprotective agent, it is not the sole reason for the therapeutic effectiveness of the silymarin compound. Taxifolin, the "parent compound" appears to be more potent than silibinin. In an attempt to confirm these results a direct comparison study was carried out comparing 50µM silymarin against the effect of 600µM taxifolin and 25µM silibinin. As Fig. 8.6 clearly shows taxifolin is a more potent cytoprotective agent than silibinin significantly reducing hypoxia/hyperglycaemia induced DNA damage after 24h (simultaneous exposure). At a concentration of 25µM silibinin failed to induce a significant cyto-protective effect (simultaneous exposure).

The protective effectiveness of neither silymarin nor taxifolin are affected in any way when added prior to test conditions (pre-exposure), although silibinin (25μ M) was found to be significantly more effective in protecting the cell against hypoxia/hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial DNA damage (pre-exposure), indicating that its potency is dependent on the activation of the mechanisms that prepare the cell to cope with the change in glucose concentration and oxygen tension. This could help explain the many *in vivo* results for silibinin found in the literature in which studies are carried out over a period of weeks/months, with silibinin content varying from product to product (and possibly batch to batch) due to the lack of standardisation of the extraction process and composition requirements for silymarin. Taken together, these results add weight to the suggestion that silibinin is not the sole reason for the therapeutic effectiveness of silymarin, with taxifolin potentially playing a very significant but potentially distinct role. As demonstrated in Chapters Five and Six, HIF-1 α could potentially contribute to the observed hypoxia/hyperglycaemia-induced endothelial DNA damage while the cytoprotective effect of silymarin does not seem to be attributable to a direct effect on HIF-1 α . Fig. 8.7 illustrates the effect of HIF-1 α antisense treatment in both 600 μ M taxifolin (a) and 25 μ M silibinin (b) treated HUVECs. As with silymarin, a reduction in DNA damage can be expected if either antioxidant acts on or downstream of HIF-1 α with the levels increasing when antisense is added. Taxifolin does not appear to act on HIF-1 α , as DNA damage levels are further reduced with the addition of HIF-1 α antisense (Fig. 8.7a). Results for silibinin are less clear, since the removal of HIF-1 α has no effect on DNA damage levels. The most likely cause is a protective mechanism totally independent of HIF-1 α but mirrors the findings for silymarin-treated HIF-1 α antisense samples (Fig. 7.6). Although these results still do not offer an answer as to whether the effect of silymarin and its components is achieved by acting on the hypoxia inducible factor -1 α it appears likely that both taxifolin and silibinin act through two very different mechanisms with taxifolin mediated protection being afforded independent of HIF-1 α .

Silymarin has shown to have a potent cytoprotective effect on endothelial DNA damage (Fig. 7.3). This poses the question as to the type of radical(s) silymarin or any of its constituents acts on (if any). The literature reports evidence for silymarin acting on hydrogen peroxide (Wang *et al.* 2005), superoxide radicals (Kostyuk *et al.* 2004) and recently even phenylglyoxylic ketyl radicals (Sersen *et al.* 2006).

Figures 8.8 to 8.10 show results for the effects of silymarin, taxifolin and silibinin on superoxide radical production in the mitochondrial as well as the cytoplasmic fraction. No statistical difference can be seen between any of these compounds (p > 0.05). This lack of

effect is surprising, since the effect of silymarin on mitochondrial generated ROS was very prominent and given the potent nature of all three antioxidants a change in superoxide radical production was anticipated. This could have been caused by the limitations in sample size and method of analysis. Future studies should take these limitations into account and include the analysis of other radicals such as OH or H_2O_2 .

These results indicate that endothelial cell DNA damage observed after 24h seen with an exposure of high glucose and low oxygen (Fig. 3.5) does not seem to be due to mitochondrial produced superoxide radicals (Fig. 4.9, 8.8-10) and other radicals such as hydrogen peroxide, nitric oxide and peroxynitrite need to be investigated.

8.6. Conclusion

Evidence provided in this Chapter suggests an important role for the formerly perceived impurity taxifolin as a potent cytoprotective agent in the silymarin complex. It is evident that both taxifolin and silibinin act via different mechanisms to exert their cytoprotective effect. More studies into possible mechanisms and stress pathways such as PKC, p42/44 or PI3K as well as the effects of the flavonoid antioxidants on these pathways need to be carried out.

8.7. Limitations

CZE analysis, to identify the relative amounts of silibinin and taxifolin in our commercially available silymarin sample was chosen over HPLC due to its lower cost, short analysis time and easy implementation. Silymarin samples were spiked with the compound of interest and the resulting electropherograms used to identify and measure the area(s) under the curve of silibinin and taxifolin. From that we were able to obtain the relative amount of both taxifolin and silibinin present in the silymarin sample. It is widely documented that in CZE analysis problems arise concerning the reproducibility of the measurements (Bächmann *et al.* 1994). This is thought to be due to sample preparation, separation such as variations in electroossmotic flow, analyte velocities and the discontinuous use of high voltage (Bächmann *et al.* 1994, Li *et al.* 2006). This was evident in our CZE output where the retention time for taxifolin (Fig. 8.3) changed from 22min to 22.8min and the retention time for silibinin (Fig. 8.4) changed from 14.4min to 16.6min. This could have been caused in part, by the use of a pseudo-stationary phase and eliminated by the use of further internal standards.

An additional contributing factor is the separation of polyphenolic compounds itself, as the polarity of the compound which is associated with the number of hydroxyl groups, can affect retention times (Wang *et al.* 2007). This is important as compounds such as taxifolin are made up of different isomers which have not yet been successfully isolated. The presence of isomers and other unknown impurities may have an impact on the number of hydroxyl groups present and whence may affect retention times. This requires strict and elaborate optimization of the sample preparation such as the method of extraction and the requirement to concentrate the sample prior to use. In addition, separation factors including buffer type, concentration and pH, the presence of various additives, voltage and temperature, as well as detection method are important factors to consider (Li *et al.* 2006). However, these were outwith the scope and time frame of this thesis but should be determined prior to any further more detailed work using silibinin and taxifolin is carried out.

Despite the limitations highlighted, the CZE analysis was sufficient for the relative amounts of silibinin and taxifolin to be determined prior to their preliminary comparison with silymarin.

CHAPTER NINE: Discussion

It is well established that diabetes mellitus is associated with an increase in oxidative stress (Baynes *et al.* 1999; Son *et al.* 2007) which is believed to play a key role in the pathogenesis of diabetic vascular dysfunction (Panus *et al.* 2003; Tesfamariam *et al.* 2007). The results presented in this thesis indicate that glucose and oxygen exhibit distinct yet potentially additive effects on endothelial cells which results in changes in cell proliferation and DNA damage.

Literature reports on the effect of high glucose in endothelial cells show a reduction in cell proliferation (Lorenzi *et al.* 1986; Varma *et al.* 2005), abnormal cell cycling (Lorenzi *et al.* 1987) and an increase in apoptosis over time (Baumgartnet-Parzer *et al.* 1995), whereas exposure of endothelial cells to hypoxia has been shown to accelerate cell proliferation as seen in tumour aetiology (Vender *et al.* 1992; Byrne *et al.* 2005). Although the exact mechanisms for the differing effects on cell proliferation remains unclear, ROS and ROS associated signalling pathways seem to play a key role. Sheu *et al.* (2005) have shown that high glucose causes ROS generation in HUVECs via a PI3K/Akt-dependent pathway. PI3K-Akt dependent signalling plays a crucial role in cell survival, proliferation, microvascular permeability and angiogenesis (Varma *et al.* 2005), while hypoxia associated high flux of NO in contrast promotes cell death via the inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase mediated loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (Lee *et al.* 2002; Walford *et al.* 2004).

Despite the observed acceleration in cell proliferation seen with high glucose concentration and/or low oxygen tension in HUVECs within the first 24h of exposure, our samples show no detectable change in cell viability. This suggests that the associated rise in DNA damage seen in these cells is not due to hyperglycaemia and/or hypoxia induced apoptosis but may indicate a pro-apoptotic state. Jiang *et al.* (2001) have shown that a threshold of DNA damage is necessary for the activation of DNA damage checkpoints and the initiation of DNA repair. It is perceivable that the increase in proliferation rate observed leads to the potentiation of HUVEC DNA damage because the level of DNA damage incurred in response to high glucose concentration and/or low oxygen tension is too low to trigger DNA repair mechanisms prior to replication. This may eventually result in the HUVECs viability and proliferation being compromised, accounting for the frequently reported reduction in cell proliferation and apoptosis often observed with later time points (Lorenzi *et al.* 1986; Varma *et al.* 2005; Baumgartnet-Parzer *et al.* 1995).

One of the most novel and interesting findings of this thesis is the potential additive effect of hypoxia and hyperglycaemia and its resultant impact on cell proliferation, DNA damage and mitochondrial ROS production. Although it is not possible to explain these effects, it is evident that although these stimuli trigger very different signalling cascades the different mediators must converge at some common point in the signalling pathway. Such possible signalling points include mitochondrial ROS production, expression and activation of the transcription factor HIF-1 α and the involvement of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) such as p42/44 which links growth and differentiation signals.

Mitochondrial ROS generation is a key factor in oxidative stress-mediated cell changes (Nishikawa *et al.* 2000). As described in Chapter One, mitochondria produce substantial amounts of ROS which will attack molecular targets such as membrane phospholipids, transporters, enzymes, transcription factors and DNA (Thannickal *et al.* 2000). Hyperglycaemia is thought to be synonymous with an increase in superoxide radical formation from the mitochondria of endothelial cells (Du *et al.* 2003), which possibly accounts for the sharp rise in mitochondrial ROS production observed in our data after 6h exposure to high glucose concentration and low oxygen tension. Du *et al.* (2003) have reported that superoxide production induces DNA strand breaks which in turn leads to the activation of PARP (poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase) a nuclear DNA repair enzyme. PARP

initiates the poly (ADP-ribosyl)ation of GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) a catalytic enzyme involved in glycolysis and a mediator for the activation of biochemical stress pathways. Our results do, however, show a significant increase in mitochondrial ROS production in all four treatment samples, making it an unlikely event attributable specifically to high glucose concentration and/or low oxygen tension alone and is more likely to be the result of stress induced by incubation conditions. Direct measurement of superoxide radical production did also not produce any significant change, adding weight to the notion that superoxide radicals are not the sole cause for the observed rise in redox-sensor red CC-1 fluorescence intensity. Other reactive oxygen species must therefore play an important role in the observed changes. The most likely being nitric oxide (NO).

NO is a highly diffusible gas which can regulate mitochondrial ROS generation on multiple levels (Cassina *et al.* 1996). It can remove O_2 .⁻ from peroxynitrite and via cytochrome c by stabilizing the enzyme and preventing its leakage from the mitochondria (Zhang *et al.* 2007). By acting on cytochrome c, oxidase NO can regulate cellular oxygen consumption (Moncada *et al.* 2002) instigating an event known as "metabolic hypoxia" a condition in which cells and tissues are unable to use oxygen despite it being available (Moncada *et al.* 2002). The signalling consequences of this effect are reported to include the prevention of HIF-1 α stabilization and the activation of AMPK (Quintero *et al.* 2006), both of which are key mediators of cellular stress responses.

Although the measurement of NO production and its related changes in endothelial cells were out with the scope of this thesis, the effect low oxygen tension and high glucose concentration have on HIF-1 α activity in endothelial cells was determined using antisense technology. Our results clearly show the contribution of HIF-1 α in hypoxia-mediated mitochondrial ROS production after 6h (Fig. 5.9) which is reflected in a subsequent increase in DNA damage under the same conditions after 24h (Fig. 5.6), suggesting the involvement of HIF-1 α in the development of the observed hypoxia-mediated endothelial cell changes. Although no comparable reports exist which explore the direct effect HIF-1 α has on endothelial DNA damage, many studies are devoted to the elucidation of the mechanisms leading to the activation of HIF-1a under oxygen dependent (Wenger et al. 2000) and independent (Semenza et al. 2002) pathways. It appears that the hypoxia-induced activation of HIF-1 α is regulated by different mechanisms from its stabilisation and DNA binding (Hur et al. 2001). Many reports show that the activation of p42/44 MAPK appears to be a critical step in the transcription HIF-1a (Richards et al. 1999, Hofer et al. 2001, Hur et al. 2001) while endogenous NO formation seems to induce HIF-1a accumulation, HIF-1 DNA binding and downstream target expression in normoxic conditions (Brune et al. 2003). High glucose concentration has also been shown to increase p42/44, activity resulting in eNOS expression in HUVECs (Vasquez et al. 2007). If the hypothesis that the observed DNA damage in HUVECs is linked to a p42/44 dependent effect on HIF-1 α transcription is correct, then the use of the p42/44 MAPK inhibitor, PD98059, should result in the protection of HUVECs against DNA damage, similar to the effect seen with HIF-1a antisense. Our results, however, show no significant effect of PD98059 on DNA damage (Fig. 6.2), although a slight reduction in DNA damage can be seen in samples cultured in both high glucose concentration and low oxygen tension simultaneously for 24h an effect which might be more pronounced with an increase in sample number. It is however unlikely that the p42/44 dependent effect on HIF-1 α is a suitable explanation for our observations. This is not necessarily surprising as mechanisms of oxygen sensing and signalling during hypoxia and normoxia involve different pathways in various cell types (Lopez-Barneo et al. 2001). In addition, the findings from Fig. 5.9 also show a significant rise in mitochondrial ROS production in the presence of HIF-1 α antisense under normoxic conditions (6h) making it altogether unlikely that we are looking at a HIF-1 α dependent effect on DNA damage in normoxia, while the HIF-1 α activation appears to be involved in hypoxia induced DNA damage.

Interesting points have been highlighted in the course of these investigations, including the difference between high and low oxygen tension on endothelial cell responses and the immediate mitochondrial response present after 6h which is seemingly manifested as endothelial DNA damage after 24h. These changes in CC-1 fluorescence are possibly due to the effect of incubating cells over-night in glucose free/serum free media and the subsequent "strain" of restoring glucose levels. As the ability to restore glucose concentration is not influenced by any of the subsequent culture conditions, the DNA damage seen in 20mM hypoxia must be independent of the fluorescence changes observed after 6h which suggests that ROS production is not involved to a significant extent.

The use of flavonoid antioxidants provide further insight into events leading to DNA damage. These compounds have been explored extensively for their chemopreventative potential for many types of human cancers (Soobattree *et al.* 2006; Qin *et al.* 2007). Our results clearly show that silymarin has a strong protective effect on DNA damage of HUVECs cultured in hypoxia for 24h which results in a significant reduction in DNA damage in both low and high glucose concentrations (Fig. 7.3). At the same time, it has no effect on cells cultured in normoxia for 24h (Fig. 7.3), seemingly even leading to the induction of DNA damage between 1h, 6h and 24h (Fig. 7.4).

This distinct effect highlights once more that a change in cellular oxygen concentration triggers distinct signalling pathways, which may contribute to the development of endothelial DNA damage. The observed hypoxia-dependent DNA protective effect of silymarin is in agreement with its anti-carcinogenic properties, as tumour aetiology may be characterised by hypoxia due to the inadequate supply of oxygen triggered by cellular proliferation (Shannon *et al.* 2003). The expression of genes controlling tumour cell survival

such as hypoxia-responsive transcription factors (HIF-1 α), which modulate the expression of genes that promote tumour growth and growth factors, such as VEGF, which govern the formation of new blood vessels known as angiogenesis, are regulated by hypoxia (Shannon *et al.* 2003). In 2000, Jiang *et al.* showed that silymarin led to a dose-dependent decrease in VEGF level in human prostate and breast-cancer epithelial cells (Jiang *et al.* 2000). Since VEGF expression is HIF-1 α dependent a reduction in VEGF expression could be association with a reduction in HIF-1 α activity. Furthermore, a reduction in VEGF expression would lead to a reduction of cell proliferation and angiogenesis.

Looking at those parameters in our study, we were unable to observe an effect of silymarin on HUVEC proliferation (Fig. 7.2) after 24h, or any effect of HIF-1 α antisense in addition to silymarin on endothelial DNA damage (Fig. 7.6), suggesting that the mechanism of action through which silymarin protects endothelial DNA against hypoxia-dependent changes is possibly not VEGF dependent. However, no direct comparison can be established to the results of Jiang *et al.* (2000) or indeed any of the existing literature, as cancer cell lines behave very differently from healthy endothelial cells lines. In order to further elucidate the mechanisms through which silymarin acts, the effect of taxifolin and silibinin, two of the compounds found within the silymarin extract, on DNA damage was assessed.

Taxifolin shows a very potent DNA protective effect in hypoxia, while the use of silibinin shows no effect on the level of DNA damage incurred by hypoxia after 24h (Fig. 8.5 & 8.6). This is somewhat surprising as silibinin is thought to be the most therapeutically active component of the silymarin compound, while taxifolin has not been attributed as an important therapeutic role (Flora *et al.* 1998; Gazak *et al.* 2007). Silibinin has been extensively researched in many areas and has been found to have an anti-tumourgenic effect, act as a neuro, nephro, and cardio-protector, interact with steroid hormone receptors to exert an antiandrogenic effect, have an anti-inflammatory and a gastro-protective effect as well as being useful against the development of multidrug resistance through the accumulation of daunomycin in P-glycoprotein-positive cells (Křen *et al.* 2005). It is therefore surprising that it does not appear to be the compound which is the most DNA protective. One possible explanation could be its reported action as an iron-chelating agent (Borsari *et al.* 2001).

Iron chelators such as desferrioxamine, bind excess iron in the blood stream and lead to its excretion. It has been suggested that iron chelators may modulate certain inflammatory mediators as they seem to be able to induce the transcription of NO synthase and the subsequent release of interleukin-1 β in human alveolar macrophages (O'Brien-Ladner *et al.* 1998; Dalska *et al.* 1998). Woo *et al.* (2006) hypothesise that desferrioxamine increases HIF-1 α protein stability through induction of COX-2 under hypoxic conditions in human colon cancer cells (Woo *et al.* 2006). If we work on the assumption that silibinin, as an iron chelator, enhances HIF-1 α stability (as hypoxia has been shown to induce COX-2 in HUVECs (Schmedtje *et al.* 1997)) then the addition of silibinin in our experimental conditions would lead to an increase in HIF-1 α activity which we believe contributes to the development of endothelial DNA damage. This could explain why silibinin in contrast to taxifolin has no DNA protective effect after 24h.

However, the addition of HIF-1 α antisense to silibinin treated cells has no effect on DNA damage levels (Fig. 8.8b). If silibinin acted by stabilising HIF-1 α , then we would expect to see a rise in DNA damage levels. Since this is not the case, it is unlikely that silibinin/ silymarin acts by stabilising HIF-1 α . We do, however, have no evidence to corroborate this suggestion.

The role of taxifolin within the silymarin compound is clearly very important as it seems to account for a significant proportion of its DNA protective effect. However, literature reports surrounding taxifolin do not provide much insight into any possible mechanisms of action as it is mainly used in comparison studies alongside quercetin, its close structural relative, and other flavonoid antioxidants. No studies have, to our knowledge, been carried out looking at the mechanism of taxifolin as a potential therapeutic agent. It is perceivable that taxifolin, as the parent compound found in the milk thistle plant, is an important therapeutically active compound found in the silymarin extract and not just a mere impurity.

9.2. Conclusion

The mechanisms leading to endothelial DNA damage in response to oxidative stress are clearly very complex. Glucose and oxygen exhibit distinct yet potentially additive effects on endothelial cells which results in changes in cell proliferation and DNA damage within 24h of exposure. This DNA damage appears to be mediated via the mitochondria and there seems to be a close relationship between cellular ROS production and HIF-1 α activity. It appears that HIF-1 α is involved in the development of endothelial DNA damage. The flavonoid antioxidant silymarin protects glucose treated HUVECs under hypoxic conditions. Many of these effects appear to be due to the taxifolin component of the silymarin compound.

9.3. Limitations of thesis and directions for future work

This study has identified a number of interesting findings that are dependent on changes in glucose and oxygen concentration which merit further investigation.

1. To compare the effects seen in HUVECs with other micro- and macrovascular tissues in primary cell culture.

The data collected in this thesis was observed in a well established model system for the study of endothelial function, using a reputable cell line. Although established cell lines are widely used models for preliminary studies, their significance is limited by the use of culture clones, a constraint avoided with the use of primary cells.

As the results obtained indicate early and potentially additive cellular responses to changes in glucose concentration and oxygen tension, future research would benefit greatly from the investigation of these changes in primary cultures of micro- and macrovascular tissue(s). Such as the use of bovine- or human retinal endothelial cells (McBain *et al.* 2003, MacKinnon *et al.* 2004), cell culture of peripheral neurons and Schwann cells (Sango *et al.* 2006) and primary culture of HUVECs (Piconi *et al.* 2006).

Careful consideration will need to be given to the culture conditions used as the concentration of glucose and oxygen tension reported in the literature is widely varied. Other limitations of *in vitro* cell culture models compared to *in vivo* models of diabetes include the lack of interaction with other cell/tissue types and a lack of insulin release in response to the addition of glucose. Nevertheless the identification of the responses to changes in glucose and oxygen in those tissues will provide important information about potential early cellular changes which occur and possible mechanistic events which may contribute to the process of endothelial dysfunction.

2. To optimise the CZE analysis, carefully looking at sample preparation, method of extraction, buffer concentrations and pH, voltage, temperature and method of detection (HPLC/CZE), in order to separate all the individual components of silymarin.

The composition of silymarin has been determined with various degrees of success. Literature reports detail a considerable number of isomers, flavonolignans and acids (Frömming *et al.* 1999, Carrier *et al.* 2004). This discrepancy is mainly due to the lack of standardised composition of commercially available silymarin and the different extraction methods used such as hot water (Barreto et al. 2003) and organic solvent extraction (Wallace *et al.* 2003). This poses considerable problems with respect to the interpretation of results and their comparison to other reported literature findings. As evident in the electropherograms presented in this thesis (Fig.8.2) compounds such as silibinin and taxifolin can be identified but are clearly made up of many unknown isomeric forms and compounds, the presence of which can affect retention times and reproducibility of the data.

It would be of enormous benefit to this and other studies to completely separate and identify all the components found in the silymarin sample used. This requires detailed optimisation of the CZE analysis such as sample preparation and concentration, buffer- type, -concentration and pH, the discontinuous use of high voltage and the associated variations in electroosmotic flow, presence of additives and temperature changes. A comparison between CZE and HPLC separation would also be desirable.

In order to clearly determine the therapeutic effects of any of these compounds, complete and detailed separation is necessary and would not only be beneficial for the interpretation of our data but also hugely contribute to the interpretation of other reported literature findings. Other work which will further clarify cellular mechanisms involved include:

- 3. The determination of apoptosis markers seen with changes in glucose concentration and oxygen tension to distinguish between reversible endothelial DNA damage and irreversible cell death which impacts on the cellular ability to cope with repeated exposure to abnormal glucose and oxygen levels.
- 4. A detailed analysis of mitochondrial ROS production including superoxide and peroxynitrite to better understand the immediate cellular responses.
- 5. The use of molecular cloning techniques to determine HIF-1α gene expression and stability in response to abnormal glucose and oxygen levels and its subsequent effect on endothelial DNA damage and pro-apoptotic pathways.

CHAPTER TEN: References

- A
- Adams KL, Palmer JD. (2003) Evolution of mitochondrial gene content: gene loss and transfer to the nucleus. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*. 29:380–395.
- Ahmad N, Gali H, Javed S, Agrwal R. (1998) Skin Cancer Chemopreventive Effects of a Flavonoid Antioxidant Silymarin are mediated via impaired of receptor tyrosine Kinase signaling and pertubation in cell cycle progression. *Biochemical and Biophysical research Communications*. 247(2):294-301.
- Ahned N. (2005) Advanced glycation endproducts—role in pathology of diabetic complications. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 67(1):3-21.
- Aiello LP, Clermont A, Arora V, Davis MD, Sheetz MJ, Bursell SE. (2006) Inhibition of PKC beta by oral administration of ruboxistaurin is well tolerated and ameliorates diabetes-induced retinal hemodynamic abnormalities in patients. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 47(1):86-92.
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P editor(s), 2001. DNA Replication, repair, and recombination. In : *Molecular Bioloy of The Cell*. Fourth ed. New York : Garland Science.
- Aleksandrovski YA. (1998) Molecular Mechanisms of Diabetic Complications. Biochemistry (Moscow). 63(11):1249-1257
- Alidoost F, Gharagozloo M, Bagherpour B, Jafarian A, Sajjadi SE, Hourfar H, Moayedi B. (2006) Effects of silymarin on the proliferation and glutathione levels of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from beta-thalassemia major patients. *International Immunopharmacology*. 6(8):1305-1310.
- Anderson D, Yu T.-W., Phillips BJ, Schmezer P. (1994) The effect of various antioxidants and other modifying agents on oxygen-radical-generated DNA damage in human lymphocytes in the COMET assay. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*. 307(1):261-271.
- Aragones J, Jones DR, Martin S, San Juan MA, Alfranca A, Vidal F, Vara A, Merida I, Landazuri MO. (2001) Evidence for the involvement of diacylglycerol kinase in the activatin of hypoxia inducible transcription factor 1 by low oxygen tension. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 276(13):10548-10555.
- Areias FM, Rego AC, Oliveira CR, Seabra RM. (2001) Antioxidant effect of flavonoids after ascorbate/Fe²⁺ - induced oxidative stress in cultured retinal cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology*. 62:11-118
- Armstrong JS. (2006) Mitochondria: a target for cancer therapy. British Journal of Pharnacology. 147(3):239-248.
- Aronis A, Komarnitsky R, Shilo S, Tirosh O. (2002) Membrane depolarization of isolated rat liver mitochondria attenuates permeability transition pore opening and oxidant production. *Antioxidant and Redox Signalling*. 4(4):647-654.
- Arjamaa O, Nikinmaa M. (2006) Oxygen-dependent diseases in the retina: Role of hypoxiainducible factors. *Experimental Eye Research*. 83(3):473-483.
- Astley S, Langrish-Smith A, Southon S, Sampson M. (1999) Vitamin E Supplementation and Oxidative damage to DNA and Plasma LDL in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 22(10):1626–1631.
- Avignon A, Sultan A. (2006) PKC-B inhibition: a new therapeutic approach for complications? *Diabetes Metabolism*. 32(3):205-213.

B

- Barreto JF, Wallace SN, Carrier DJ, Clausen EC. (2003) Extraction of neutraceuticals from milk thistle: I. Hot water extraction. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*. 105 - 108: 881-889.
- Barnes D. Normal metabolism: the physiology of fuel homeostasis. In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 11. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997
- Barzilai A, Yamamoto K. (2004) DNA damage responses to oxidative stress. DNA Repair (Amst). 3(8-9):1109-1115.

- Baumgartner-Prazer SM, Wagner L, Pettermann M, grillari J, Gessl A, Waldhausl W. (1995) High-glucose –triggered appoptosis in cultured endothelial cells. *Diabetes*. 44(11):1323-1327.
- Bächmann K, Göttlicher B, Haag I, Hensel W. (1994) Improvement of reproducibility in capillary zone electrophoresis by sequential application of high voltage and pressure. 350(12):716-717.
- Baynes JW. (1991) Perspectives in Diabetes: Role of Oxidative Stress in Development of Complications in Diabetes. *Diabetes*. 40:405-412
- Baynes JW, Thorpe SR. (1999) Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: a new perspective on an old pradigm. *Diabetes*. 48(1):1-9.
- Bell GI, Kayano T, Buse JB, Burant CF, Takeda J, lin D, Fukumoto H, Seino S. (1990) Molecular biology of mammalian glucose transporters. *Diabetes Care*. 13(3): 198-208.
- Bicknell, R., ed. 2004. Endothelial Cell Culture. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bierman EL, Baker EM, Plough IC, Hall WH. (1959) Metabolism of d-ribose in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes*. 8:455-458.
- Bito T, Roy S, Sen CK, Sjirakawa T, Gotoh A, Ueda M, Ichihashi M, Packer L. (2002) Flavonoids differentially regulate IFNγ-induced ICAM-1 expression in human keratinocytes: molecular mechanisms of action. FEBS Letters. 520:145-152.
- Bloomgarden ZT. (2002) The Epidemiology of Complications. *Diabetes Care*. 25(5):924-932.
- Bohr VA. (2002) Repair of oxidative DNA damage in nuclear and mitochondrial DNA, and some changes with aging in mammalian cells. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 32:804-812.
- Borinquel S, Valle I, Cadenas S, Lamas S, Monsalye M. (2006) Nitric oxide regulates mitochondrial oxidative stress protection via the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 alpha. *FASEB Journal*. 20(11):1889-1891.
- Borsari M, Gabbi C, Ghelfi F, Grandi R, Saladini M, Servi S, Borella F. (2001) Silybin, a new iron-chelating agent. Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry. 85(2-3): 123-129.
- Boyer J, Liu RH. (2004) Apple phytochemicals and their health benefits. *Nutrition Journal*. 3(1):5.
- Boyle AJ, Kelly DJ, Zhang Y, Cox AJ, Gow RM, Way K, Itescu S, Krum H, Gilbert RE. (2005) Inhibition of protein kinase C reduces left ventricular fibrosis and dysfunction following myocardial infarction. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*. Aug;39(2):213-221.
- Brar BK, Jonassen AK, Stephanou A, Santilli G, Railson J, Knight RA, Yellon DM, Latchman DS. (2000) Urocortinprotects against ischemic and reperfusion injury via a MAPK-dependent pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 275:8508-8514.
- Breiter-Hahn J, Munnich A, Woiteneck P. (1998) Dependence of energy metabolism on the density of cell culture in culture. *Cell Structure and Function.* 23(2): 85-93.
- Breschi MC, Martinotti E, Apostoliti F, Nieri P. (2002) Protective effect of silymarin in antigen challenge- and histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in *in vivo* guinea-pigs. *European Journal of Phamracology*. 437(1-2):91-95.
- Bril V, Buchanan RA. (2006) Long-term effects of ranirestat (AS-3201) on peripheral nerve function in patients with diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Care*. 29(1):68-72.
- Brown GC. (2007) Nitric oxide and mitochondria. Frontiers in Bioscience. 12:1024-33.
- Brownlee M. (2001) Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. *Nature*. 414:813-820.
- Brownlee M. (2005) The pathophysiology of diabetic complications. A unifying mechanism. *Diabetes*. 54:1615-1625.
- Bruick R. (2000) Expression of the gene encoding the proapoptotic Nip3 protein is induced by hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science United States of*

America. 97: 9082-9087.

- Brune B, Zhou J. (2003) The role of nitric oxide (NO) in stability regulation of hypoxia inducible factor- lalpha (HIF-lalpha). *Current Medicinal Chemistry.* 10(10):845-855.
- Brunelle JK, Chandel NS. (2002) Oyxgen depriviation induced cell death: an update. *Apoptosis*. 7(6):475-482.
- Buckman JF, Hernandez H, kress GJ, Votyakova TV, Pal S, Reynolds IJ. (2001) MitoTracker labelling in primary neuronal and astrocytic cultures: influence of mitochondrial membrane potential and oxidants. *Journal of Neuroscientific Methods*. 104:165-176.
- Buras JA, Stahl GL, Svoboda KK, Reenstra WR. (2000) Hyperbaric oxygen downregulates ICAM-1 expression induced by hypoxia and hypoglycaemia: the role of NOS. 278(2):C292-302.
- Buttke TM, Sandstrom PA.(1994) Oxidative stress as a mediator of apoptosis. Immunology Today. 15: 7-10.
- Byrne AM, Boucier-Hayes DJ, Harmey JH. (2005) Angiogenic and cell survival functions of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 9(4):777-794.

С

- Calles-Escandon J, Cipolla M. (2001) Diabetes and Endothelial Dysfunction: A Clinical Perspective. *Endocrine Reviews*. 22(1):36-52.
- Cameron NE, Cotter MA. (1999) Effects of antioxidants on nerve and vascular dysfunction in experimental diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 45(2-3): 137-146.
- Carrier DJ, Wallace S, Van A, Beitle R, Clausen E, Griffis C. [68c] Extraction of flavonolignans from Milk Thistle. http://www.aiche.org/conferences/techprogram/paperdetail.asp?PaperID=3652&DS N [21/06/2004]
- Casanello P, Torres A, Sanhueza F, González M, Farías M, Gallardo V, Pastor-Anglada M, San Martín R, Sobrevia L. (2005) Equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 expression is downregulated by hypoxia in human umbilical vein endothelium. *Circulation Research*.97(1):16-24.
- Casellini CM, Barlow PM, Rice AL, Casey M, Simmons K, Pittenger G, Bastyr EJ, Wolka AM, Vinik AI. (2007) A 6-month, randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled study evaluating the effects of the protein kinase C-beta inhibitor robuxistaurin on skin microvascular blood flow and other measures of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Diabetes Care.* 30(4):896-902.
- Cassina A, Radi R. (1996) Differential inhibitory action of nitric oxide and preoxynitrite on mitochondrial electron transport. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 328(2):309-316.
- Catrina SB, Okamoto K, Pereira T, brismar K, Poellinger L. (2004) Hyperglycaemia regulates hypoxia-inducible factor -1alpha protein stability and function. *Diabetes*. 53(12):3226-3232.
- Cavallo-Perin P, Cassader M, Bozzo C, Bruno A, Nuccio P, Dall'Omo AM, Marucci M,Pagano G (1985) Mechanism of insulin resistance in human liver chirrosis. Evidence of a combined receptor and [pstreceptor defect. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 75(5):1659-1665.
- Ceriello A. (2000) Oxidative Stress and Glycaemic Regulation. *Metabolism*. 49(2) Suppl 1:27-29.
- Chai W, Chen J, Wang H, Shen J, Ma L, Ma X. (2000) The effect of glucose, insulin and oxidized low density lipoprotein on apoptosis in vascular endothelial cells. *Chinese Medicine Journal*. 113(10):903-906.
- Chan CB, MacDonald PE, Saleh MC, Johns DC, Marban E, Wheeler MB. (1999)

Overexpression of uncoupling protein 2 inhibits glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from rat islets. *Diabetes*. 48(7):1482-1486.

- Chan DC. (2006) Mitochondria: dynamic organelles in disease, aging, and development. Cell. 125(7):1241-1252.
- Chan DC. (2006) Mitochondrial fusion and fission in mammals. Annual Review of cell and Developmental Biology. 22:79-99.
- Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, athieu CE, Simon MC, Schumacker, PT. (1998) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 95: 11715-11720.
- Chaudry A. (2004) Cell Culture. The Science Creative Quarterly. 3: 2007-2008.
- Chavez JC, Almahanna K, Berti-Mattera LN. (2005) Transient expression of hypoxiainducible factor-1 alpha and target genes in peripheral nerves from diabetic rats. *Neuroscience Letters*. 374(3):179-182.
- Chen L, Alam T, Johnson JH, Hughes S, Newgard CB, Unger RH. (1990) Regulation of beta-cell glucose transporter gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 87(11):4088-4092.
- Chen CS, Gee KR. (2000) Redox-dependent trafficking of 2,3,4,5,6pentafluorodihydrotetramethylrosamine, a novel fluorogenic indicator of cellular oxidative activity. *Free Radical Biology Medicine*. 28(8):1266-1278.
- Chen Q, Crosby M, Almasan A (2003) Redox regulation of apoptosis before and after cytorchrome c release. Korean Journal of Biological Science. 7(1):1-9.
- Chen D, Li M, Luo J, Gu W. (2003) Direct interactions between HIF-1 aplpha and Mdm2 modulate p53 function. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 278:13595-13598
- Chen K, Keany jr. JF. (2004) Reactive oxygen species-mediated signal transduction in the endothelium. *Endothelium*. 11:109-121.
- Clayton DA, Noda JN, Friedberg EC. (1974) The absence of pyrimidine dimer repair mechanism in mammalian mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 71:2777-2781.
- Cobb MH. (1999) MAP kinase pathways. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology. 71:479-500.
- Collins AR, Duthie SJ, Dobson VL. (1993) Direct enzymic detection of endogenous oxidative base damage in human lymphocyte DNA. *Carcinogenesis*. 14(9):1733-1735.
- Collins TJ, Berridge MJ, Lipp P, Bootman MD. (2002) Mitochondria are morphologically and functionally heterogeneous within cells? *The EMBO Journal*. 21(7):1616-1627.
- Collins AR. (2004) The Comet Assay for DNA Damage and Repair. Principles, Applications, and Limitations. *Molecular Biotechnology*. 26:249-261.
- Conger AD, Fairchild LM. Breakage of chromosomes by oxygen. (1952) Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 38(4):289-299.
- Conkright MD, Canettieri G, Screaton R, Guzman E, Miraglia L, Hogenesch JB, Montminy M. (2003) TORCs: transducers of regulated CREB activity. *Molecular Cell*. 12(2):413-423.
- Cooper ME, Richard EG, Jerums G. (1997) Proceedings of the Australian Physiological and Pharmacological Society Symposium: Diabetes - Diabetic vascular complication, *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*. 24:770-775.
- Corbucci GG, Marchi A, Lettieri B, Luongo C. (2005) Mechanisms of cell protection by adaptation to chronic and acute hypoxia: molecular biology and clinical practice. *Minerva Anestesiologica*. 71(11):727-740.
- Costa AD, Jakob R, Costa CL, Andrukhiv K, West IC, Garlid KD. (2006) The mechanisms by which the mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K+ channel opening and H2O2 inhibit the mitochondrial permeability transition. 281(30):20801-20808.
- Costantino L, Rastelli G, Vianello P, Cignarella G, Barlocco D. (1999) Diabetes
Complications and Their Potential prevention: Aldose Reductase Inhibition and Other Approaches. *Medicinal Research Reviews*. 19(1):3-23

- Cotelle N. (2001) Role of flavonoids in oxidative stress. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry. 1(6):569-590.
- Coulet F, Nadaud S, Agrapart M, Soubrier F. (2003) Identification of Hypoxia-response Element in the Human Endothelial Nitric-oxide Synthase Gene Promoter. *The Journal ofBiological Chemistry*. 278(47):46230-46240.
- Crane MS, Rossi AG, Megson IL. (2005) A potential role for extracellular nitric oxide generation in cGMP-independent inhibition of human platelet aggregation: biochemical and pharmacological consoderations. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 144(6):849-859.
- Criqui MH, Ringel BL. (1994) Does diet or alcohol explain the frenchparadox? Lancet. 344(8939-8940):1719-1723.
- Crocenzi FA, Sanchez Pozzi EJ, Pelegrino JM, Favre CO, Rodiguez Garay EA, Mottino AD, Coleman R, Roma MG. (2001) Beneficial effects of silymarin on estrogen-induced cholestasis in the rat: a study in vivo and in isolated hepatocyte couplets. *Hepatology*. 34(2):329-39.
- Cukiernik M, Hileeto D, Evans T, M3ukherjee S, Downey D, Chakrabarti S. (2004) Vascular endothelial growth factor in diabetes induced early retinal abnormalities. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 65:197-208.
- Curcio F, Ceriello A. (1992) Decreased cultured endothelial cell proliferation in high glucose medium is reversed by antioxidants: new insights on the pathophysiological mechanisms of diabetic vascular complications. *In vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology.* 28A(11-12):787-790.
- Curtin JF, Donovan M, Cotter TG. (2002) Regulation and measurement of oxidative stress in apoptosis. *Journal of Immunological Methods*. 265:49-72.

D

- Dalska M, Weiss G. (1998) Central role of transcription factor NF-IL6 for cytokine and iron-mediated regulation of murine inducible nitric oxide synthase expression. *Journal of Immunology.* 162:6171-6177.
- Dandona P, Thusu K, Cook S, Synder B, Makowski J, Armstrong D, Nicotera T. (1996) Oxidative damage to DNA in diabetes mellitus. *Lancet*. 347(8999) :444-445.
- De Bont R, van Larebeke N. (2004) Endogenous DNA damage in humans: a review of quantitative data. *Mutagenesis*. 19(3):169-185.
- De Caterina R (2000). Endothelial dysfunctions: common denominators in vascular disease. Current Opinion in Lipidology. 11, 9-23.
- Dehmlow C, Muraski N, de Groot H. (1996) Scavenging of reactive oxygen species and inhibition of arachidonic acid metabolism by silibinin in human cells. *Life Sciences*. 58(18):1591-1600.
- Dehmlow C, Erhard J, de Groot H. (1996) Inhibition of Kuppfer cell function as an explanation for the hepatoprotective properties of silibinin. *Hepatology*. 23(4):749-754.
- De La Puerta R, Martinez E, Bravo L, Ahumada MC. (1996) Effect of Silymarin on different acute inflammation models and on Leukocyte migration. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Pharmacology*. 48: 968-970.
- De Mattia G, Laurenti O, Bravi C, Ghiselli A, Iuliano L, Balsano F. (1994) Effect of aldose reductase inhibition on glutathione redox status in erythrocytes of diabetic patients. *Metabolism*. 43(8):965-968.
- Department of Health (DH) 2007. National Service Framework for Diabetes [online]. Available from: http://www.dh.gov.uk [Accessed: 20.05.2007]
- Department of Health (DH) 2002. Current and Future research on Diabetes: A review for the Department of Health and medical research Council, October 200 [online]. Available from: http://www.doh.gov.uk. [Accessed: 20.05.2007]

- Djordjevic VB. (2004) Free radicals in cell biology. International Reviews in Cytology. 237: 57-89.
- Dobson AW, grishko V, LeDoux SP, Kelley MR, Wilson GL, Gillespie MN. (2002) Enhanced mtDNA repair capacity protects pulmonary artery endothelail cells from oxidant-mediated death. *American Journal of Phyiology, Lung and cellular Molecular Physiology.* 283:L205-210.
- Dok-Go H, Lee KH, Kim HJ, Lee EH, Lee Y, Song YS, Lee YH, Jin C, Lee YS, Cho J. (2003) Neuroprotective effects of antioxidative flavonoids, quercetin, (+)dihydroquercetin and quercetin 3-methyl ether, isolated from *Opuntia ficus-indica* var. saboten. Brain Research. 965:130-136.
- Donnini D, Zambto AM, Perrella G, Ambes-Impiombato FS, Curcio F. (1996) Glucose may induce cell death through a free radical-mediated mechanism. *Biomedical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 219:412-417.
- Dreher D, Vargas JR, Hochstrasser DF, Junod AF. (1995) Effects of oxidative stress and Ca²⁺ agonist on molecular chaperones in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Electrophoresis*. 16(7):1205-14.
- Dröge W. (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. *Physiological Reviews*. 82:47-95.
- Duchen MR. (2004) Section III: Mitochondria, β-cell Function, and Type 2 Diabetes. Roles of mitochondria in health and disease. *Diabetes*. 53(S1):S96-S102.
- Du X, Stockklauser-Färber K, Rösen P. (1999) Generation of reactive oxygen intermediates, Activation of NF-κB, and induction of apoptosis in human endothelial cells by glucose: role of nitric oxide synthase. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*. 27(7/8):752-763.
- Du XL, Edelstein D, Dimmeler S, Ju Q, Sui C, Brownlee M. (2001) Hyperglycaemia inhibits endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by postranslational modification at the Akt site. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 108(9):1341-1348.
- Du X, Matsumura T, Eelstein D, Rossetti L, Zsengellér, Szabó C, Brownlee M. (2003) Inhibition of GAPDH activity by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase activates three major pathways of hyperglycaemic damage in endothelial cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 112(7):1049-1057.
- Du Y, Miller CM, Kern TS. (2003) Hyperglycaemia increases mitochondrial superoxide in retina and retinal cells. *Free Radical Biology & Medicicne*. 35(11):1491-1499.
- Duthie SJ, McMillan P. (1997) Uracil misincorporation in human DNA detected using single cell gel electrophoresis. *Carcinogenesis*. 18(9):1709-14.
- Duthie SJ, Collins AR, Duthie GG, Dobson VL. (1997) Quercetin and myricetin protect against hydrogen peroxide-induced DNA damage (strand breaks and oxidised pyrimidines) in human lymphocytes. *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis*. 393(3): 223-231.
- Duthie SJ, Johnson W, Dobson VL. (1997) The effects of dietary flavonoids on DNA damage (strand breaks and oxidised pyrimidines) and growth in human cells. *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis*. 390(1-2): 141-151.
- Duthie GD, Gardner PT, Kyle JAM. (2003) Plant polyphenols: are they the magic bullet? *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. 63:559-603.
- Dvornik E, Simard-Duquesne N, Krami M, Sestanj, Gabbay KH, Kinoshita JH, Varma SD, Merola LO. (1973) Polyol accumulation in galactsemic and diabetic rats: control by an aldose reductase inhibitor. *Science*. 182(117):1146-1148.

E

- Ehleben W, Bolling B, Merten E, Porwol T, Strohmaier AR, Acker H. (1998) Cytochromes and oxygen radicals as putative members of the oxygen sensing pathway. *Respiratory Physiology*. 14:25-36.
- Eichberg J. (2002) Protein kinase C changes in diabetes: is the concept relevant to

neuropathy? International Review of Neurobiology. 50:61-82

- Emerling BM, Platanias LC, Black E, nebreda AR, Davis RJ, Chandel NS. (2005) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for hypoxia signaling. *Molecular Cell Biology*, 25(12):4853-4862.
- Evans JL, Goldfine ID, Maddux BA, Grodsky G. (2002) Oxidative Stress and Stress-Activated Signaling Pathways: A Unifying Hypothesis of Type 2 Diabetes. Endocrine Reviews. 23(5):599-622.

F

- Fandrey J, Gorr TA, Gassmann M. (2006) Regulating cellular oxygen sensing by hydroxylation. *Cardiovascular Research*. 71: 642-651.
- Fan B, Wang YX, Yao T, Zhu YC. (2005) p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase mediates hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor release in human endothelial cells. *Sheng Li Xue Bao*. 57(1):13-20.
- Fariss MW, Chan CB, Patel M, Van Houten B, Orrenius S. (2005) Role of Mitochondria in toxic oxidative stress. *Molecular Interventions*. 5(2): 94-111.
- Ferrara N. Gerber HP, LeCouter J. (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors. *Natural Medicine*. 9:669-676.
- Fields RD, Lancaster MV. (1993) Dual attribute continous monitoring of cell proliferation /cytotoxicity. American Biotechnology Laboratory. 1 1(4):48-50.
- Flora K, Hahn M, Rosen H, Benner K. (1998) Milk thistle (silybum marianum) for the therapy of liver disease. American Journal of Gastroenterology. 93(2):139-143.
- Flores C, Rojas S, Aguayo C, Parodi J, Mann G, Pearson JD, Casanello P, Sobrevia L. (2003) Rapid stimulation of L-arginine transport by d-glucose involves p42/44^{mapk} and nitric oxide in human umbilical veinendothelium. *Circularion Reserach*. 24:64-72.
- Formica JV, Regelson W. (1995) Review of the Biology of Quercetin and related Bioflavonoids. *Fd Chem. Toxic.* 33(12):1061-1080.
- Forrester JV, Knott RM. Pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy and cataract Summary. In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 45. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Frank S., Gaume, B., Bergmann-Leitner, E.S., Leitner, W.W., Robert, E.G., Catez, F., Smith, C.L. and Youle, R.J. (2001) The role of dynamin-related protein 1, a mediator of mitochondrial fission, in apoptosis. *Developmental Cell*.1:515-525.
- Franke TF, Kaplan DR, Cantley LC. (1997) PI3K: downstream AKTion blocks apoptosis. Cell. 88:435-437.
- Fraschini F, Demartini G, Esposti D. (2002) Pharmacology of Silymarin. Clinical Drug Investigation. 22(1):51-56.
- Frömming K-H, Saller R, Wächter W. (1999) Silymarinhaltige Phytopharmaka Biopharmazie als wesentliches therapeutisches Qualitätskriterium. Zeitschrift Für Ärztliche Fortbildung Und Qualitätssicherung: in Zusammenarbeit Mit Der Kaiserin-Friedrich-Stiftung Für Das Ärztliche Fortbildungswesen. 93(4):VI – XI.
- Fuks Z, Kolesnick R. (2005) Engaging the vascular component of the tumor response. Cancer Cell. 8(2):89-91.
- Furie MB, McHugh DD. (1989) Migration of neutrophils across monolayers is stimulated by treatment of the monolayers with interleukin-1 or tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Journal of Immunology*. 143(10):3309-3317.

G

- Galetic I, Andejelkovic M, Meier R, Brodbeck D, Park J, Hemmings BA. (1999) Mechanism of proteinkinase B activation by insulin/insulin-like growth factor-1 revealed by specific inhibitors of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-significance for diabetes and cancer. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics.* 82:409-425.
- Gamet-Payrastrea L, Manentib S, Gratacapc M-P, Tullieza J, Chapc H, Payrastrec B. (1999) Flavonoids and the inhibition of PKC and PI3-kinase. *General Pharmacology*

32(3):279-286.

- Gazak R, Wolterova D, Kren V. (2007) Silybin and silymarin new and emerging applications in medicine. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*. 14(3):315-38.
- Gedik CM, Boyle SP, Wood SG, Vaughan NJ, Collins AR. (2002) Oxidatieve stress in humans : validation of biomarkers of DNA damage. *Carcinogenesis*. 23(9):1441-1446.
- Giardino I, Brownlee M.The biochemical basis of microvascular disease. In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 42.8. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Giordano FJ. (2005) Oxygen, oxidative stress, hypoxia, and heart failure. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 115(3):500-508.
- Giugliano D, Ceriello A. (1996) Oxidative stress and diabetic vascular complications. Diabetes Care. 19(3):257-267.
- Gnaiger E, Méndez G, Hand SC. (2000) High phosphorylation efficiency and depression of uncoupled respiration in mitochondria under hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 97(20):11080-11085.
- Goldberg MA, Dunning SP, Bunn HF. (1988) Regulation of the erythropoietin gene: evidence that the oxygen sensor is a heme protein. *Science*. 242(4884):1412-1415.
- Goldin A, Beckman JA, Schmidt AM, Creager MA. (2006) Advanced glycation end products: sparking the development of diabetic vascular injury. *Circulation*. 114(6):597-605.
- Gomperts BD, Kramer IM, Tatham PER. Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation: Protein kinases A and C. In: Gomperts BD, Kramer IM, Tatham PER Signal Transduction. London, UK: Academic Press 2003.
- Gorio A, Donadoni ML, Finco C, Borella F, Di Giulio AM. (1996) Alterations of protein mono-ADP-ribosyntion and diabetic neuropathy: a novel pharmacological approach. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 311(1):21-28.
- Goto Y, Shigeta Y, Sakamoto N. (1990) A placebo-controlled double-blind study of epalrestat (ONO-2235) in patients with diabetic neuropathy. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*. 150:405.
- Gould G, Holman GD. (1993) The glucose transporter family: structure, function and tissuespecific expression. *Biochchemistry Journal*. 295: 329-341.
- Gökmen V. A Survey on Polyphenols. [online] http://yunus.hacettepe.edu.tr/#vgokmen/phenol.htm [5th November 2002].
- Grant MB, Afazal A, Spoerri P, Pan H, Shaw LC, Mames RN. (2004) The role of growth factors in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*. 13(10):1275-1293.
- Gray RP, Yudkin JS.Cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus Summary In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 57. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Gray RP, Yudkin JS. Diabetes as a cardiovascular risk factor. In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 57.6. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Green K, Brand MD, Murphy MP. (2004) Prevention of mitochondrial oxidative damage as a therapeutic strategy in diabetes. *Diabetes*. 53(S1):S110-S118.
- Gries FA. (1995) Alternative therapeutic principles in the prevention of microvascular and neuropathic complications. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 28:S201-S207.
- Griffiths HR, Moller L, Bartosz G, Bast A, Bertoni-Freddari C, Collins A, Cooke M, Coolen S, Haenen G, Hoberg AM, Loft S, Lunec J, Olinski R, Parry J, Pompella A, Poulsen H, Verhagen H, Astley SB. (2002) Biomarkers. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*. 23(1-3):101-208.
- Gu M, Singh RP, Dhanalakshmi S, Mohan S, Agarwal R. (2006) Differential effect silibinin on E2F transcription factors and associated biological events in chronically UVBexposed skin versus tumors in SKH-1 hairless mice. *Molecular Cancer Therapy*. 5(8):2121-2129.

- Gupta OP, Sing S, Bani S, Sharma N, Malhotra S, Gupta BD, Banerjee SK, Handa SS. (2000) Anti-inflammatory and anti0arthritic activity of silymarin actig through the inhibition of 5' lipoxygenase. *Phytomedicine*. 7(1):21-24.
- Guzik TJ, West NEJ, Black E, McDonald D, Ratnatunga C, Pillai R, Channon KM. (2000) Vascular Superoxide Production by NAD(P)H Oxidase. Association With Endothelial Dysfunction and Clinical Risk Factors. *Circulation Research*. 86:e85e90.
- Guzik TJ, Mussa S, Gastaldi D, Sadowski J, Ratnatunga C, Pillai R, Channon KM. (2002) Mechanisms of increased vascular superoxide production in human diabetes mellitus. Role of NAD(P)H oxidase and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*. 105:1656-1662.
- Guzy RD, Hoyos B, Robin E, Vhen H, Liu L, Mansfield KD, Simon MC, Hammerling U, Schumacker PT. (2005) Mitochondrial complex III is required for hypoxia-induced ROS production and cellular oxygen sensing. *Cell Metabolism*. 1(6):401-408.

Η

- Hadler NM, Datta U, Gordon DS. (1975) The use of 2-deoxy-D-glucose to assess changes in tumour target cell membranes in vitro. *Journal of Immunological Methods*. 9(1):39-46.
- Hannon MPA, Hughes C, O'Kane MJ, Moles KW, Barnett CR, Branett YA. (1998) Antioxidant status and DNA damage in patients with insulin-dependent Diabetes Mellitus.*Biochemical Society Transactions*. 26(57):65.
- Harada H, Kizaka-Kondoh S, Hiraoka M. (2006) Mechanism of hypoxia-specific cytotoxicity of procaspase-3 fused with a VHL-mediated protein destruction motif of HIF-1alpha containing Pro564. *FEBS Letters.* 580(24):5718-5722.
- Haraguchi H, Mochida Y, Sakai S, Masuda H, Tamura Y, Mizutani M, Tanaka O, Chou WH. (1996) Protection against oxidative damage by dihydroflavonols in Engelhardtia chrysolepis. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*. 60(6):945-948.
- Hayman S, Kinoshita JH. (1965) Isolation and properties of lens aldose reductase. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 240:877.
- Hänsel R, Keller K, Rimpler H, Schneider G. Silymarin. In: Hagers Handbuch der Pharmazeutischen Praxis. Spinger Verlag 1993. ISBN: 3-540-52638-2.
- Hempel A, Maasch C, Heintze U, Lindschau C, Dietz R, Luft FC, Haller H. (1997) High Glucose concentrations increase endothelial cell permeability via activation of protein Kinase Ca. Circulation Research. 81:363-371.
- Hinokio Y, Suzuki S, Hirai M, Chiba M, Hirai A, Toyota T. (1999) Oxidative DNA damage In diabetes mellitus : its association with diabetic complications. *Diabetologia*. 42(8):995-998.
- Hirsch B, Rosen P. (1999) Diabetes mellitus induces long lasting changes in the glucose transporter of rat heart endothelial cells. *Hormone Metabolism Research*, 31(12):645-52.
- Ho FM, Liu SH, Liau CS, Huang PJ, Lin-Shiau SY. (2000) Highg lucose-induced apoptosis in human endothelial cells id mediated by sequential activations of c-Jun NH92)terminal kinase and caspase-2. *Circulation*. 101:2618-2624.
- Hofer T, Desbaillets I, Höpfl G, Gassmann M, Wenger RH. (2001) Dissecting hypoxia-dependent and hypoxia-independent steps in the HIF-1a activation cascade: implications for HIF-1a gene therapy. *The FASB Journal*. 15:2715-2717.
- Hotta N. (1995) New approaches for treatment in diabetes: aldose reductase inhibitors. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 5:232-243.
- Hotta N, Toyota T, Matsuoka K, Shigeta Y, Kikkawa R, Kaneko T, Takahashi A, Suigimura K, Koike Y, Ishii J, Sakamoto N; SNK-860 Diabetic Neuropathy Study Group. (2001) Clinical efficacy of fidarestat, a novel aldose reductase inhibitor, for diabetic peripheral neuropathy: a 52-week multicenter placebo-controlled double-blind parallel group study. *Diabetes Care*. 24(10):1776-1782.

- Huang LE, Gu J, Schau M, Bunn HF. (1998) Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α is mediated by an O₂-dependent degradation domain via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science United States of America. 95: 7987-7992.
- Hur E, Chang KY, Lee E, Lee SK, Park H. (2001) Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase inhibitor PD98059 blocks the trans-activation but not the stabilization or DNA binding ability of hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha. *Molecular Pharmacology*. 59(5):1216-1224.
- Hurst RD, Azam S. hurst A, Clark JB. (2001) Nitric-ocxide-induced inhibition of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase may mediate reduced endohelial cell monolayer integrity in an in vitro model blood-brain-barrier. *Brain Research*. 894(2):181-188.

I

- Idris I, Donnelly R. (2006) Protein kinase C beta inhibition: A novel therapeutic strategy for diabetic microangiopathy. *Diabetes & Vascular Disease Research*. 3(3):172-178.
- Ikeda E. (2005) Cellular response to tissue hypoxia and its involvement in disease progression. *Pathology International*. 55:603-610.
- Inoguchi T, Li P, Umeda F, Yu HY, Kakimoto M, Imamura M, Aoki T, Etoh T, Hashimoto T, Naruse M, Sano H, Utsumi H, Nawata H. (2000) High glucose level and free fatty acid stimulate reactive oxygen species production through protein kinase C dependent activation of NAD(P)H oxidase in cultured vascular cells. *Diabetes*. 49: 1939 1945.
- International Diabetes Federation, 2006. E-Atlas: *Prevalence estimates 2006* [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.idf.org</u> [Accessed: 0.05.2007]
- International Diabetes Federation 2006. *Types of diabetes* [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.eatlas.idf.org</u> [Accessed20.05.2007]
- Ishii H, Jirousek MR, Koya D, Takagi C, Xia P, Clermont A, Bursell SE, Kern TS, Ballas LM, Heath WF, Stramm LE, Feener EP, King GL. (1996) Amelioration of vascular dysfunctions in diabetic rats by an oral PKC beta inhibitor. *Science*. 272(2562):728-731.
- Ishiki M, Klip A. (2005) Minireview: recent developements in the regulation of glucose transporter-4 traffic: new signals, locations, and partners. *Endocrinology*. 146(12):5071-5078.
- Ivan M, Haberberger T, Gervasi DC, Michelson KS, Günzler V, Kondo K, Yang H, Sorokina I, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Kaelin Jr.WG. (2002) Biochemical purification and pharmacological inhibition of a mammalian prolyl hydroxylase acting on hypoxia-inducible factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* United States of America. 99: 13459-13464.

J

- Jaakkola P, Mole DR, Tian YM, Gielbert J, Gaskell SJ, Kriegsheim A, Hebestreit HF, Mukherji M, Schofield CJ, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, ratcliffe PJ. (2001) Targeting of HIF- α to the von Hippel-Lindau ubiquitylation complex by O₂-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. *Science*. 292: 468-472.
- Jackson SP. DNA Damage Signalling and Apoptosis. Biochemical Society Colloquium. 674th Meeting, trinity College, Dublin 2001.
- Jiang BH, Zheng JZ, Aoki M, Vogt PK. (2000) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling mediates angiogenesis and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in endopthelial cells. *Proceedings of the Natural Academy of Science USA*. 97:1748-1753.
- Jiang C, Agarwal R, Lü J. (2000) Anti-Angiogenic potential of a cancer chemopreventive flavonoid antioxidant, Silymarin: Inhibition of Key attributes of vascular endothelial cells and angiogenic cytotkine secretion by cancer epithelial cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 276(1):371-378.

- Jiang M-R, Yang Y, Wu J-R. (2001) Activation of DNA damage checkpoins in CHO cells requires a certain level of DNA damage. *Biochemical and Biophysical Resarch Communications*. 287, 775-780.
- Johansen JS, Harris AK, Rychly DJ, Ergul A. (2005) Oxidative stress and the use of antioxidants in diabetes: Linking basic science to clinical practice. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*. 4:5.
- Jornot L, Maechler P, Wollheim CB, Junod AF. (1999) Reactiveoxygen metabolites increase mitochondrial calcium in endothelial cells: implication of the Ca2+/Na+ exchanger. *Journal of Cell Science*. 112:1013-1022.
- Jovanovic SV, Simic MG. (2000) Antioxidants in nutrition. Annals NY Academi of Science. 899:326-334.
- Joy SV, Scates AC, Bearelly S, Dar M, Taulien CA, Goebel JA, Cooey MJ. (2005) Ruboxistaurin, a protein kinase C beta inhibitor, as an emerging treatment for diabetes microvascular complications. *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*. 39(10):1693-1699.

K

Kadenbach B. (2003) Intrinsic and extrinsic uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 1604:77-94.

- Kador PF, Sharpless NE. (1983) Pharmacophor requirements of the aldose reductase inhibitor site. *Molecular Pharmacology*. 24(3): 521-531.
- Kador PF, Kinoshita JH, Sharpless NE. (1985) Aldose reductase inhibitors: a potential new class of agents for the pharmacological control of certain diabetic complications. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 28(7):841-849.
- Kagan A, Dawber TR, Kanel WB, Revotskie N. (1962) The Framingham study: a prospective study of coronary heart disease. *Federation Proceedings*. 21(4)Pt 2: 52-57.
- Kahn BB. (1992) Facilitative glucose transporters: regulatory mechanisms and dysregulation in diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 89: 1367-1374.
- Kallio PJ, Wilson WJ, O'Brien S, Makino Y, Poellinger L. (1999) Regulation of the hypoxiainducible transcription factor 1α by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 274: 6519-6525.
- Kammersgaard LP, Olsen TS. (2006) Cardiovascular risk factors and 5-year mortalilty in the Copenhagen Study. *Cerebrovascular Disease*. 21(3):187-193.
- Kang JS, Park S-K, Yang K-H, Kim HM. (2003) Silymarin inhibits TNF-α-induced expression f adhesion molecules in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *FEBS Letters*. 550(1-3):89-93.
- Kang D, Hamasaki N. (2005) Alteration of mitochondrial DNA in common diseases and disease states: aging, neurodegeneration, heart failure, diabetes and cancer. Current Medicinal Chemistry. 12(4):429-441
- Kannan K, Jain SK. (2000) Oxidative stress and apoptosis. Pathophysiology.7:153-163.
- Kannel WB, McGee DL. (1979) Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. JAMA. 241(19):2035-2038.
- Kawashima S (2004). The two faces of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *Endothelium*. 11, 99-107.
- Kähler W, Kuklinski B, Rühlmann C, Plötz C. (1993)Diabetes mellitus a free radical associated disease. Results of adjuvant antioxidant supplementation [Diabetes mellitus – eine mit Freien Radikalen assoziierte Erkrankung. Resultate einer adjuvanten Antioxidantiensupplementation]. Zeitschrift Für Die Gesamte Innere Medizin Und Ihre Grenzgebiete. 48(5):223-232
- Ke Q, Costa M. (2006) Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1). Molecular Pharmacology. 70(5):1469-1480.
- Kelley DE. (2002) Action for health in diabetes: the look AHEAD clinical trial. Current Diabetes Report. 2(3):207-209.

- Keij JF, Bell-Prince C, Steinkamp JA. (2000) Staining of mitochondrial membranes with 10nonyl acridine orange, MitoFluor Green and MitoTracker Green is affected by mitochondrial membrane potential altering drugs. *Cytometry*. 39:203-210.
- Kidd P, Head K. (2005) A review of the bioavailability of clinical efficicacy of milk thistle phytosome: a silybin-phoshatidylcholine complex (Siliphos). Alternative medicine review: a Journal of Clinical Therapeutic. 10(3):193-203.
- Kim HR, Chae HJ, Thomas M, Miyazaki T, Monosov A, Monosov E, Krajewska M, Krajewski S, Reed JC. (2007) Mammalian dap3 is an essential gene required for mitochondrial homeostasis in vivo and contributingto the extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. FASEB Journal. 21(1):188-196.
- Kim JY, Ahn HJ, Ryu JH, Suk K, Park JH. (2004) BH3-only protein Noxa is a mediator of hypoxic cell death induced by hypoxia inducible factor 1-alpha. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 199(1):113-124.
- King GL, Brwonlee M. (1996) The cellular and molecular mechanisms of diabetic complications. The vascular basis of diabetic complications. *Chronic Complications of Diabetes.* 5(2):255-270.
- Kleinert S. HOPE for cardiovascular disease prevention with ACE-inhibitor ramipril. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation. (1999) *Lancet*. 354(9181):841
- Knet P, Kumpulainen J, Järvinen, Rissanen H, Heliövaara M, Reunanen A, Hakulinen T, Arpo Aromaa. (2002) Flavonoid intake and risk of chronic diseases. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 76:560-568.
- Knowles HJ, Mole DR, Ratcliffe PJ, Harris AL. (2006) Normoxic stabilization of hypoxiainducible factor-lalpha by modulation of the labile iron pool in differentiating U937 macrophages: effect of natural resistance-associated marophage protein1. *Cancer Research.* 66(5):2600-2607.
- Kobayashi H, Lin PC. (2006) Antiangiogenic and radiotherapy for cancer treatment. Histology and Histopathology. 21(19):1125-1134.
- Kobayashi I, Semba S, Matsuda Y, Kuroda Y, Yokozaki H. (2006) Significance of Akt phosphorylation on tumor growth and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human gastric carcinoma. *Pathobiology*. 73(1):8-17.
- Kobuchi H, Roy S, Sen KC, Nguyen GH, Packer L. (1999) Quercetin inhibits inducible ICAM-1 expression in human cells through the JNK pathway. American Journal of Pathology. 277:C403-4011.
- Kostyuk VA, Poptapovich AI, Strigunova EN, Kostyuk TV, Afanas'ev IB. (2004) Experimental evidence that flavonoid metal complxes may act as mimics of superoxide dismutase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*. 428(2):204-208.
- Koya D, King GL. (1998) Perspectives in Diabetes: Protein Kinase C Activation and the Development of Diabetic Complications. *Diabetes*. 47:859-866.
- Kren V, Walterova D. Silybin and silymarin--new effects and applications. (2005) Biomedical Papers. 149(1):29-41.
- Kris-Etherton PM, Keen CL. (2002) Evidence that the antioxidant flavonoids in tea and cocoa are beneficial for cardiovascular health. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 13(1): 41-49.
- Kristal BS, Koopmans SJ, Jackson CT, Ikeno Y, Park B-J, Yu BP.(1997) Oxidant-mediated repression of mitochondrial transcription in diabetic rats. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*. 22(5):813-822.
- Kunisaki M, Bursell SE, Umeda F, Nawata H, King GL. (1994) Normalization of diacylglycerol-protein kinase C activation by vitamin E in aorta of diabetic rats and cultured rat smooth muscle cells exposed to elevated glucose levels. *Diabetes*. 43(11):1372-1377.
- Kvasnička F, Bíba B, Ševčik R, Voldřich M, Krátká J. (2003) Analysis of the active components of silymarin. *Journal of Chromatography A*. 990(1-2):239-245.

L

- Lahiri S, Roy A, Baby SM, Hoshi T, Semenza GL, Prabhakar NR. (2006) Oxygen sensing in the body. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology. 91(3):249-286.
- Lal BK, Varma S, Pappas PJ, Hobson RW II, Durán WM. (2001) VEGF increases permeability of the endothelial cell monolayer by activation of PKB/ alkt, enodthelial nitric-oxide syntahse, and MAP kinase pathways. *Microvascular Research*. 62:252-262.
- Lamson DW, Plaza SM. (2002) Mitochondrial Factors/Diabetes: Mitochondrial Factors in the Pathogenesis of Diabetes: A Hypothesis for Treatment. *Alternative Medicine Review*. 7(2):94-111.
- Lando D, Pongratz I, Poellinger L, Whitelaw ML. (2000) A redox mechanism controls differential DNA binding activities of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) 1alpha and the HIF-like factor. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 275(7):4618-4627.
- Lando D, Peet DJ, Gorman JJ, Whelan DA, Whitelaw ML, Bruick RK. (2002a) FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase anzyme that regulates the transcriprional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor. *Genes & Development*. 16(12):1466-1471.
- Lee SH, Wolf PL, Escudero R, Deutsch R, Jamieson SW, Thistlethwaite PA. (2000) Early expression of angiogenesis factors in acute myocardial ischemia and inforaction. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 342(9):626-633.
- Lee VY, McClintock DS, Santore MT, Budinger GRS, Chandel NS. (2002) Hypoxia sensitizes cells to nitric oxide-induced apoptosis. *The Journal of Biological Chemsitry*. 277(8):16067-16074.
- Lee M-J, Kim J-Y, Suk K, Park J-H. (2004) Identification of the Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Responsive HGTD-P Gene as a mediator in the Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 24(9):3918-3927.
- Lee JD, Morrissey JR, Patel V. (2004) Recalculation of cardiovascular risk score as a surrogate marker of change in clinical care of diabetes pateints: the Alphabet POEM project (practice of Evidence-based Medicine). Current Medical Research And Opinion. 20(5):765-772.
- Lehamn TD, Ortwerth BJ. (2001) Inhibitors of advanced glycation end product-associaated protein cross-linking. *Biochem Biophys Acta*. 1535(2):110-119.
- Leinonen J, Lehtimaki T, Toyokuni S, Okada K, Tanaka T, Hiai H, ochi H, Laippala P, Rantalaiho V, Wirta O, Pasternack A, Alho H. (1997) New Biomarker evidence of oxidative DNA damage in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *FEBS letters*. 3:417(1):150-152.
- Li P, Li SP, Wang YT. (2006) Optimization of CZE for analysis of phytochemical bioactive compounds. *Electrophoresis*. 27(23):4808-4819.
- Lieber MR, Karanjawala ZE. (2004) Ageing, repetitive genomes and DNA damage. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 5(1):69-75.
- Li JDG, Huang Y, Jiang BH, Shi X, Costa M, Huang C. (2004) Nickel compounds act through phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/Akt-dependent, p70(S6k)-independent pathway to induce hypoxia inducible factor transactivation and Cap43 expression in mouse epidermal C141 cells. *Cancer Research*. 64(1):94-101.
- Li J-M, Shah AM. (2004) Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology. *American Journal of Physiology – Regulatory*, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*. 287:R1014-R1030.
- Lirussi F, Beccarello A, Zanette G, De Monte A, Donadon V, Velussi CG. (2002) Silybinbeta-cyclodextrin in the treatment of patients with diabetes mellitus and alcoholic liver disease. Efficacy study of new preparation of anti-oxidant agent. *Diabetes Nutrition & Metabolism.* 15(4):222-231.
- Litherland GJ, Morris NJ, Walker M, Yeaman SJ. (2007) Role of glycogen content in insulin resistance in human muscle cells. Journal of Cell Physiology. 211(2):344-352.

- Liu W, Schonkerman A, Lowe WL Jr. (2000) Activation of members of the mitogenactivated protein kinase family by glucose in endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology, Endocrinology and Metabolism.* 279(4):E782-790.
- Liu S, Kawai K, Tyurin VA, Tyurina YY, Borisenko GG, Fabisiak JP, Quinn PJ, Pitt BR, Kagan VE. (2001) Nitric oxide-dependent pro-oxidant and pro-apoptotic effect of matallothioneins in HL-60 cells challenged with cupric nitrilotriacetate. *The Biochemical Journal*. 354(Pt 2): 397-406.
- Lizunov VA, Matsumoto H, Zimmerberg J, Cushman SW, Frolov VA. (2005) Insulin stimulates the halting, tethering, and fusion of mobile GLUT4 vesicles in rat adipose cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. 169(3): 481-489.
- Lockett KL, Hall MC, Clark PE, Chuang S-C, Robinson B, Lin H-Y, Su J, Hu JJ. (2006) DNA damage levels in prostate cancer cases and controls. Carcinogenesis. 27(6):1187-1193.
- Lonn E, Bosch J, Yusuf S, Sheridan P, Pogue J, Arnold JM, Ross C, Arnold A, Sleight P, Probstfield J, Dagenais GR, HOPE and HOPE-TOO trial investigators. (2005) JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association. 293(11):1338-1348.
- Lopez-Barneo J, Pardal R, Ortega-Saenz P. (2001) Cellular mechanism of oxygen sensing. Annual Review of Physiology. 63: 259-287.
- Lorenzi M, montisano DF, Toledo S, Barrieux A. (1986) High glucose induces DNA damage in cultured human endothelial cells. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 77(1):322-5.
- Lorenzi M, Nordberg JA, Toledo S. (1987) High glucose prolongs cell-cycle traversal of cultured human endothelial cells. *Diabetes*. 36(11):1261-1267.
- Lorenzi M, Montisano DF, Toledo S, Wong HC. (1987) Increased single strand breaks in DNA of lymphocytes from diabetic subjects. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 79(2):653-656.
- Lovell DP, Thomas G, Dubow R. (1999) Issues related to the experimental design and subsequen statistical analysis of in vivo and in vitro comet studies. *Tetratogenesis, Carcinogenesis, and Mutagenesis.* 19:109-119.
- Lu F, Ralph J. (1997) Highly selsctive synthesis of coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols. Research US Dairy Forage Reserach Centre, Summaries. 45-46.
- Luft R. (1994) Review: The development of mitochondrial medicine. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 91:8731-8738.

Μ

- Maassen JA, 't Hart LM., Van Essen E, Heine RJ, Nijpels G, Jahanir Tafrechi RS, Raap AK, Janssen GMC, Lemkes HHPJ. (2004) Mitochondrial Diabetes. Molecular Mechanisms and Clinical Presentation. *Diabetes*. 53(S1):S103-S109.
- MacKinnon JR, Knott RM, Forrester JV. (2004) Altered L-selectin expressionin lymphocytes and increased adhesion to endothelium in patients with diabetic retinopathy. *British Journal of Opthalmology*. 88(9):1137-41.
- Mahesh T, Menon VP. (2004) Quercetin allievates oxidative stress in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Phytotherapy Research*. 18(2):123-127.
- Malamitsi-Puchner A, Boutsikou T, Economou E, Makrakis E, Iliodromiti Z, Kouskouni E, Hassiakos D. (2005) The role of the anti-angiogenic factor endostatin in intrauterine growth restriction. Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation. 12(3):195-197.
- Manalo DJ, Rowan A, Lavoie T, natarajan L, Kelly BD, Ye SQ, Garcia JGN, Semenza GL. (2005) Transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial cell responses to hypoxia by HIF-1. *Blood.* 105:659-669.
- Mandal AK, Ping T, Caldwell SJ, Bagnell R, Hiebert LM. (2006) Electron microscopic analysis of glucose-induced endothelial damage in primary culture: possible mechanism and prevention. *Histology and Histopathology*. 21(9):941-950.
- Mandarino LJ. (1992) Current hypotheses for the biochemical basis of diabetic retinopathy.

Diabetes Care. 15(12):1892-1901.

- Mansfield KD, Guzy RD, Pan Y, Young RM; Cash TP, Schumacker PT, Simon MC. (2005) Mitochondrial dysfunction resulting from loss of cytochrome c impairs cellular oxygen sensing and hypoxic HIF-alpha activation. Cell Metabolism. 1(6):393-399.
- Marfella R, D'amico M, Di Filippo C, Piegari E, Nappo F, Esposito K, Berrino L, Rossie F, Giugliano D. (2002) Myocardial infarction in diabetic rats: role of hyperglycamia on Infarct size and early expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1. *Diabetologia*. 45(8):1172-1181.
- Margulis, L.; Sagan, D. Origins of Sex: Three Billion Years of Genetic Recombination. New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Press; 1986.
- Martens GA, Casteele MV. (2007) Glycemic control of apoptosis in the pancreatic beta cell: danger of extremes? *Antioxidant and Redox Signalling*. 9(3):309-317.
- Marti HJ, Bernaudin M, Bellail A, Schoch H, Euler M, Petit E, Risau W. (2000) Hypoxiainduced vascular eindothelial growth factor expression proceedes neovascularization after cerebral ischemia. *American Journal of Pathology*. 156:965-976.
- Matés JM, Sánchez-Jiménez F. (1999) Antioxidant enzymes and their implications in pathophysiologic processes. Frontiers in Bioscience. 4:339-345.
- Matson CF. (1962) A procedure for agar gel electrophoresis. American Journal of Clinical Pathology.37:143-149.
- Matsuda H, Marikawa T, Toguchida I, Yoshikawa M. (2002) Structural requirements of flavonoids and related compounds for aldose reductase inhibitory activity. *Chemical* & *Pharmaceutical Bulletin.* 50(6): 788-795
- Matsunaga T, Kotamraju S, Kalivendi SV, Dhanasekaran A, Joseph J, Kalyanaraman B. (2004) Ceramide-induced intracellular oxidant formation, iron signalling, and apoptosis in endothelial cells: protective role of endogenous nitric oxide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 279(27):28614-2824.
- Maxwell PH, Wiesener MS, Chang W, Clifford SC, Vaux EC, Cockman ME, Wykoff CC, Pugh CW, Maher ER, Ratcliffe PJ. (1999) The tumor suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. *Nature*. 399: 271-275.
- Meier M, King GL. (2000) Protein kinase C activation and its opharmacological inhibition in vascular disease. *Vascular Medicine*. 5(3):173-185.
- Méplan C, Richard M-J, Hainau P. Redox signalling and transition metals in the control of p53 pathway. Biochemical Pharmacology 2000, 59:52-133.
- McBain VA, Robertson M, Muckersie E, Forrester JV, Knott RM. (2003) High glucose concentrationdecreased insulin-like growth factor type 1-mediated mitogenactivated protein kinase activation in bovine retinal endothelial cells. *Metabolism*. 52(5):547-551.
- McBride HM, Neuspiel M, Wasiak S. (2006) Mitochondria: more than just a powerhouse. Current Biology. 25;16(14):R551-60.
- McKelvey-Martin VJ, Gren MHL, Schmezer P, Pool-Zobel BL, De Méo MP, Collins A. (1993) The single cell gel electrophoresis assay (comet assay) : A European Review. *Mutation Research*. 288 :47-63.
- McMillan DE. (1997) Development of vascular complications in diabetes. Vascular Medicine. 2:132-142.
- Michiels C, Minet E, Mottet D, Raes M. (2002) Regulation of gene expression by oxygen :NF-κB and HIF-1, two extremes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 33(9):1231-1242.
- Miller AL. Antioxidant Flavonoids: Structure, Function and Clinical Usage. [online] Available from: http://www.thorne.com/altmedrev/fulltext/flavonoids1-2html [Accessed: 6th November 2002].
- Miura T, Muraoka S, Fujimoto Y. (2003) Inactivation of creatine kinase induced by quercetin with horseradish peroxidase and hydrogen peroxide: pro-oxidative and anti-oxidative actions of quercetin. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. 41:759-765.

- Mizukami Y, Fujiki K, Duerr EM, Gala M, Jo WS, Zhang X, Chung DC. (2006) Hypoxic r egulation of vascular endothelial growth factor hrough the induction of phosphatidulinostil 3-kinase/Rho/Rock and c-Myc. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 281(20):13957-13963.
- Mohamed AK, Bierhaus A, Schiekofer S, Tritschler H, Ziegler R, Nawroth PP. (1999) The role of oxidative stress and NF-kB activation in late diabetic complications. *BioFactors*.10:157-167.
- Mohan S, Dhanalakshmi S, Mallikarjuna GU, Singh RP, Agarwal R. (2004) Silibinin modulates UVB-induced apoptosis via mitochondrial proteins, caspases activation, and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in human epidermoid carcinoma A431 cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 20(1):183189.
- Mohr S, Hallak H, de Boitte A, Lapetina EG, Brune B. (1999) Nitric oxide-induced Sglutathionylation and inactivation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 274(14):9427-9430.
- Moller P. (2006) The alkaline comet assay: towards validation in biomonitoring of DNA damaging exposures. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 98(4):336-345.
- Moncada S, Erusalimsky JD. (2002) Does nitric oxide modulate mitochondrial energy generation and apoptosis? *Natural Reveiws. Molecular Cell Biology.* 3(3):214-220.

Ν

Nachman RL, Jaffe EA. (2004) Endothelial cell culture: beginnings of modern vascular biology. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 114(8):1037-1040.

- Nair MPN, Kandaswami C, Mahajan S, Chadha KC, Chawda R, Nair H, Kumar N, Nair RE, Schwartz SA. (2002) The flavonoid, quercetin, differentially regulates Th-1 (IFN-γ) and Th-2 (IL4) cytokine gene expression by normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*. 1593(1):29-36.
- Nakada K., Inoue, K., Ono, T., Isobe, K., Ogura, A., Goto, Y.I., Nonaka, I. And Hayashi, J.I. (2001) Inter-mitochondrial complementation: mitochondria-specific system preventing mice from expression of disease phenotypes by mutant mtDNA. *Natural. Medicine*.7: 934–940.
- Nakajima T, Hasegawa G, kamiuchi K, Fukui M, Yamasaki M, Tominaga M, asano M, Hosoda H, Yoshikawa T, Nakamura N. (2006) Differential regulation of intracellular matrix proteins in glomerular mesangial cells: potential role in diabetic nephropathy. *Redox Reports.* 11(5):223-230.

Namiki A, Brohi E, Kearney M,Kim EA, Wu T, Couffinhal T, Varticovski L, Isner JM. (1995) Hypoxia induces vascular endothelial growth factor in cultured human endothelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 270(52):31189-31195.

Narayana K, Spiral Reddy M, Chaluvadi MR, Krishna DR. (2001) Bioflavonoids Classification, Pharmacological, Biochemical Effects and Therapeutic Potential. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology* 33:2-16.

- Nencini C, Giorgi G, Micheli L. (2006) Protective effect of silymarin on oxidative stress in rat brain. *Phytomedicine*. 14(2-3):129-135.
- Neuspiel M, Zunino R, Gangaraju S, Rippstein P, McBride H. (2005) Activated mitofusin 2 signals mitochondrial fusion, interferes with Bax activation, and reduces susceptibility to radical induced depolarization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 280(26):25060-25070.
- Newmeyer DD, Ferguson-Miller S. (2003) Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. *Cell*. 112:481–490.
- NHS Scotland, Scottish Executive 2007. Scottish Diabetes Framework, April 2002 [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk</u> [Accessed: 20.05.2007]

NIDDK National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) 2003. [www.niddk.nih.gov/health/diabetes/pubs/dcct1/dcct.htm]

Nishikawa T, Edelstein D, Du XL, Yamagishi S, Matsumura T, Kaneda Y, Yorek MA,

Beebe D, Oates PJ, Hammes HP, Giardiona I, Brownlee M. (2000) Normalizing mitochondrial superoxide production blocks three pathways of hyperglycaemic damage. *Nature*. 404(6779):787-790.

- Nishikawa T, Sasahara T, Kiritoshi S, SOnoda K, Senikuchi T, Matsuo T, Kukidome D, Wake N, Matsumura T, Miyamura N, Sakakida M, Kishikawa H, Araki E. (2003) Evaluation of urinary 8-hydroxydeoxy-guanosine as a novel biomarker of macrovascular compications in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 26(5):1507-1512.
- Nyengaard JR, Ido Y, Kilo C, Wiliamson JR. (2004) Interactions between hyperglycaemia and hypoxia. Implications for diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetes*. 53:2931-2938.

0

- O'Brien-Ladner AR, Blumer BM, Wesselius LJ. (1998) Differential regulation of human alveolar macrophage-derived interleukin-1b and tumour necrosis factor-a by iron. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine. 132:497-506.
- Olson AL, Pessin JE. (1996) Structure, function and regulation of the mammalian facilitative glucose transporter gene family. *Annual Reviews Nutrition*. 16:235-156.
- Opara EC (2002). Oxidative stress, micronutrients, diabetes mellitus and its complications. The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health. 22(1):28-34.
- Ostling O, Johanson KJ. (1984) Microelectrophoretic study of Radiation-Induced DNA damages in individual mammalian cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 123(1):291-298.
- Ozawa K, Kondo T, Hori O, Kitao Y, Stern DM, Eisenmenger W, Ogawa S, Ohshima T. (2001) Expression of the oxygen-regulated protein ORP150 accelerates wound healing by modulating intracellular VEGF transport. *Journal of Clinical Investigation.* 108(1):41-50.

P

- Packer L, Kraemer K, Rimbach G. (2001) Molecular aspects of lipoic acid in the prevention of diabetes complications. *Nutrition*. 17(10): 888-895.
- Palacios-Callender M, Quintero M, Hollis VS, Springett RJ, Moncada S. (2004) Endogenous NO regulated superoxide production at low oxygen concentrations by modifying the redox state of cytochrome c oxidase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science.* 101(20):7630-7635.
- Panus C, Mota M, Vladu D, Vanghelie L, Raducanu CL. The endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. (2003) Romanian Journal of Internal Medicine. 41(1):27-33.
- Papandreou I, Cairns RA, Fontana L, Lim AL, Denko NC. (2006) HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. *Cell Metabolism.* 3(3):187-197.
- Pardridge WM, Boado RJ, Farrell CR. (1990) Brain-type Glucose Transporter (GLUT-1) is selectively localized to the blood-brain barrier. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 265(29): 18035-40.
- Park KS, Kim JH, Kim JM, Kim SK, Choi JY, Chung MH, Han B, Kim SY, Lee HK. (2001) Effects of insulin and antioxidant on plasma 8-hydroxyguanine and tissue 8hydroxydeoxyguanosine in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetes*. 50(12):2837-2841
- Patel J, Buddha B, Dey S, Pal D, Mitra AK. (2004) In vitro interaction of the HIV protease inhibitor ritonavir with herbal constituents: changes in P-gp and CYP3A4 activity. *American Journal of Therapeutics*. 11(4):262-277.
- Patil S, Unterman TG. (2005) TORCs rev up gluconeogenesis. Cell Metabolism. 210-212.
- Pendergrass W, Wolf N, Poot M. (2004) Efficacy of MitoTracker Green and CMXrosamine to measure changes in mitochondrial membrane potentials in living cells and tissues. *Part A: the Journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology*. 61(2):162-169.
- Peoples MC, Karnes HT. (2005) Recent developments in analytical methodology for 8-

hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine and related compounds. Journal of Chromatography. B, Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences. 827(1):5-15.

- Pepping J. (1999) Milk thistle: Silybum marianum. American Journal of Health-System Pharm. 56(15):1195-1197.
- Persinger RL, Melamede R, Bespalov I, Wallace S, Taatjes DJ, Janssen-Heininger Y. (2001) Imaging techniques used for the detection of 8-oxoguanine adducts and DNA repair proteins in cells and tissues. *Experimental Gerentology*. 36:1483-1494.
- Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W, Huwiler A. (2003) Nitric oxidr and mechanisms of redox signaling. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 14(8 Suppl 3): S237-240.
- Piconi L, Quagliaro L, Assaloni R, Da Ros R, Maier A, Zuodar G, Ceriello A. (2006) Constant and intermittent high glucose enhances ensothelial cell apoptosis through mitochondrial superoxide overproduction. *Diabetes Metabolism Research Reviews*.22(3): 198-203.
- Potapovich AI, Kostyuk VA. (2003) Comparative study of antioxidant properties and cytoprotect activity of flavonoids. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)*. 68(5):514-519.
- Psotova J, Chlopcikova S, Grambal F, simanek V, Ulrichova J. (2002) Influence of silymarin and its flavonolignans on doxorubicin-iron induced lipid peroxidation in ratheart microsomes and mitochondria in comparison with quercetin. *Phytotherapeutic Research.* 16(Suppl 1): S63-67.

Q

- Qin J, Xie LP, Zheng XY, Wang YB, Bai Y, Shen HF, Li LC, Dahiya R. (2007) A component of green tea (-)-epiogallocatechin-3-gallate, promotes apoptosis in T24human bladder cancer cells via modulation of Pl3K/Akt pathway and Bcl-2 family proteins. *Biochmical and Biophysical Reserach Communications*. 354(4):852-857.
- Quagliaro L, Piconi L, Assaloni R, MArtinelli L. Motz E, Ceriello A. (2003) Intermittent high glucose enhances apoptosis related to oxidative sress in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: the role of protein kinase C and NAD(P)H oxidase activation. *Diabetes*. 52(11):2795-2804.
- Quintero M, Colombo SL, Godfrey A, Moncada S. (2006) Mitochondria as signalling organelles in the vascular endothelium. *PNAS*. 103(14):5379-5384.

R

- Rajakumar A, Brandon HM, Daftary A, Ness R, Conrad KP. (2004) Evidence for the functional activity of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors overexpressed in preeclamptic placentae. *Placenta*. 25(10):763-769.
- Rajendran M, Manisankar P, Gandhidasan R, Murugesan R. Free radical scavenging efficiency of a few naturally occuring flavonoids: a comparative study. *Journal of* agricultural and food chemistry. 52(24): 7389-7394.
- Ramana KV, Chandra D, Sribastava S, Bhatnagar A, Aggarwal BB, Srivastava SK. (2002) Aldose reductase mediates mitogenic signaling invascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 277:32063-32070.
- Ramzy D, Rao V, Tumiati LC, Xu N, Sheshgiri R, Miriuka S, Delgado DH, Ross HJ. (2006) Elevated endothelin-1 levels impair nitric oxide homeostasis through a PKCdependent pathway. *Circulation*. 114 (1 Suppl):1319-1326.
- Rapp W, Kahlke W. (1968) Lipoprotein-Elektrophorese in Agarosegel. Clinica Chimica Acta. 19:493-498.
- Rehman A, Nourooz-Zadeh J, Möller W, Tritschler H, Pereira P, Halliwell B. (1999) Increased oxidative damage to all DNA bases in patients with type II diabetes mellitus. *FEBS Letters*. 448(1):120-122.
- Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. (1992) Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. *Lancet*. 339(8808):1523-1526.
- Resh MD. (1983) Insulin activation of (NA, K+)-adenosine triphosphatase exhibits a

temperature-dependent lag time. Comparison to activation of the glucose transporter. *Biochemistry*. 22(12):2781-2784.

- Reusch JEB. (2003) Diabetes, microvascular complications, and cardiovascular complications: what is it about glucose? *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 112(7):986-988.
- R&D Systems Cytokine Mini-Review, DNA Damage Response :Checkpoint Activation and DNA Repair.[online] Available from: www.rndsystems.com/asp/g_sitebuilder.asp?bBodyOnly=1&bodyId=466, [Accessed: 02/06/2004].
- Rhodewald P. (2002) A review of the French maritime pine bark extract (Pycnogenol) a herbal medication with a diverse clinical pharmacology. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, Therapy and Toxicology*, 40(4):158-168.
- Richard DE, Berra E, Gothie E, Roux D, Pouvssegur J. (1999) p42/44 mitogen-activated Protein kinases phosphorylate hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 alpha) and enhance the transcriptional activity of HIF-1. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 274(46):32631-32637.
- Richter C. (1998) Nitric oxide and its congeners in mitochondria: Implications for apoptosis. Environmental Health Perspectives Supplements. 106(S5):1125-1130.
- PKC-DRS2 Group, Aiello LP, Davis MD, Girach A, Kles KA, Milton RC, Sjheetz MJ, Vignati L, Zhi XE. (2006) Effect of ruboxistaurin on visual loss in patients with diabetic retinopathy. Ophtalmology. 113(12):2221-2230.
- Robinson WG Jr, Jacot JL, Katz ML, Glover JP. (2000) Retinal vascular changes induced by the oxidative stress of alpha-tocopherol deficiency contrasted with diabetic microiangiopathy. *Journal of Ocular Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. 16(2):109-120.
- Rodrígues-Nañas L, López-Dóriga P, Petidier R, NeiraM, Solís J, Pavón I, Peiró C, Sánchez-Ferrer CF. (2003) Effect of glycaemic control on the vascular nitric oxide system in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Hypertension*. 21(6):1137-1143.
- Rossi F, Grezeskowiak M, Della Bianca V, Sbarbati A. (1991) De novo synthesis of diacylglycerol from glucose. A new pathway of signal transductionin human neutrophils stimulated during phagopcytosis of beta-glucan particles. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 266(13):8034-8038.
- Rösen P, Nawroth PP, King G, Moller W, Tritschler HJ, Packer L. (2001) The role of oxidative stress in the onset and progression of diabetes and its complications: a summary of a Congress Series sponsored by UNESCO-MCBN, the American Diabetes Association and the German Diabetes Society. *Diabetes Metabolism Research and Review*. 7(3):189-212.

S

- SALAM Research. Report: Milk Thistle products, Februaury 2005. [online] http://www.salamresearch.com/html/milk_thistle_product.html [06/12/2005]
- Saliou C, Rihn B, Cillard J, Okamoto T, Packer L. (1998) Selective inhibition of NF-κB activation by the flavonoid hepatoprotector silymarin in HepG2. Evidence for different activating pathways. *FEBS Letters*. 440(1-2):8-12.
- Saliou C, Kitazawa M, McLaughlin L, Yang J-P, Londge JK, tetsuka T, Iwasaki K, Cillard J, Okamoto T, Packer L. (1999) Antioxidants modulate acute solar ultraviolet radiation-induced NF-kappa-B activation in a human keratinocyte cell line. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 26(1-2): 174-183.
- Sanders RA, Rauscher FM, Watkins III JB. (2001) Effects of Quercetin on Antioxidant Defense in Streptozotocin-Induced diabetic rats. Journal of Biochemical Molecular Toxicity. 15(3):143-149.
- Sango K, Saito H, Takano M, Tokashiki A, Inoue S, Horie H. (2006) Cultured adult animal neurons and schwann cells give us new insight into diabetic neuropathy. *Current Diabetes Reviews*. 2(2):169-183.
- Santel A. and Fuller, M.T. (2001) Control of mitochondrial morphology by a human

mitofusin. Journal of Cell Science. 114: 867-874.

- Sardesai VM. (1995) Role of Antioxidants in Health Maintenance. Nutrition in Clinical Practice. 10: 19-25.
- Sato S, Kador PF. (1990) Inhibition of Aldehyde reductase by aldose reductase inhibitors. Biochemical Pharmacology. 40(5):1033-1042.
- Scheffler I.E. (2001) A century of mitochondrial research: achievements and perspectives. Mitochondrion. 1, 3-31.
- Scheurer SB, Rybak JN, Rosli C, Neri D, Elia G. (2004) Modulation of gene expression by hypoxia in human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells: A transcriptomic and proteomic study. *Proteomics*. 4(6):1737-1760.

Schindl A, Merwald H, Schindl L, Kaun C, Wojta J. (2003) Direct stimulatory effect of low-intensity 670nm laser irradiation on human endothelial cell proliferation. *The British Journal of Dermatology*. 148(2):334-336.

Schmedtje JF Jr. Ji YS, Liu WL, DuBois RN, Runge MS. (1997) Hypoxia induces cyclooxygenase-2 via the NF-kappaB p65 transcription factor in human vascular endothelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 272(1):601-608.

Schönlau F, Rohdewald P. (2001) Pycnogenol[®] for diabetic retinopathy. *International* Ophthalmology. 24(3):161-171.

Schrauwen P, Hesselink MKC. (2004) Perspectives in Diabetes. Oxidative Capacity, Lipotoxiciyt, and Mitochondrial Damage in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes*. 53:1412-1417.

Schümann J, Prockl J, Kiemer AK, Vollmar AM, Bang R, Tiegs G. (2003) Silibinin protects mice from T cell-dependent liver injury. *Journal of Hepatology*. 39(3):333340.

Semenza GL, Roth PH, Fang HM, Wang GL. (1994) Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 269(38): 23757-23763.

Semenza GL. (2000) Expression of Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1: Mechanisms and Consequences. *Biochemical Pharmacology*. 59:47-53.

Semenza GL. (2000) Surviving ischemia: adaptive responses mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 106(7): 809-812.

Semenza GL. (2000) HIF-1 and human disease: one highly involved factor. Genes & Development. 14:1983-1991.

Semenza GL. HIF-1 and mechanisms of hypoxia sensing. (2001) Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 13:167-171.

Semenza GL. (2002) HIF-1 and tumor progresssion: pathppkysiology and therapeutics. Trends inMolecular Medicine. 8(Suppl 4): S62-S67.

Sersen F, Vencel T, Annus J. (2006) Silymarin an dits components scavenge phenylglyoxylic ketyl radicals. *Fitoterapia*. 77(7-8):525-529.

Shackelford RE, Kaufmann WK, Paules RS. (2000) Oxidative stress and cell cycle checkpoint function. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*. 28(9):1387-1404.

Shafer F, Buettner G. (2001) Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. 30:1191-1212.

Shannon AM, Bouchier-Hayes DJ, Condron CM, Toomey D. (2003) Tumour hypoxia, chemotherapeutic resistance and hypoxia-related therapies. *Cancer Treatment Reviews.* 29(4):297-307.

Shaw CA, taylor EL, Megson IL, Rossi AG. (2005) Nitric oxide and the resolution of inflammation: implications for atherosclerosis. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*. 100 Supl 1:67-71.

Sheetz MJ, King GL. (2002) Molecular understanding of hyperglycaemia's adverse effects for diabetes complications. *JAMA*. 288:2579-2588.

Sheu ML, Ho FM, Yang RS, Chao KF, Lin WW, Lin-Shiau SY, Liu SH. (2005) High

glucose induces human endothelial cell apoptosis through a phosphoinositide 3kinase-regulated cyclooxygenase-2 pathway. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 25(3):539-545.

- Shimoi K, Okitsu A, Green MH, Lowe JE, Ohta T, Kaji K, Terato H, Ide H, Kinae N. (2001) Oxidative DNA damage induced by high glucose and its suppression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Mutation Research*. 480-481:371-378.
- Singh NP, McCoy MT, Tice RR, Schneider EL. (1988) A Simple Technique for Quantitation of Low Levels of DNA Damage in Individual Cells. *Experimental Cell Research*. 175:184-191.
- Singh RP, Agarwal R. (2006) Prostate cancer chemoprevention by silibinin: bench to bedside. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*. 45(6):436-442.
- Skaper SD, Fabris M, Ferrari V, Carbonare MD, Leon A. (1996) Quercetin protects qutaneous tissue-associated cell types including sensory neurons from oxidative stress induced by glutathione depletion: Cooperative effects of ascorbic acid. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 22(4):669-678.
- Skinner HD, Zheng JZ. Fang J, Agani F, Jiang BH. (2004) Vascular endohtelial growth factor transcription is mediated by hypoxia-inducible gfactor 1 alpha, HDM2, and p&0S6K1 in response to phosphatidylinostol 3-kinase/AKT signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 279(44):45643-4551.
- Škottová N, Krečman V, Šimánek V. (1999) Activities of Silymarin and its Flavonolignans upon low density lipoprotein oxidizability in vitro. *Phytotherapy Research*. 13:535-537.
- Škottová N, Krečman V, Walterová D, Ulrichová J, Kosina P, Šimánek V. (1998) Effects of silymarin on serum cholesterol levels in rats. *Planta Medica*. 141: 87-89.
- Škottová N, Krečman V, Váňa P, Zdeněk C, Ulrichová J, Šimánek V. (2000) Effect of Silymarin and silibinin-phosphatidylcholine complex on plasma and lipoprotein cholesterol, and oxidation of LDL in rats fed on high cholesterol diet supplemented with currant oil. Acta Universitatis Palackianae Olomucensis Facultatis Medicae.14:55-58.
- Skulachev VP. (2001) Mitochondrial filaments and clusters as intracellular powertransmitting cables. *Trends in Biochemical Science*. 26(1):23-29.
- Slupphaug G, Kavli B, Krokan HE. (2003) The interacting pathways for prevention and repair of oxidative DNA damage. *Mutation Research*. 531(1-2):231-251.
- Son SM. (2007) Role of vascular reactive oxygen species in development of vascular abnormalities in diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 77 Suppl 1:S65-70.
- Sonnenbichler J, Mattersberger J, Rosen H. (1976) Stimulation of RNA synthesis in rat liver and isolated hepatocytes by silybin, an antihepatotoxic agent from silybum marianum. *Hope Seyler's Z. Pysiol Chem.* 8:1171-1180.
- Soobrattee MA, Bahorun T, Aruoma OI. (2006) Chemopreventive actions of polyphenolic compounds in cancer. *Biofactors*. 27(1-4):19-35.
- Sorbinil Retinopathy Trial Research Group. (1990) Randomized trial of sorbinil, an aldose reductase inhibitor, in diabetic retinopathy. Archives of Opthalmology. 108:1234.
- Soriano FG, Pacher P. Mabley J, Liaudet L. Szabo C. (2001) rapid reversal of the diabetic endothelial dysfunction by pharmacological inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Circulation Research*. 89(8):684-691.
- Soto CP, Perez BL, Favari LP, Reyes JL. (1998) prevention of alloxan-induced diabetes mellitus in rat by silymarin. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part C, Pharmacology, Toxicology & Endocrinology.* 119(2):125-129.
- Soto C, Recoba R, Barrón H, Alvarez C, Favari L. (2003) Silymarin increases antioxidant enzymes in alloxan-induced diabetes in rat pancreas. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*. 136(3): 205-212.
- Stasek JE Jr, Natarajan V, Garcia JG. (1993) Phosphatidic acid directly activates endothelial

cell protein kinase C. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication. 191(1):134-144.

- Steele VE, Kelloff GJ, Wilkinson BP, Arnold JT. (1990) Inhibition of transformation in cultured rat tracheal epithelial cells by potential chemopreventative agents. *Cancer Research.* 50:2068-2074.
- Stephens NG, Parson A, Schofield PM, Kelly F, Cheeseman K, Mitchinson M, Brown MI. (1996) Randomised controlled trial of vitamin E in patients with coronary disease: Cambridge Heart Antioxidant study (CHAOS). Lancet 347: 781-786.
- Sugihara N, Arakawa T, Ohnishi M, Furuno K. (1999) Anti- and pro-oxidative effects of flavonoids on metal-induced lipid hydropeoxide-dependent lipid peroxidation in cultured hepatocytes loaded with α-linolenic acid. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*. 27(11/12):1313-1323.
- Svobodova A, Walterova D, Psotova J. (2006) Influence of silymarin and its flavonolignans on H(2)O(2)-induced oxidative stress in human keratinocytes and mouse fibroblasts.

Т

- Tahara M, Omatsu-Kanbe M, Sanada M, Maeda K, Koya D, Matsura H, Kashiwagi A, Yasuda H. (2006) Effect of protein kinase Cbeta inhibitor on Ca2+ homeostasis in diabetic sensory neurons. *Neuroreport*. 24;17(6):683-688.
- Temes E, Martin-Puig S, Aragones J, Jones DR, Olos G, Merida I, Landazuri MO. (2004) Role of diacylglycerol induced by hypoxia in the regulation of HIF-1alpha activity. *Biochemical and Biopysical research Communications*. 315(1):44-50.
- Tesekin IuO, Zhambalova BA, Babenkova IV, Tiukavkina NA. (1996) Antioxidant properties of dihydroquercetin. *Biofizika*. 41(3):620-624.
- Tesfaye S. Diabetic neuropathy. In:. Wass J A H and Shalet S M, ed. Oxford Textbook of Endocrinology and Diabetes. Oxford University Press, 2002.
- Tesfamariam B, DeFelice AF. (2007) Endothelial injury in the initioation and progression of vascular disorders. Vascular Pharmacology. 46(6):229-237.
- Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL. (2000) Reactive oxygen species in cell signalling. American Journal of Phyiology, Lung and cellular Molecular Physiology. 279: L1005-1028.
- The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. (1993) The effect of intensive treatment of diabtes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 329(14):977-986.
- Timmy SA, Victor SP, Sharma CP, Valsala Kumari J. (2002) Betacyclodextrin complexed insulin loaded alginate microspheres-oral delivery system. *Trends Biomater. Artif. Organs.* 15(2):48-53.
- Tiukavkina NA, Rulenko IA, Kolesnik IuA. (1997) Dihydroquercetin—a new antioxidant and biologically active food aditive. Voprosy pitaniia. 6:12-5.
- Tomlinson DR. (1999) Mitogen-activatd protein kinases as glucose transducers for diabetic complications. *Diabetologia*. 42(11):1271-1281.
- Trevisan R, Barnes D, Viberti G. Pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy Summary In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 52. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Tsuzuki T, Nakatsu Y, Nakabeppu Y. (2007) Significance of error-avoiding mechanisms for xidative DNA damage in carcinogenesis. *Cancer Science*. 98(4):465-470.
- Tyagi A, Singh RP, Agarwal C, Agarwal R. (2006) Silibinin activates p53-caspase-2 pathway and causes caspase-mediated cleavage of Cip1/p21 in apoptosis induction in bladder transitional-cell papilloma RT4 cells: evidence for a regulatory loop between p53 and caspase-2. *Carcinogenesis*. 27(11):2269-2280.

U

UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. (1998) Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes

(UKPDS 38). British Medical Journal. 317:705-713.

- Ukeda H, 2005. Assay of ENzyme Superoxide Dismutase (SOD). Dojindo Newsletter [online] Vol.3 Review. Available from:
 - http://www.dojindo.com/newsletter/review_vol3-3.html.
- Ullrich V, Namgaladze D, Frein D. (2003) Superoxide as inhibitor of calcineurin and mediator of redox regulation. *Toxicology Letters*. 139:107-110.

V

- Valenzuela A, Garrido A. (1994) Biochemical bases of the pharmacological action of the flavonoid silymarin and of ist structural isomer silibinin. *Biological Research*. 27: 105-112.
- Valle I, Alvarez-Barrientos A, Arza E, Lamas S, Monsalve M. (2005) PGC-1 alpha regulates the mitochondrial antioxidant defense system in vascular endothelial cells. *Cardiovascular Research*. 66(3):562-573.
- Van Houten B, Woshner V, Santos JH. (2006) Role of mitochondrial DNA in toxic responses to oxidative stress. *DNA Repair*. 3;5(2):145-152.
- Varma SD, Mizuno A, Kinoshita JH. (1977) Diabetic cataracts and flavonoids. Science. 195(4274):205-206.
- Varma S, Lal BK, Zheng R, Breslin JW, Saito S, Pappas PJ, Hobson RW 2nd, Duran WN. (2005) Hyperglycemia alters PI3k and Akt signaling and leads to endothelial cell proliferative dysfunction. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 289(4):H1744-751.
- Vasquez R, Farias M, Vega JL, Martin RS, Vecchiola A, Casanello P, Sobrevia L. (2007) Dglucoseglucose stimulation of l-arginine transport and nitric oxide synthesis results from activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases p42/44 and Smad2 requirong functional type II TGF-beta receptors in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Journal of Cell Physiology*. 212(3):626-32.
- Vaux EC, Metzen E, Yeates KM, Ratcliffe PJ. (2001) Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor is preserved in the abscence of a functioning mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Blood.* 98(2): 296-299.
- Vaux DL, Strasser A. (1996) The molecular biology of apoptosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA. 93: 2239-2244.
- Vayssier-Taussat M, Kreps SE, Adrie C, Dall'Ava J, Christiani D, Polla BS. (2002) Mitochondrial Membrane Potential: A Novel Biomarker of Oxidative Environmental Stress. *Environmental Health Perspective*. 110(3): 301-305.
- Velussi M, Cernigoi AM, De Monte A, Dapas F, Caffau C, Zilli M. (1997) Long-term (23 months) treatment with an anti-oxidant drug (silymarin) is effective on hyperinsulinaemia, exogenous insulin need and malondialdehyde levels in cirrhotic diabetic patients. Journal of Hepatology. 26(4):871-879.
- Vender RL. (1992) Role of endothelial cells in the proliferative response of cultured pulmonary vascular smooth muscles cells to reduce oxygen tension. *InVitro Cellular Developmental Biology*. 28A(6):403-409.
- Verrier E. (1996) The microvascular cell and ischemia-reperfusion injury. Journal of Cardiovscular Pharmacology. 27(Suppl):S26-30.
- Vessal M, Hemmati M, Vasei M. (2003) Antidiabetic effects of quercetin in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C. 135:357-364.
- Vincent AM, McLean LL, Backus C, Feldman EL. (2005) Short-term hyperglycaemia produces oxidativedamage and apoptosis in neurons. *FASEB*. 19(6):638-640.
- Vinik A, Ullal J, Parson HK, CAsellini CM. (2006) Diabetic neuropathies: clinical manifestations and current treatment options. *Nature Clinical Practice*. *Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2(5):269-281.

W

- Waldorf GA, Moussignac R-L, Scribner AW, Loscalzo J, Leopold JA. (2004) Hypoxia potentiates nitric oxide-mediated apoptosis in cells via peroxynitrite-induced activation of mitochondria dependent and independent pathways. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 279(6):4425-2232.
- Wallace DC. (2002) Animal models for mitochondrial disease. *Methods of Molecular Biology*. 197:3-54.
- Wallace SN, Carrier DJ Clausen E. (2003) Extraction of neutraceuticals from milk thistle: part II. Extraction with organic solvents. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*. 105 – 108: 891-903.
- Walworth NC. (2000) Cell-cycle checkpoint kinases:checking in on the cell cycle. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 12:697-704.
- Wang GL, Semenza GL. (1993) General involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in transcriptional response to hypoxia. *PNAS USA*. 90(9):4304-4308.
- Wang GL, Jiang BH, Semenza GL. (1995) Effect of altered redox states on expression of DNA-binding activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication. 212(2):550-556.
- Wang LG, Jiang B-H, Rue EA, Semenza GL. (1995) Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basichelix-loop-helox-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 92:5510-5514.
- Wang HK. (2000) The therapeutic potential of flavonoids. *Expert Opinion Investig Drugs*. 9(9):2103-2119.
- Wang M, Kirk JS, Venkataraman S, Domann FE, Zhang HJ, Schafer FQ, Flanagan SW, Weydert CJ, Spitz DR, Buettner GR, Oberley LW. (2005) Manganese superoxide dismutase suppresses hypoxic induction of hypoxia-inducible factor -1 alpha and vascular endothelial growth factor. Oncogene. 24(55):8154-8166.
- Wang YK, Hong YJ, Huang ZQ. (2005) Protective effects of silybin on human umbilical vein endothelial cell injury induced by H2O2 in vitro. Vascular Pharmacology. 43(4):198-206.
- Wang Y, Bogenhagen DF. (2006) Human mitochondrial DNA nucleoids are linked to protein folding machinery and metabolic enzymes at the mitochondrial inner membrane. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 281(35):25791-25802.
- Wang SP, Fu MD, Wang MH. (2007) Separation mechanism and determination of flavonones with capillary electrophoresis and high performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A. 1164(1-2):306-312.
- Ward JD, Tesfaye S.Pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy Summary In: Pickup J and Wiliams G. Textbook of Diabetes Volume 2, Chapter 49. 2nd Edition Blackwell Science 1997.
- Ways DK, Sheetz MJ. (2001) The Role of Protein Kinase C in the Development of the Complications of Diabetes. *Vitamins and Hormones*. 60:149-193.
- Weinmann M, Jendrossek V, Handrik R, Guner D, Goecke B, Belka C. (2004) Molecular ordering of hypoxia-induced apoptosis: critical involvement of the mitochondrial death pathway in a FADD/caspase-8 independent manner.*Oncogene*.23(21):3757-3769.
- Wellington K, Jarvis B. (2001) Silymarin: a review of its clinical properties in the management of hepatic disorders. *BioDrugs: Clinical Immunotherapeutics*, *Biopharmaceuticals and Gene Therapy* 15(7):465-489.
- Wen Z, Dumas TE, Schrieber SJ, Hawke RL, Fried MW, Smith PC. (2007)
 Pharmacokinetics and Metabolic Profile of Free, Conjugated and Total Silymarin
 Flavonolignans in Human Plasma after Oral Administration of Milk Thistle Extract.
 Drug Metabolism and Disposition: The Biological fate of Chemicals. 36(1):65-72.
- Wenger RH. (2000) Mammalian oxygen sensing, signalling and gene regulation. Journal of Experimental Biology. 203: 1253-1263.

Westermann B. (2002) Merging mitochondria matters: Cellular role and molecular machinery of mitochondrial fusion. *EMBO Reports.* 17; 3(6): 527-531.

- Whiteside CI. (2005) Cellular mechanisms and Treatment of Diabetes Vascular Complications Converge on Reactive Oxygen Species. *Current Hypertension Reports*. 7(2):148-154.
- Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H. (2004) Global Prevalence of Diabetes. Estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care*. 27(5): 1047 - 1053
- Williams G, Pickup JC. Control and complications. In: Williams G, Pickup JC ed. Handbook of Diabetes second edition. Blackwell Science Ltd. 1999
- Williamson JR, Chang K, Frangos M, Hasan KS, Ido Y, Kawamura T, Nyengaard JR, van den Enden M, Kilo C, Tilton RG. (1993) Hyperglycaemia pseudohypoxia and diabetic complications. *Diabetes*. 42(6):801-13.
- Woo KJ, Lee T-J, Park J-W, Kwon TK. (2006) Desferrioxamine, an iron chelator, enhances HIF-1a accumulation via cyclooxygenase-2 signaling pathways. *Biochemical and Biophysical research Communications*. 343:8-14.
- Wood IS, Wang B, Lorente-Cebrian S, Trayhurn P. (2007) Hypoxia increases expression of selective facilitative glucose transporter (GLUT) and 2-deoxy-Dglucose uptake in human adipocytes. *Biochemical, Biophysical Research Communication*. 361(2):468-473.
- World Health Organization 2006. Prevalence of diabetes in the WHO European Region 2004 [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/</u> [Accessed: 20.05.2007]
- Wu Z, Huang X, Feng Y, Handschin C, Feng Y, Gullicksen PS, Bare O, Labow M, Spiegelman B, Stevendon SC. (2006) Transducer of regulated CREB-binding proteins (TORCs) induce PGC-1alpha transcription and mitochondrial biogenesis in muscle cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Scienceof the USA*. 103(39):14379-14384.
- Wynne AM, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. (2005) Pioglitazone mimics preconditioning in the isolated perfused rat heart: a role for the prosurvival kinases PI3K and P42/44MAPK. Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. 46(6):817-822.

Y

Yakes FM, van Houten B. (1997) Mitochondrial DNA damage is more extensive and persist longer than nuclear DNA damage in human cells following oxidative stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 94: 514-519.

Yanaida Y, Kohno H, Yoshida K, Hirose Y, Yamada Y, Mori H, Tanaka T. Dietary silymarin suppresses 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide-iduced tongue carcinogenesis in male F344 rats. (2002) Carcinogenesis. 23(5):787-794.

Yang S-H, Lin J-K, Chen W-S, Chiu J-H. (2003) Anti-angiogenic effect of silymarin on colon cancer lovo cell line. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 113(1):133-138.

Yao-Cheng R. (1991) Advances in Pharmacological studies of silymarin. Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz. 86 suppl. II: 79-85

Yim HS, Kang SO, Hah YC, Chock PB, Yim MB (1995). Free radicals generated during the glycation reaction of amino acids by methylglyoxal. A model study of protein-cross-linked free radicals. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 270(47): 28228-28233.

- Yoo HG, Jung SN, Hwang YS, Park JS, Kim MH, Jeong M, Ahn SJ, Ahn BW, Shin BA, Park RK, Jung YD. (2004) Involvement of NF-kappaB and caspases in silibinininduced apoptosis of endothelial cells. *International Journal of Moecular Medicine*. 13(1): 81-86.
- Yu T-W, Anderson D. (1997) Reactive oxygen species-induced DNA damage and its modification: A chemical investigation. *Mutation Research /Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis.* 379(2): 201-210.
- Yu T. Robotham JL, Yoon Y. (2006) Increased production of reactive oxygen species in

hyperglycaemic conditions requires dynamic change of mitochondrial morphology. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 103(8): 2653-2658.

Yuan SY, Ustinova EE, Wu MH, Tinsley JH, Xu W, Korompai FL, Taulman AC. (2000) Protein kinase C activation contributes to microvascular barrier dysfunction in the heart at early stages of diabetes. *Circulation Research*. 87(5):412-417.

Ζ

- Zanetti M, Zwacka R, Engelhardt J, Katusic Z, O'Brien T. (2001) Superoxide anion and endothelial cell proliferation in normoglycemia and hyperglycaemia. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology.* 21(2):195-200.
- Zenon III GJ, Abobo CV, Carter BL, Ball DW. (1990) Clinical Frontiers: Potential use of aldose reductase inhibitors to prevent diabetic complications. *Clinical Pharmacy*. 9:446-457.
- Zhang JQ, Mao XM, Zhou YP. (1993) Effects of silybin on red blood cell sorbitol and nerve conduction velocity in diabetic patients. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi*. 13(12):725-726.
- Zhang Z-Y, Zhou B, Xie L. (2002) Modulation of protein kinase signaling by protein phosphatases and inhibitors. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. 93(2-3): 307-317.
- Zhang XD, Deslandes E, Villedieu M, Poulain L, Duval M, Gauduchon P, Schwartz L, Icard P. (2006) Effect of 2-deoxy-D-glucose on various malignant cell lines in vitro. *Anticancer Research*. 26(5A):3561-3566.
- Zhang DX, Gutterman DD. (2007) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species-mediated signaling in endothelial cells. *American Jo urnal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 292(5):H2023-31.
- Zhao J, Agarwal R. (1999) Tissue distribution of silibinin, the major active constituent of silymarin, in mice and its association with enhancement of phase II enzymes: implications in cancer chemoprevention. *Carcinogenesis*. 29(11): 2101-2108.
- Zhou W, Whang XL, Lamping KG, Lee HG. (2006) Inhibition of PKC (beta) protects agaist diabetes-induced impairment in arachidonic acid dilation of small coronary arteries. *The Journal of Pharmacology and ExperimentalTtherapeutics*. 319(1):199-207.
- Zi X, Agarwal R. (1999) Modulation of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase activation and cell cycle regulators by the potent skin cancer preventative agent silymarin. *Biochemical and Biophysical research Communications*. 263(2):528-536.
- Ziegler D, Hanefeld M, Ruhnau KJ, Meissner HP, Lobisch M, Schütte K, Gries FA. (1995) Treatment of symptomatic diabetic peripheral neuropathy with the antioxidant alpha-lipoic acid. A 3-week multicentre randomized controlled trial (ALDIN Study). *Diabetologia*. 38(12):1425-1233.
- Ziegler D, Hanefeld M, Rhunau KJ, Hasche H, Lobisch M, Schutte K, Kerum G, Malessa R.
 (1999) Treatment of symptomatic diabetic polyneuropathy with the antioxidant alpha-lipoic acid: a 7-month multicentre randomized controlled trial (ALADIN III Study). ALADIN III Study Group. Alpha-Lipoic Acid in Diabetic Neuropathy. Diabetes Care. 22(8):1296-1301.
- Zgouras D, Wachtershauser A, Frings D, Stein J. (2003) Butyrate impairs intestinal tumor cell-induced angiogenesis by inhibiting HIF-1alpha nuclear translocation. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Ccommunications*. 300(4):832-838.
- Zurova-Nedelcevova J, Navarova J, Drabikova K, Jancinova V, Petrikova M, Bernatova I, Kristova V, Snirc V, Nosalova V, Sotnikova R. (2006) Participation of reactive oxygen species in diabetes-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Neuro Endocrinology letters*. 27(Suppl 2):168-171.



Appendix 2

Publications

Weidmann AE, Stewart D, Wahle K, Knott RM. Silymarin attenuates hypoxia and hyperglycaemic-induced DNA damage in a human umbilical vein endothelial cell line. *Diabetologia*. 2005; 48 Suppl 1:A23.

Weidmann, AE, Knott RM. Effect of diabetes on phosphatase expression levels in streptozotocin diabetic rat tissue. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*. 2004; 56 Suppl: S84-S85.